
    

Audit and Governance Committee

Friday 25 January 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES Andrea Griffiths

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.  

Please see note (b) at the end of the agenda.

Andrea Griffiths

3  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 14)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on the 12th October 
2018  

Andrea Griffiths

4  GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PLAN (Pages 15 - 44)

The Committee is asked to note the reports.  

Peter Barber

5  GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT (Pages 45 - 60)

The Committee is asked to note the report.

Peter Barber

6  CAPITAL, TREASURY AND INVESTMENT STRATEGY (Pages 61 - 90)

The Committee is asked to consider, and comment as appropriate, 
on the proposed strategies for 2019/20, including the Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy.

Kathy Oakey



    

7  ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT IMPROVEMENT PLAN 2017/18 
UPDATE (Pages 91 - 128)

The Committee is asked to review and consider the actions taken to 
address the governance improvement areas identified, including the 
GFRS Action Plan.  

Theresa 
Mortimer

8  INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY PROGRESS REPORT 2018/19 (Pages 129 
- 150)

The Committee is asked to note the report.  

Theresa 
Mortimer

9  OPEN CONTRACTING REPORT (Pages 151 - 170)

To note the report and to consider any required actions.

Jane Burns

10  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for 
the business specified in agenda item 13 because it is likely that if 
members of the public were present there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 and 7 of Part 
1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding 
the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information to the public.

Cllr Brian 
Oosthuysen

11  MANAGEMENT UPDATE   (Pages 171 - 174)

The Committee is asked to note the report.   

Theresa 
Mortimer

Membership –  Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Brian Oosthuysen (Chairman), 
Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr John Payne, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Keith Rippington, 
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, Cllr Brian Tipper and Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Griffiths, Democratic Services Officer 
:01452 324206/e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Friday 12 
October 2018 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen 
(Chairman)
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr John Payne
Cllr Alan Preest

Cllr Keith Rippington
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Substitutes:

Apologies: Paul Blacker and Theresa Mortimer

26. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Parsons, Councillor Payne and Councillor Windsor- Clive declared they 
were members of the Examining the Culture of Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service Task Group.  

27. MINUTES 

All matters arising had been dealt with and communicated to members of the 
committee.  

Resolved

That the minutes of the Audit and Governance Committee held on the 27th 
July 2018 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

28. GRANT THORNTON EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 

Katie Whybray, Engagement Manager, Grant Thornton presented the report.  The 
report detailed the progress Grant Thornton had made in delivering their 
responsibilities as the external auditors.  Accounting, audit issues and emerging 
issues would be flagged up as part of the regular report.  

In relation to the outstanding objection, the Committee were informed that Grant 
Thornton were still unable to issue a value for money conclusion  for 2016/17 and 
2017/18 and had not issued the Audit Certificate for either year confirming 
completion of the audit.  Grant Thornton were continuing to work towards resolving 
the complex objection as quickly as possible, whilst ensuring at the same time the 
process was fair to both parties.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Members were advised that Grant Thornton had recently received a draft version   
of the Pension Fund Annual Report and the audit would be completed in due 
course.  

In response to a question relating to Value for Money conclusion and the objection,  
Mr Barber explained that Grant Thornton were actively working to conclude the 
objection and were working closely with their legal advisors.  Mr Barber accepted 
the point that at the previous meeting he hoped the objection would be concluded 
shortly, however this had proven not to be the case as further discussions were 
needed with Grant Thornton’s legal advisors.  Mr Barber reiterated that Grant 
Thornton would continue to engage with all parties concerned, in an effort to finalise 
the objection as soon as practically possible.  

Members requested to know if they could be informed of the issues.  Mr Barber 
explained that from a confidentiality perspective it was not possible to divulge such 
information, however he would ask his colleague, John Gregory, who was 
considering the objection if it was possible to provide a timeline for dealing with the 
objection, which could be reported at the next meeting.  

The Committee were advised that the cost of the objection would be paid for by the 
County Council and due process had to be followed, regardless of the cost 
implication. Grant Thornton was unable to notify the Committee as to the current 
cost involved in dealing with the objection but it was inevitable that the figure was 
increasing, given the legal advice required.  

The Director of Strategic Finance informed the Committee that the External 
Auditors had a duty to investigate the objection.  In response to a question relating 
to the interim cost of the objection, Grant Thornton were asked to advice on the 
costs incurred to date.  

Resolved

That the report be noted

29. GRANT THORNTON ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 

Peter Barber, Grant Thornton presented the report, which informed the Committee 
of the audit work to be undertaken for the 2018/19 financial year for Gloucestershire 
County Council and the fee involved. It was noted that the Council’s scale fee for 
2017/18 was £98,010 and the Pension Fund Audit was £23,799.   

Member’s attention was drawn to the Executive Summary on Page 32 & 33 of the 
report.  It was explained that Grant Thornton was unable to conclude on the Value 
for Money arrangements until the objection had been finalised.   

In relation to Children’s Services, it was noted that Grant Thornton had concluded 
that the Council did not manage this risk effectively and did not make appropriate 
use of performance and service quality information to support informed decision 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

making and performance management.  One member remarked that it was a bit 
late to state the obvious, and this remark was not very helpful after the event! Mr 
Barber explained the process and how the information contributed to the overall 
view.  

Members requested to know what extent External Audit would look at high risk 
areas in terms of the Risk Register and that the management response was 
effectively being carried out.  The External Auditor informed the committee that the 
Value for Money Conclusion was supported by risk assessments and the risk 
register, which allowed auditors to arrive at their view.  It was noted that Grant 
Thornton were actively engaging with Officers to ensure the issues were being 
addressed, as the challenge was to ensure that risks were being effectively 
managed.

The Director of Strategic Finance explained that the Audit and Governance 
Committee looked at Risk Management policy and process and the oversight 
function of monitoring was provided by the Overview Scrutiny Management 
Committee and the individual Scrutiny Committees.  She proceeded to reassure the 
Committee that the Leadership team monitored risk carefully and the CIA 
proactively looked for emerging risks and challenged the Leadership Team.  In 
response to a question, it was noted that the process aimed to identify “blind spots”, 
however it was not possible to mitigate against everything.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.

30. INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT & ACTION PLAN - GFRS 

In the Chief Internal Auditor’s absence, the Director of Strategic of Finance 
presented the report.  

The report provided the Committee with the context to the Internal Audit 
independent investigation in relation to GFRS, as a result of the whistleblowing 
complaints.

Members were advised that there were three strands to the complaint which were: 
- The sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) owned 

vehicle where it was alleged that the vehicle, a Land Rover Defender, was 
not sold to the highest bidder;

- The high level of staff turnover in the last 24 months; and
- The level of staff with mental health issues who have sought the use of the 

Council’s Occupational Health Service during the last 24 months.

The Committee were informed that Internal Audit had investigated the first point in 
relation to the disposal of the Land Rover Defender not being sold to the highest 
bidder and Human Resources were reviewing the other two issues in relation to the 
high staff turnover and level of staff who sought the use of the Council’s 
Occupational Health Unit.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

The Committee noted that Page 51of the report provided information relating to the 
resignation of the Chief Fire Officer.  

The Internal Audit investigation into the Land Rover Defender identified the need to 
contact and liaise with Gloucestershire Constabulary following detailed analysis of 
the information received, evidence obtained, together with the results of the 
interviews undertaken.  It was noted that Gloucestershire Constabulary had 
confirmed their investigation into this case and that their investigation into the 
potential probity issues around the disposal of the Land Rover Discovery was 
ongoing.  Members were reminded that it was therefore not possible to comment 
any further on this particular issue.

It was noted that during the investigation period, a significant number of additional 
whistleblowing allegations and Freedom of Information requests were received 
notifying other potential governance issues, with the main concerns focusing 
around the culture within GFRS.

Therefore, taking into consideration Internal Audit’s findings and the whistleblowing 
allegations, Internal Audit had made a number of GFRS specific and council wide 
recommendations, which were summarised on page 52 of the report.  The Director 
of Strategic Finance explained that full details of these recommendations, including 
action owners and target dates were detailed in Appendix 1 of the report.  

It was proposed that the relevant action owners would continue to report on the 
progress of the actions to the Audit and Governance Committee until all actions 
listed had been fully completed to the satisfaction of the Audit and Governance 
Committee.

The Director of Strategic Finance proceeded to inform the Committee that members 
of the internal Audit Team were currently based at GFRS and were progressing 
with the task in hand.  Jon McGinty, Commissioning Director provided the 
committee with an update on the current position in relation to the scrutiny task 
group recently set up to look into various matters at GFRS.

The Commissioning Director proceeded to explain that the task group had been 
established to explore the culture within the Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service, 
to develop an understanding of how the County Council scrutinises those issues 
associated with services and how the GFRS integrates with the County Council and 
the other blue light services.  

It was noted that the Task Group had agreed not to duplicate the work of Audit and 
Governance Committee but would await the outcome of the audits, action plan and 
take assurance that the work was being completed.  In turn, it was proposed that 
the scrutiny task group take the lead in scoping the review of culture, and could 
report back to the audit and governance committee, which would allow the 
Committee to monitor that this action in the audit report had been satisfactorily 
completed. It was noted that the Task Group had requested that all information 
presented to the Committee also be made available to them.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

It was explained that the task group also had an interest in exploring at a national 
level the collaboration between Fire Services and County Councils.  In addition, 
other areas to explore would include member scrutiny of the fire service.  The 
Commissioning Director anticipated that the Task Group would have concluded 
much of its work by February 2019.    

In response to a question, it was noted that the whistle-blower had anonymity.  
Members wished all staff to be reassured that anonymity existed and they should 
not be deterred from reporting any issues.  The Director of Strategy & Challenge 
reiterated that the Council’s whistleblowing policy have whistle blowers and the 
choice of remaining anonymous and protected them from victimisation.  It was 
noted that there was now an external phone line provided by ‘Protect’ (formerly 
Public Concern at Work) a national whistleblowing charity, which gave employees 
an independent route to raise their concerns.   

Members asked if the current situation would affect the value for money conclusion 
for the council in 2018/19.  Grant Thornton explained that it would form part of the 
work they completed and they would continue to monitor the situation closely.  

The Committee were advised that mental health concerns were being looked into 
by the Human Resources Team.  The Committee sought reassurance that the 
action plan would consider the culture of the whole organisation.  It was suggested 
that staff should be able to feel comfortable and be able to raise any areas of 
concerns without fear of retribution.  

The Director of Strategic Finance explained that the task group would consider 
these areas and report back to the Committee in due course.  In addition, it was 
noted that the staff survey was underway and the findings would also help highlight 
any issues.  Members noted that they had not previously had sight of the survey 
results and requested the upcoming results be presented to the committee. The 
Director of Strategic Finance agreed to take on board the point raised.  

The Director of Strategy and Challenge reiterated that the recent corporate peer 
challenge looked at the culture of the organisation, and reported that they were 
satisfied with the areas for improvement, e.g. the new values.  Some members 
were disappointed they didn’t have the opportunity to discuss the peer review 
findings.  

The Committee were advised that the review of scrutiny task group would be 
holding open sessions for members to engage with the review on the 25th October 
and the 14th November 2018.  Members were encouraged to attend to have their 
say.  

It was reiterated that the Whistleblowing policy worked and in terms of the Mental 
Health issues, it was necessary to know the truth first and the actual figures, in 
order to review and go forward. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

In response to a question about the forthcoming HMIC inspection of the Fire 
Service, the Commissioning Director explained that the FRS Inspection Regime 
was relatively new and the service was eagerly awaiting the first tranche of reports 
from elsewhere to better understand the inspection approach.  It was noted that 
GFRS was within the third and final tranche of inspections, hence the task group 
would be concluding their work before the inspection took place.  

Members requested the situation was respectfully managed, as not to harm the 
other good cultures in the authority.  

Resolved 

That the Committee considered and approved the action plan to address the 
recommendations included within the independent report on the GFRS; and

That the Committee approved the process for delivering the actions set out, 
and the on-going monitoring arrangements to be undertaken by the AGC

31. INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY PROGRESS REPORT 2018/19 

Jo Walker, Director of Strategic Finance presented the report which informed 
members on the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation to the 2018/19 Internal 
Audit Plan and provided a progress report on those audits undertaken during the 
June – September 2018 period, including the opinions provided on risk and control.
  
The Committee welcomed the report which provided the relevant risk and control 
assurance opinions in relation to the audit activity during the above period.  It was 
highlighted that the opinions provided during this period showed an overall 
satisfactory and above rating of 100% on control and 100% on risk.  It was 
explained that during this period there were no limited assurance opinions on risk.  

The Director of Strategic Finance informed the Committee that all 18 
recommendations made by Internal Audit to improve the control environment during 
this period had been accepted by management.  

Members’ attention was drawn to page 92 & 93 of the report, it was noted that as a 
result of Special Investigations and Counter Fraud Activities £3,386 of repayments 
had been made in relation to a care provider, £17,000 of repayments had been 
made in relation to a direct payment case and £9,000 of repayments had been 
recouped.   Members congratulated officers on the recoupment of funds.  

The Committee were advised that in respect of the investigation and Internal Audit 
review into GFRS governance, practices and processes the separate internal audit 
and action plan was detailed as per the report.  

A member expressed concern in relation to Section 106 Developer Contributions, 
and the lack of contributions received by some schemes, including the impact this 
had up on Highways and road safety, etc.  It was agreed that the CIA would be 
asked to provide an update on this area of concern. 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

The Committee was informed that the CIA had the authority to use external audit 
resources if she deemed necessary, to ensure there was no adverse effect on the 
Plan.  It was explained that the audit plan was a live and risk based document, 
which would be prioritised accordingly.  It was noted that the CIA was actively 
recruiting to her team and had recently recruited trainee auditors.  

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the 2018/2019 Internal Audit Activity Progress 
Report. 

The Committee noted the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk 
management, control and governance arrangements as a result of the internal 
audit activity completed to date.

32. TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE REPORT 

Kathy Oakey, Finance Manager explained that the update report had been 
produced in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management 
in Public Services which required an update report to be produced to inform 
members about the Treasury Management activities for 2017/18 Financial Year to 
date. 

The Treasury Management Update Report gave the position as at the end of 
August 2018.  Under the Code there was a requirement that members were 
presented with at least three reports during the year, and therefore this report 
together with the strategy and annual report met this requirement.

It was reported that during the period 1st April – 31st August 2018 GCC had taken 
on no new long term external debt and despite ongoing review of the borrowing 
portfolio there were still no opportunities to repay debt due to the high premium 
charges that would apply.  The average cost of the loans in the portfolio were 
4.98%, down on last years average of 5.05% as some higher interest rate loans 
had matured.  

Members were advised that two loans were maturing later this financial year, 
totalling £7.9m.  It was noted that more detail on the maturity structure was 
provided graphically in Appendix B of the report.  

In terms of investments, balances remained healthy ranging from £278m at the 
beginning of the financial year to currently over £300m.  Although there had been a 
bank rate increase during the year, fixed investment returns remained low, however 
a move into more investment funds had increased yield and currently returns were 
1.69%, up from 1.18% last year.  Based on performance against the Budget, the 
current interest Budget was £2.6 million, and the current forecast was this would be 
exceeded by £2.5 million.  

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

With regards to longer term investments the Council currently had £30m invested in 
a Property Fund, a £5m deposit with a housing association, £3.9m in secured 
instruments and £55m with other local authorities.  The Finance Manager explained 
that recent diversification included £10m invested in a multi asset fund, and an 
equity fund also with £10m invested, which would help to boost investment returns.

Some members felt that there was a lack of affordable housing in Gloucestershire 
and that perhaps the Authority should invest in more social housing schemes to 
help local young people.  It was explained that in terms of Treasury Management 
the Authority had diversified and invested money with a housing association, this 
aimed to dealing with housing situation whilst spreading the Authority’s risk.  

In response to a question, officers agreed to circulate further information on the 
composition of the equity fund.  Members were advised that the potential indicators 
were detailed within the appendices. 

Resolved

The Treasury Management update report was duly noted.  

33. MANAGEMENT UPDATE REPORT ON IT DISASTER RECOVERY 

Andy Gilbert, Head of ICT presented the report, which explained that disaster 
recovery involved planning to protect an organisation from the effects of significant 
negative events.  Members were advised that a disaster could be anything that put 
a normal IT operation at risk from a cyber-attack, hardware failures to natural 
disasters.  The Disaster Recovery process included planning and testing and may 
involve the need for a separate physical site for restoring operations.  

It was explained that the audit review identified a number of areas of good practice. 
The Committee were advised that the majority of council servers were externally 
hosted at Corsham in a purpose built data centre.    The Corsham site offered a 
high level of physical security including on site security guards, CCTV and biometric 
access controls.  In addition, physical access controls were supplemented by 
environmental protection, including an uninterruptible power supply.  

Members were informed that all council data stored on primary servers at Corsham 
was replicated (backed up) overnight and stored on servers held within Shire Hall.  
Therefore, if one set of data were to fail there was an emergency back-up available 
to ensure continuity.  GCC Directors had visited the Corsham site and were 
assured that the measures in place ensured council data and systems were 
adequately protected.    

The audit findings identified improvement actions to ensure that there was a 
reasonable chance of a timely recovery from an incident.  Members were advised 
that the main areas that required attention were:

• The lack of an up-to-date IT Disaster Recovery plan;

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

• No recent testing of ability to recover critical systems in the event of a 
disaster; and

• Absence of documented technical recovery procedures for many critical 
GCC systems.

It was explained that the audit recommendations were being actively addressed by 
the ICT senior management team.  Due to the complexities of the councils’ 
technological infrastructure, the ICT response to the OTSED Improvement Plan and 
the overall pace of change, some documentation updates had not been addressed 
in a timely manner.  

The Head of ICT assured the Committee that this had not affected the ability of the 
ICT Service to promptly recover from a real test of our Disaster Recovery 
arrangements when a failure of the councils’ Oracle databases occurred at the end 
of July this year.  Coincidentally, the annual DR test restore was scheduled at the 
same time and was postponed to allow all available resources to attend to the real 
outage. The annual test restore had now been re-scheduled for November.  

A member suggested that there should be a programme of routine testing against 
the prevention of cyber-attacks.  The Head of ICT responded that this was a 
separate area of work that was being addressed through the development of a 
Cyber Resilience Plan for the council.     One member expressed concern about the 
Disaster Recovery system and felt that areas of bad practice should also be 
highlighted.  

In response to a question, it was explained that there were some stand-alone 
business systems within the Authority that were externally hosted and managed 
outside of the corporate ICT function. Any service area which chose to host their 
business system externally were given support by the ICT Service via a 
commissioning ‘toolkit’ to ensure that their system was effectively supported and 
backed up.  

The Director of Strategic Finance explained that these risks were included within 
the Corporate Risk Register and that the ICT Governance Board monitored them 
and where possible mitigated the risks through funding via the MTFS process.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted

34. LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER 2017/18 

Jane Burns, Director of Strategy and Challenge and Monitoring Officer presented 
the report.  The report informed the Committee of the Council’s arrangements for 
handling complaints and investigations by the Local Government Ombudsman 
(LGO).  The Committee noted that in 2017/18 the LGO received 67 complaints 
about the County Council, 8 of which were upheld.  

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

It was explained that the County Council kept local data about these complaints, 
and the records showed 50 complaints were brought to a conclusion by the LGO, of 
which 8 had been upheld and local resolutions.  

The LGO only provided the number of complaints received and not the detailed 
data which sat behind it, so it was impossible to reconcile the two sets of data. It 
was likely that the higher number of LGO complaints would include some which 
were not pursued. 

In response to a question, the Monitoring Officer explained the LGO website 
published the specific complaints if members wished to view the detailed content.  
The Committee was informed that the separate annual complaint reports for 
children’s and adult’s services were reviewed by the appropriate scrutiny 
committee.  One member sought assurance that the annual reports were dealt with 
appropriately, in an effort to ensure good governance arrangements were in place.  
It was explained that the Audit & Governance Committees remit was to keep 
complaints under review.  

It was noted that both complaints and compliments were welcome, as it gave 
modern organisations a broad overview and helped to improve its processes.  

Resolved

That the Committee noted the Local Government Ombudsman Annual Review 
Letter 2017/18.  

35. MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT REVIEW 

Jane Burns, Director of Strategy and Challenge and Monitoring Officer presented 
the report which reminded the Committee of the statutory arrangements governing 
the conduct of elected members.  It was noted that the Council had two 
Independent Persons who assisted the Monitoring Officer when allegations were 
made.  It was reported there had been no reason to convene the Hearings Panel in 
2017/18.  

The Committee was advised that the Committee on Standards in Public Life were 
reviewing local government ethical standards.  The Audit and Governance 
Committee reviewed and submitted a response to the consultation on the 6 April 
2018.  It was explained that the Committee on Standards in Public Life’s report was 
expected by Christmas and a further update would be presented in due course.    

Members were advised if they had a reason for not wanting their home address 
published on the GCC website, then they should contact the Monitoring Officer 
directly.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

36. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the business specified in minute 
37 because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would 
be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 and 7a 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

37. EXEMPT ASSURANCE REPORTS 

The Committee received and discussed the reports in detail and requested an 
update at the next meeting of the Committee.   

Members sought assurance from the Children & Families Scrutiny Committee that 
the high number of exclusions did not have a detrimental impact on the service 
provision. 

Resolved 
 
That senior management provide an update on the action taken in relation to 
the Exempt Assurance Report.   

That the reports be noted.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.58 am

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit & Governance Committee – 11th October 2018

Topic Action Responsibility Progress
1 GRANT THORNTON 

EXTERNAL AUDIT 
PROGRESS REPORT

Mr Barber explained he would ask his colleague, 
if it was possible to provide a timeline for dealing 
with the objection, which could be reported at 
the next meeting.  

Pete Barber 25th January 2019.

2 INTERNAL AUDIT 
ACTIVITY PROGRESS 
REPORT

Concerns were raise in relation to Section 106 
Developer Contributions, and the lack of 
contributions received by some schemes, 
including the impact this had up on Highways 
and road safety, etc.  It was agreed that the CIA 
would be asked to provide an update on this 
area of concern to the member.  

Theresa Mortimer Completed

3 TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT 
UPDATE REPORT

Officers agreed to circulate further information 
on the composition of the equity fund.  

Kathy Oakey Completed

4 EXEMPT LIMITED 
ASSURANCE 
REPORTS

Members sought assurance from the Children & 
Families Scrutiny Committee that the high 
number of exclusions did not have a detrimental 
impact on the service provision. 

That Senior Management provide an update 
report to next Committee meeting.

Jo Walker/Andrea 
Griffiths

Theresa Mortimer 

Clerk of Children & Families 
Scrutiny Committee advised of 
request and a response will be 
provided in due course.   

25th January 2019

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19

External Audit Plan
Year ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

January 2019

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 4



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction & headlines 3

2. Key matters impacting our audit                                                                                             4                                                   

3. Significant risks identified                                                   6 

4. Other matters 8

5. Materiality                                                                                                                 9

8.    Value for Money arrangements                                                                                           10

9. Audit logistics, team & fees                                                                                                 11

10. Early Close                                                                                                                  12

11. Independence & non-audit services 13

Appendices

A. Audit Approach 15

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit planning process. It is not a

comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect the

Authority or all weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent.

We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for,

nor intended for, any other purpose.

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Peter Barber

Engagement Lead

T:  0117 305 7897

E: peter.a.barber@uk.gt.com

Katie Whybray

Audit Manager

T: 0117 305 7601

E: Katie.v.Whybray@uk.gt.com

Nick Halliwell

In Charge Auditor

T: 0117 305 7610

E: nick.j.halliwell@uk.gt.com

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members 

is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 

Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 

of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

P
age 16



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 3

Introduction & headlines
Purpose

This document provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the

statutory audit of Gloucestershire County Council (“the Council”) for those

charged with governance.

Respective responsibilities

The National Audit Office (‘the NAO’) has issued a document entitled Code

of Audit Practice (‘the Code’). This summarises where the responsibilities of

auditors begin and end and what is expected from the audited body. Our

respective responsibilities are also set in the Terms of Appointment and

Statement of Responsibilities issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments

(PSAA), the body responsible for appointing us as auditor of Gloucestershire

County Council. We draw your attention to both of these documents on the

PSAA website.

Scope of our audit

The scope of our audit is set in accordance with the Code and International Standards on Auditing

(ISAs) (UK). We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the :

• Authority’s financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those

charged with governance (the Audit and Governance committee); and

• Value for Money arrangements in place at the Authority for securing economy, efficiency and

effectiveness in your use of resources.

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or the Audit and Governance

Committee of your responsibilities. It is the responsibility of the Authority to ensure that proper

arrangements are in place for the conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and

properly accounted for. We have considered how the Authority is fulfilling these responsibilities.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Authority's business and is risk based.

We will be using our new audit methodology and tool, LEAP, for the 2018/19 audit. It will enable us to be

more responsive to changes that may occur in your organisation.

Significant risks Those risks requiring special audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error have been 

identified as:

• Management over-ride of controls

• The revenue transactions include fraudulent transactions (this is rebutted, please see page 5)

• Valuation of property, plant and equipment

• Valuation of pension fund net liability

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit 

Findings (ISA 260) Report.

Materiality We have determined planning materiality to be £17.46m,which equates to 1.9% of your prior year gross expenditure for the year. We are 

obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. 

Clearly trivial has been set at £873K. 

Value for Money arrangements Our risk assessment regarding your arrangements to secure value for money have identified the following VFM significant risks:

• Future financial sustainability

• Responses to Ofsted’s inspections of children’s services

Audit logistics Our interim visit will take place in January and February and our final visit will take place in June and July.  Our key deliverables are this 

Audit Plan and our Audit Findings Report. Our audit approach is detailed in Appendix A.

Our fee for the audit will be £75,468 for the Authority, subject to the Authority meeting our requirements set out on page 12.

Independence We have complied with the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are 

independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements..

P
age 17

https://www.psaa.co.uk/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 4

Key matters impacting our audit

External Factors

Our response

Internal Factors

• You will see changes in 

the terminology we use in 

our reports that will align 

more closely with the ISAs

• We will ensure that our 

resources and testing are 

best directed to address 

your risks in an effective 

way.

.

The wider economy and political 

uncertainty

Local Government funding continues to be 

stretched with increasing cost pressures and  

demand from residents. At Month 7, the 

Council are forecasting a £2.22 million 

overspend (0.53% of the budget). The 

Council’s ‘Meeting the Challenge 3’ savings 

plan reported a £10.28 million delivery at the 

end of quarter 2 against a 2018/19 target of 

£18.69 million. 

• We will consider your arrangements for 

managing and reporting your financial 

resources as part of our work in reaching 

our Value for Money conclusion.

• We will consider whether your financial 

position leads to material uncertainty about 

the going concern of the Council and will 

review related disclosures in the financial 

statements. 

• We will follow up our previous agreed action 

plan and consider the progress the Council 

has made in this key areas.

Changes to the CIPFA 2018/19 

Accounting Code 

The most significant changes relate to the 

adoption of:

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments which 

impacts on the classification and 

measurement of financial assets and 

introduces a new impairment model. 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers which introduces a five step 

approach to revenue recognition.

Our initial discussions with officers suggest 

that this will have a non material impact on 

the accounts, however we have requested 

a specific working paper demonstrating 

how the impact of each standard has been 

considered.

Children’s Services

Children’s services was assessed by Ofsted as 

inadequate at its most recent inspection in June 

2017.  While the Council have had various 

monitoring visits since the inadequate rating, 

they are yet to receive a formal re-inspection. 

The fourth monitoring visit since the Council was 

judged as inadequate took place in October 

2018. Ofsted commented that the Council has 

accelerated progress in improving services for its 

children and young people and that there is now 

a permanent senior leadership team in place, 

which is beginning to establish a clear vision and 

implement improvement plans, underpinned by 

significant financial investment and additional 

resources in children’s services.

New audit methodology

We will be using our new audit 

methodology and tool, LEAP, 

for the 2018/19 audit. It will 

enable us to be more 

responsive to changes that 

may occur in your 

organisation and more easily 

incorporate our knowledge of 

the Authority into our risk 

assessment and testing 

approach. 

• We will keep you informed of changes 

to the financial  reporting requirements 

for 2018/19 through on-going 

discussions and invitations to our 

technical update workshops.

• As part of our opinion on your financial 

statements, we will consider whether 

your financial statements reflect the 

financial reporting changes in the 

2018/19 CIPFA Code.

• We will review the progress the Council is 

making against the recommendations arising 

from the Ofsted review as part of our value 

for money audit. 

P
age 18



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 5

Significant risks identified

Significant risks are defined by ISAs (UK) as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In identifying risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, 

the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood. Significant risks are those risks that have a higher risk of material misstatement.

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

The revenue cycle includes 

fraudulent transactions  

(rebutted)

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk that revenue

may be misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes that there is 

no risk of material misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue 

recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of 

the revenue streams at the Authority, we have determined that the risk 

of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including 

Gloucestershire County Council, mean that all forms of fraud are 

seen as unacceptable

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for 

Gloucestershire County Council.

This significant risk has been rebutted.

P
age 19



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 6

Significant risks identified

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Management over-ride of controls Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed risk that the 

risk of management over-ride of controls is present in all entities. . The 

Council faces external scrutiny of its spending and this could potentially 

place management under undue pressure in terms of how they report 

performance.

We therefore identified management override of control, in particular 

journals, management estimates and transactions outside the course 

of business as a significant risk, which was one of the most significant 

assessed risks of material misstatement.

We will:

• evaluate the design effectiveness of management controls over 

journals

• analyse the journals listing and determine the criteria for 

selecting high risk unusual journals 

• test unusual journals recorded during the year and after the draft 

accounts stage for appropriateness and corroboration

• gain an understanding of the accounting estimates and critical  

judgements applied made by management and consider their 

reasonableness with regard to corroborative evidence

• evaluate the rationale for any changes in accounting policies, 

estimates or significant unusual transactions.

Valuation of property, plant and 

equipment

The Council revalues its land and buildings on a rolling two-yearly 

basis. This valuation represents a significant estimate by management 

in the financial statements due to the size of the numbers involved and 

the sensitivity of this estimate to is subject to changes in key 

assumptions. Additionally, management will need to ensure the carrying 

value in the Council’s financial statements is not materially different 

from the current value or the fair value (for surplus assets) at the 

financial statements date, where a rolling programme is used.

We therefore identified valuation of land and buildings, particularly

revaluations and impairments, as a significant risk, which was one of

the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement.

We will:

• evaluate management's processes and assumptions for the

calculation of the estimate, the instructions issued to valuation

experts and the scope of their work

• evaluate the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the

valuation expert

• discuss with the valuer to confirm the basis on which the

valuation was carried out

• challenge the information and assumptions used by the valuer to

assess completeness and consistency with our understanding

• test revaluations made during the year to see if they had been

input correctly into the Council’s asset register

• evaluating the assumptions made by management for those 

assets not revalued during the year and how management has 

satisfied themselves that these are not materially different to 

current value at year end.

P
age 20



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 7

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Valuation of the pension fund net 

liability

The Council’s pension fund net liability as reflected in its balance 

sheet represents a significant estimate in the financial statements. 

We identified the valuation of the pension fund net liability as a risk 

requiring special audit consideration.

We will:

• update our understanding of the processes and controls put in place 

by management to ensure that the Authority’s pension fund net 

liability is not materially misstated and evaluate the design of the 

associated controls;

• evaluate the instructions issued by management  to their 

management expert (an actuary) for this estimate and the scope of 

the actuary’s work;

• assess the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the actuary 

who carried out the Authority’s pension fund valuation; 

• assess the accuracy and completeness of the information provided

by the Authority to the actuary to estimate the liability;

• test the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and 

disclosures in the notes to the core financial statements with the 

actuarial report from the actuary;

• undertake procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial 

assumptions made by reviewing the report of the consulting actuary 

(as auditor’s expert) and performing any additional procedures 

suggested within the report; and

• obtain assurances from the auditor of Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

as to the controls surrounding the validity and accuracy of 

membership data; contributions data and benefits data sent to the 

actuary by the pension fund and the fund assets valuation in the 

pension fund financial statements.

Significant risks identified

P
age 21



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 8

Other matters

Other work

In addition to our responsibilities under the Code of Practice, we have a number of other

audit responsibilities, as follows:

• We read your Narrative Report and Annual Governance Statement to check that 

they are consistent with the financial statements on which we give an opinion and 

consistent with our knowledge of the Authority.

• We carry out work to satisfy ourselves that disclosures made in your Annual 

Governance Statement are in line with the guidance issued by CIPFA.

• We carry out work on your consolidation schedules for the Whole of Government 

Accounts process in accordance with NAO group audit instructions.

• We consider our other duties under legislation and the Code, as and when required, 

including:

• Giving electors the opportunity to raise questions about your 2018/19 

financial statements, consider and decide upon any objections received in 

relation to the 2018/19 financial statements;

• issue of a report in the public interest or written recommendations to the 

Authority under section 24 of the Act, copied to the Secretary of State.

• Application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary 

to law under Section 28 or for a judicial review under Section 31 of the Act; 

or

• Issuing an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Act.

• We certify completion of our audit.

Other material balances and transactions

Under International Standards on Auditing, "irrespective of the assessed risks of material

misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures for each

material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure". All other material

balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the procedures will

not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified in this report.

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the

appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the

preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is

a material uncertainty about the Council's ability to continue as a going concern” (ISA

(UK) 570). We will review management's assessment of the going concern assumption

and evaluate the disclosures in the financial statements.

P
age 22



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 9

Materiality

The concept of materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements

and the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to

disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and

applicable law. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if

they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality for planning purposes

We have determined financial statement materiality based on a proportion of the gross

expenditure of the Council for the financial year. In the prior year we used the same

benchmark. Materiality at the planning stage of our audit is £17.46m, which equates to

1.9% of your prior year gross expenditure for the year. We design our procedures to

detect errors in specific accounts at a lower level of precision, specifically Senior officer

Remuneration which we have determined to be 1.9% of the total Senior Officer

Remuneration for the year.

We reconsider planning materiality if, during the course of our audit engagement, we

become aware of facts and circumstances that would have caused us to make a

different determination of planning materiality.

Matters we will report to the Audit & Governance Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to

our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the Audit

& Governance Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the

extent that these are identified by our audit work. Under ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication

with those charged with governance’, we are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or

misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with

governance. ISA 260 (UK) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly

inconsequential, whether taken individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any

quantitative or qualitative criteria. In the context of the Council, we propose that an

individual difference could normally be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than

£873K.

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of

the audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the

Audit and Governance Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Prior year gross expenditure

£919m Materiality

Materiality

Council’s financial 

statements materiality

£17.46m

£873K

Misstatements reported 

to the Audit and 

Governance Committee

P
age 23



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 10

Value for Money arrangements

Background to our VFM approach

The NAO issued its guidance for auditors on Value for Money work in

November 2017. The guidance states that for Local Government bodies,

auditors are required to give a conclusion on whether the Authority has proper

arrangements in place to secure value for money.

The guidance identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate:

“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions

and deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for

taxpayers and local people.”

This is supported by three sub-criteria, as set out below:

Significant VFM risks

Those risks requiring audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood that proper 

arrangements are not in place at the Authority to deliver value for money.

Informed 

decision 

making

Sustainable 

resource 

deployment

Working 

with partners 

& other third 

parties

Value for 

Money 

arrangements 

criteria

Children’s Services

Children’s services was assessed by Ofsted as inadequate at its most recent

inspection in June 2017. While the Council have had various monitoring visits since

the inadequate rating, they are yet to receive a formal re-inspection. The fourth

monitoring visit since the Council was judged as inadequate took place in October

2018. Ofsted commented that the Council has accelerated progress in improving

services for its children and young people and that there is now a permanent senior

leadership team in place, which is beginning to establish a clear vision and implement

improvement plans, underpinned by significant financial investment and additional

resources in children’s services.

The Council have been notified of the start of the next monitoring visit with the planned

publication of the report in February 2019.

We will:

• review the outcome of any further monitoring visits

• review the progress the Council is making against the recommendations arising

from the Ofsted review.

Future Financial Sustainability

Like many other similar local authorities, the financial outlook remains challenging. At

Month 7, the Council are forecasting a £2.22 million overspend (0.53% of the budget).

The Council’s ‘Meeting the Challenge 3’ savings plan reported a £10.28 million

delivery at the end of quarter 2 against a 2018/19 target of £18.69 million.

We will:

• review the Council’s performance against budget for 2018/19

• understand the future saving plans and the achievement of savings in 2018/19.

• review the robustness of assumptions in the latest MTFS

P
age 24



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 11

Audit logistics, team & fees

Audit fees

The planned audit fees are £75,468 (Prior year £98,010) for the financial statements audit 

completed under the Code, which are inline with the scale fee published by PSAA. In 

setting your fee, we have assumed that the scope of the audit, and the Authority and its 

activities, do not significantly change.

Where additional audit work is required to address risks relating to, we will consider the 

need to charge fees in addition to the audit fee on a case by case basis. Any additional 

fees will be discussed and agreed with management and require PSAA approval.

Our requirements

To ensure the audit is delivered on time and to avoid any additional fees, we have detailed 

our expectations and requirements in the following section ‘Early Close’. If the 

requirements detailed overleaf are not met, we reserve the right to postpone our audit visit 

and charge fees to reimburse us for any additional costs incurred.

Any proposed fee variations will need to be approved by PSAA.

Peter Barber Engagement Lead

Peter is responsible for the overall delivery of the audit. He will 

meet regularly with the Directors at the Council and will attend the 

Audit & Governance Committee meetings.

Katie Whybray, Audit Manager

Katie oversees day to day planning and manages the work of the 

in-charge auditor and associates to ensure that audit work is 

focussed on the key areas of financial statements risk and 

compliance with relevant accounting standards and guidance.

Nick Halliwell, Audit In-charge

Nick is responsible for the on-site delivery of the audit work. He 

assigns activities across the team and ensures it is completed 

satisfactorily

Planning and

risk assessment 

Interim audit

January 2019

Year end audit

June 2019

Audit & Governance

committee

January 2019

Audit & Governance

committee

April 2019

Audit & Governance

committee

July 2019

Audit & Governance

committee

September 2019

Audit 

Findings 

Report

Audit 

opinion
Audit 

Plan

Interim 

Progress 

Report

Annual 

Audit 

Letter

P
age 25



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 12

Early close

Meeting the 31 July audit timeframe

In the prior year, the statutory date for publication of audited local government 

accounts was brought forward to 31 July, across the whole sector. This was a 

significant challenge for local authorities and auditors alike. For authorities, the time 

available to prepare the accounts was curtailed, while, as auditors we had a shorter 

period to complete our work and faced an even more significant peak in our workload 

than previously. The Council successfully achieved the earlier deadline in 2017/18.

We have carefully planned how we can make the best use of the resources available 

to us during the final accounts period. As well as increasing the overall level of 

resources available to deliver audits, we have focused on:

• bringing forward as much work as possible to interim audits

• starting work on final accounts audits as early as possible, by agreeing which 

authorities will have accounts prepared significantly before the end of May

• seeking further efficiencies in the way we carry out our audits

• working with you to agree detailed plans to make the audits run smoothly, 

including early agreement of audit dates, working paper and data requirements 

and early discussions on potentially contentious items.

We are satisfied that, if all these plans are implemented, we will be able to complete 

your audit and those of our other local government clients in sufficient time to meet 

the earlier deadline. 

Client responsibilities

Where individual clients do not deliver to the timetable agreed, we need to ensure that this 

does not impact on audit quality or absorb a disproportionate amount of time, thereby 

disadvantaging other clients. We will therefore conduct audits in line with the timetable set out 

in audit plans (as detailed on page 11). Where the elapsed time to complete an audit exceeds 

that agreed due to a client not meetings its obligations we will not be able to maintain a team 

on site. Similarly, where additional resources are needed to complete the audit due to a client 

not meeting their obligations we are not able to guarantee the delivery of the audit by the 

statutory deadline. Such audits are unlikely to be re-started until very close to, or after the 

statutory deadline. In addition, it is highly likely that these audits will incur additional audit fees.

Our requirements 

To minimise the risk of a delayed audit or additional audit fees being incurred, you need to 

ensure that you:

• produce draft financial statements of good quality by the deadline you have agreed with us, 

including all notes, the narrative report and the Annual Governance Statement

• ensure that good quality working papers are available at the start of the audit, in 

accordance with the working paper requirements schedule that we have shared with you

• ensure that the agreed data reports are available to us at the start of the audit and are 

reconciled to the values in the accounts, in order to facilitate our selection of samples

• ensure that all appropriate staff are available on site throughout (or as otherwise agreed) 

the planned period of the audit

• respond promptly and adequately to audit queries.

In return, we will ensure that:

• the audit runs smoothly with the minimum disruption to your staff

• you are kept informed of progress through the use of an issues tracker and weekly 

meetings during the audit

• we are available to discuss issues with you prior to and during your preparation of the 

financial statements. 

P
age 26



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 13

Independence & non-audit services
Auditor independence

Ethical Standards and ISA (UK) 260 require us to give you timely disclosure of all significant facts and matters that may bear upon the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm 

or covered persons relating to our independence. We encourage you to contact us to discuss these or any other independence issues with us.  We will also discuss with you if we make 

additional significant judgements surrounding independence matters. 

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 

Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 

statements. 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Financial Reporting Council’s Eth ical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered 

person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements. Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit 

Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2017 and PSAA’s Terms of Appointment which set out supplementary guidance on ethical requirements for auditors of local 

public bodies. 

Other services provided by Grant Thornton

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Authority.

The amounts detailed are fees agreed to-date for audit related and non-audit services to be undertaken by Grant Thornton UK LLP in the current financial year. These services are 

consistent with the Council’s policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditors. Any changes and full details of all fees charged for audit related and non-audit related services by 

Grant Thornton UK LLP and by Grant Thornton International Limited network member Firms will be included in our Audit Findings report at the conclusion of the audit.

None of the services provided are subject to contingent fees. 

Service £ Threats Safeguards

Audit related

Certification of Teachers’ 

Pension return

£4,200 Self-Interest (because 

this is a recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  

for this work is low (2016/17 fee: £4,200) in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £98,010 and in particular 

relative to Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element 

to it. These factors mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

Independent reasonable 

assurance engagement –

local transport plan major 

project claim

£4,200 Self-Interest (because 

this is a recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  

for this work is low in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £98,010 and in particular relative to Grant 

Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These 

factors mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

Non-audit related

CFO Insights subscription £10,000 Self-Interest (because 

this is a recurring fee)

We have provided subscription services only; any decisions are made independently by the Council. The work is 

undertaken by a team independent to the audit team. 

P
age 27



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19

Appendices

A. Audit Approach

P
age 28



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19 15

Audit approach

Use of audit, data interrogation and analytics software

IDEA

• We use one of the world's 

leading data interrogation software tools, called 

'IDEA' which integrates the latest data analytics 

techniques into our audit approach

• We have used IDEA since its inception in the 

1980's and we were part of the original 

development team. We still have heavy 

involvement in both its development and delivery 

which is further enforced through our chairmanship 

of the UK IDEA User Group

• In addition to IDEA, we also other tools like ACL 

and Microsoft SQL server

• Analysing large volumes of data very quickly and 

easily enables us to identify exceptions which 

potentially highlight business controls that are not 

operating effectively

Appian

Business process management

• Clear timeline for account review:

− disclosure dealing

− analytical review

• Simple version control

• Allow content team to identify potential risk areas 

for auditors to focus on

S
y
s
te

m
 (

7
3
m

 r
e
c
o
rd

s
)

Inflo

Cloud based software which uses data analytics to 

identify trends and high risk transactions, generating 

insights to focus audit work and share with clients.

LEAP

Audit software

• A globally developed ISA-aligned methodology and 

software tool that aims to re-engineer our audit 

approach to fundamentally improve quality and 

efficiency

• LEAP empowers our engagement teams to deliver 

even higher quality audits, enables our teams to 

perform cost effective audits which are scalable to 

any client, enhances the work experience for our 

people and develops further insights into our 

clients’ businesses

• A cloud-based industry-leading audit tool developed 

in partnership with Microsoft

P
age 29



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2018/19

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 30



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19

External Audit Plan
Year ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire Pension Fund

January 2019

P
age 31



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction & headlines 3

2. Key matters impacting our audit                                                                                             4

3. Audit approach                                                                                                              5

4. Significant risks identified                                                                                                6

5. Other matters 8

6. Materiality 9

7.    Audit logistics, team & fees                                                                                           10 

8. Early Close 11

9.    Independence & non-audit services 12

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit planning process. It is not a

comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect the

Pension Fund or all weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written

consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not

prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Peter Barber

Director

T:  07880 456 122

E: peter.a.barber@uk.gt.com

Katie Whybray

Manager 

T: 07854791260

E: katie.v.whybray@uk.gt.com

James Stevenson

In Charge Auditor

E: james.r.stevenson@uk.gt.com

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members 

is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 

Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 

of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

P
age 32



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19 3

Introduction & headlines
Purpose

This document provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the statutory

audit of Gloucestershire Pension Fund (‘the Fund’) for those charged with

governance.

Respective responsibilities

The National Audit Office (‘the NAO’) has issued a document entitled Code of Audit

Practice (‘the Code’). This summarises where the responsibilities of auditors begin

and end and what is expected from the audited body. Our respective responsibilities

are also set in the Terms of Appointment and Statement of Responsibilities issued by

Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA), the body responsible for appointing us as

auditor of Gloucestershire Pension Fund. We draw your attention to both of these

documents on the PSAA website.

Scope of our audit

The scope of our audit is set in accordance with the Code and International Standards on

Auditing (ISAs) (UK). We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the Fund’s

financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those

charged with governance (the Audit and Governance Committee).

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or the Audit and

Governance Committee of your responsibilities.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Fund's business and is risk

based.

Significant risks Those risks requiring special audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error have been identified as:

• Management override of controls

• The revenue transactions include fraudulent transactions (this is rebutted, please see page 6)

• Valuation of Level 3 Investments

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings (ISA 260) 

Report.

Materiality We have determined materiality at the planning stage of our audit to be £22.39m for the Fund, which equates to 1% of your net assets at 31 March 2018. 

We are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. Clearly trivial 

has been set at £1.12m.

Audit logistics Our interim visit will take place in February and our final visit will take place in June and July.  Our key deliverables are this Audit Plan and our Audit Findings 

Report.

Our fee for the audit will be £18,325 (PY: £23,799) for the Fund, subject to management meeting our requirements set out on page 11. 

Where we are required to respond to requests received from other auditors of other bodies for assurance in respect of information held by the Fund and 

provided to the actuary to support their individual IAS 19 calculations these will be billed in addition to the audit fee on a case by case basis.

Independence We have complied with the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and 

are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.

P
age 33

https://www.psaa.co.uk/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19 4

Key matters impacting our audit

External Factors

Our response

Internal Factors

• You will see 

changes in the 

terminology we 

use in our reports 

that will align more 

closely with the 

ISAs

• We will ensure that 

our resources and 

testing are best 

directed to address 

your risks in an 

effective way.

.

SI 493/2018 – LGPS (Amendment) Regulations 

2018

Introduces a new provision for employers to receive 

credit for any surplus assets in a fund upon ceasing to 

be a Scheme employer.  This could potentially lead to 

material impacts on funding arrangements and the 

need for updated of Funding Strategy Statements.

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP)

• Pension funds are continuing to work through the 

GMP reconciliation process.

• In January 2018 the government extended its 

“interim solution” for indexation and equalisation for 

public service pension schemes until April 2021. 

Currently the view is that the October 2018 High 

Court ruling in respect of GMP equalisation is 

therefore not likely to have an impact upon the 

LGPS.

• We will continue to monitor the position in 

respect of GMP equalisation and reconciliation. 

For pension funds the immediate impact is 

expected to be largely administrative rather 

than financial.

• We will follow up our previous agreed action 

plan and consider the progress the Fund has 

made in this key areas.

Changes to the CIPFA 2018/19 

Accounting Code 

The most significant changes relate to the 

adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. 

In practice, IFRS 9 is anticipated to have 

limited impact for pension funds as most 

assets and liabilities held are already 

classed as fair value through profit and 

loss.

The Pensions Regulator (tPR)

tPRs Corporate Plan for 2018-2021 

includes three new Key Performance 

Indicators (KPIs) directly related to public 

service pension schemes and TPR has 

chosen the LGPS as a cohort for proactive 

engagement throughout 2018 and 2019.

Pooling arrangements

On 18 July 2017 the Brunel Pension 

Partnership Local Government Pension 

Scheme (LGPS) Funds formally created 

BPP Ltd, a £27.5 billion investment 

company. The company, a FCA regulated 

entity, implements the asset allocation 

strategies for the 10 member LGPS Funds. 

Under these new arrangements, 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund retains 

responsibility for setting its investment 

strategy (or asset allocation), as well as the 

funding and administration strategies. The 

company structure has been in place and 

operational from  April 2018.The transition 

to the Brunel portfolios began in 2018 and 

will take at least 2 years.

New audit 

methodology

We will be using our 

new audit methodology 

and tool, LEAP, for the 

2018/19 audit. It will 

enable us to be more 

responsive to changes 

that may occur in your 

organisation and more 

easily incorporate our 

knowledge of the 

Pension Fund into our 

risk assessment and 

testing approach. 

• We will keep you informed of changes to 

the financial  reporting requirements for 

2018/19 through on-going discussions and 

invitations to our technical update 

workshops.

• As part of our opinion on your financial 

statements, we will consider whether your 

financial statements reflect the financial 

reporting changes in the 2018/19 CIPFA 

Code.

• We will keep under review any interaction 

the Fund has with tPR and tailor our audit 

approach where necessary.

• Whilst we do not consider the transfer 

of assets to the pool as a significant 

risk we will tailor our approach to gain 

assurance in respect of the 

completeness and accuracy of the 

transactions.

P
age 34

http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/docs/corporate-plan-2018-2021.pdf


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19 5

Audit approach

Use of audit, data interrogation and analytics software

IDEA

• We use one of the world's 

leading data interrogation software tools, called 

'IDEA' which integrates the latest data analytics 

techniques into our audit approach

• We have used IDEA since its inception in the 

1980's and we were part of the original 

development team. We still have heavy 

involvement in both its development and delivery 

which is further enforced through our chairmanship 

of the UK IDEA User Group

• In addition to IDEA, we also other tools like ACL 

and Microsoft SQL server

• Analysing large volumes of data very quickly and 

easily enables us to identify exceptions which 

potentially highlight business controls that are not 

operating effectively

Appian

Business process management

• Clear timeline for account review:

− disclosure dealing

− analytical review

• Simple version control

• Allow content team to identify potential risk areas 

for auditors to focus on

S
y
s
te

m
 (

7
3
m

 r
e
c
o
rd

s
)

Inflo

Cloud based software which uses data analytics to 

identify trends and high risk transactions, generating 

insights to focus audit work and share with clients.

LEAP

Audit software

• A globally developed ISA-aligned methodology and 

software tool that aims to re-engineer our audit 

approach to fundamentally improve quality and 

efficiency

• LEAP empowers our engagement teams to deliver 

even higher quality audits, enables our teams to 

perform cost effective audits which are scalable to 

any client, enhances the work experience for our 

people and develops further insights into our 

clients’ businesses

• A cloud-based industry-leading audit tool developed 

in partnership with Microsoft

P
age 35



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19 6

Significant risks identified

Significant risks are defined by ISAs (UK) as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In identifying risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, 

the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood. Significant risks are those risks that have a higher risk of material misstatement.

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Revenue 

transactions include 

fraudulent 

transactions

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk

that revenue may be misstated due to the improper

recognition of revenue.

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor

concludes that there is no risk of material misstatement

due to fraud relating to revenue recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue streams at the

Fund, we have determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted,

because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including Gloucestershire as the 

Administering Authority of Gloucestershire Pension Fund, mean that all forms of fraud are seen 

as unacceptable

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

Management over-

ride of controls
Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable 

presumed risk that the risk of management over-ride 

of controls is present in all entities. 

Management over-ride of controls is a risk requiring 

special audit consideration.

We will:

• evaluate the design effectiveness of management controls over journals

• analyse the journals listing and determine the criteria for selecting high risk unusual journals 

• test unusual journals recorded during the year and after the draft accounts stage for 

appropriateness and corroboration

• gain an understanding of the accounting estimates and critical  judgements applied made by 

management and consider their reasonableness with regard to corroborative evidence

• evaluate the rationale for any changes in accounting policies, estimates or significant unusual 

transactions

P
age 36



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19 7

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

The valuation 

of Level 3 

investments is 

incorrect

Under ISA 315 significant risks often relate to significant non-routine 

transactions and judgemental matters.  Level 3 investments by their very nature 

require a significant degree of judgement to reach an appropriate valuation at 

year end.

We identified the valuation of Level 3 investments as a risk requiring special 

audit consideration.

We will:

• Gain an understanding of the Fund’s process for valuing level 3 investments

and evaluate the design of the associated controls;

• review the nature and basis of estimated values and consider what assurance 

management has over the year end valuations provided for  these types of 

investments;

• consider the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management 

experts used;

• review the qualifications of the expert to value Level 3 investments at year 

end and gain an understanding of how the valuation of these investments has 

been reached; and

• for a sample of investments, test the valuation by obtaining and reviewing the 

audited accounts, (where available) at the latest date for individual 

investments and agreeing these to the fund manager reports at that date. We 

will reconcile those values to the values at 31 March 2019 with reference to 

known movements in the intervening period.

Significant risks identified

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings Report in July 2019.

P
age 37



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19 8

Other matters

Other work

The Fund is administered by Gloucestershire (the ‘Council’), and the Fund’s accounts

form part of the Council’s financial statements.

Therefore, as well as our general responsibilities under the Code of Practice a number

of other audit responsibilities also follow in respect of the Fund, such as:

• We read any other information published alongside the Council’s financial

statements to check that it is consistent with the Fund financial statements on which

we give an opinion and is consistent with our knowledge of the Authority.

• We consider our other duties under legislation and the Code, as and when required,

including:

• Giving electors the opportunity to raise questions about your 2018/19 

financial statements, consider and decide upon any objections received in 

relation to the 2018/19 financial statements;

• issue of a report in the public interest or written recommendations to the 

Fund under section 24 of the Act, copied to the Secretary of State.

• Application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary 

to law under Section 28 or for a judicial review under Section 31 of the Act; 

or

• Issuing an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Act.

• We carry out work to satisfy ourselves on the consistency of the pension fund 

financial statements included in the pension fund annual report with the audited 

Fund accounts.

Other material balances and transactions

Under International Standards on Auditing, "irrespective of the assessed risks of material

misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures for each

material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure". All other material

balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the procedures will

not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified in this report.

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the

appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the

preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is

a material uncertainty about the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern” (ISA (UK)

570). We will review management's assessment of the going concern assumption and

evaluate the disclosures in the financial statements.

P
age 38



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19 9

Materiality
The concept of materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements

and the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to

disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and

applicable law. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if

they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality for planning purposes

We have determined materiality at the planning stage of our audit to be £22.39m for the

Fund. We consider the proportion of the net assets of the Fund to be the appropriate

benchmark for the financial year. In the prior year we used the same benchmark. Our

materiality equates to 1% of your net assets for the year ended 31 March 2018.

We reconsider planning materiality if, during the course of our audit engagement, we

become aware of facts and circumstances that would have caused us to make a

different determination of planning materiality.

Matters we will report to the Audit and Governance Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to

our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the Audit

and Governance Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the

extent that these are identified by our audit work. Under ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication

with those charged with governance’, we are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or

misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with

governance. ISA 260 (UK) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly

inconsequential, whether taken individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any

quantitative or qualitative criteria. In the context of the Fund, we propose that an

individual difference could normally be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than

£1.12m.

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of

the audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the

Audit and Governance Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Prior year net assets

£2.24bn Materiality

Prior year net assets Materiality

£22.39m

Fund financial 

statements materiality

£1.12m

Misstatements reported 

to the Audit and 

Governance Committee

P
age 39



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19 10

Audit logistics, team & fees

Audit fees

The planned audit fees are £18,325 (PY: £23,799) for the financial statements audit 

completed under the Code, which are in line with the scale fee published by PSAA. There 

is no non-Code (as defined by PSAA) work planned. In setting your fee, we have assumed 

that the scope of the audit, and the Fund and its activities, do not significantly change.

Where we are required to respond to requests received from other auditors of other bodies 

for assurance in respect of information held by the Fund and provided to the actuary to 

support their individual IAS 19 calculations these will be billed in addition to the audit fee on 

a case by case basis.

Our requirements

To ensure the audit is delivered on time and to avoid any additional fees, we have detailed 

our expectations and requirements in the following section ‘Early Close’. If the 

requirements detailed overleaf are not met, we reserve the right to postpone our audit visit 

and charge fees to reimburse us for any additional costs incurred.

Any proposed fee variations will need to be approved by PSAA.

Peter Barber, Engagement Lead

Peter’s role will be to lead our relationship with you.  He will take 

overall responsibility for the delivery of a high quality audit, 

meeting the highest professional standards and adding value to 

the Fund.

Katie Whybray, Audit Manager

Katie’s role will be to be a key contact with the senior management 

and the Audit and Governance Committee.

James Stevenson, Audit Incharge

James’s role will be to be the day to day contact for the Fund 

finance staff.  She will take responsibility for ensuring there is 

effective communication and understanding of the finance team 

of audit requirements.

Planning and

risk assessment 

Interim audit

February 2019

Year end audit

June 2019

Audit and Governance

committee

January 2019

Audit and Governance

committee

April 2019 July 2019

Audit and Governance

committee

September 2019

Audit 

Findings 

Report

Audit 

opinion
Audit 

Plan

Interim 

Progress 

Report

Annual 

Audit 

Letter

Audit and Governance

committee

P
age 40



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19 11

Early close

Meeting the 31 July audit timeframe

In the prior year, the statutory date for publication of audited local government 

accounts in England was brought forward to 31 July. Wales and Scotland currently 

have different deadlines but there is convergence towards earlier close. This is a 

significant challenge for Pension Funds and auditors alike. For authorities, the time 

available to prepare the accounts is curtailed, while, as auditors there is a shorter 

period to complete our work and an even more significant peak in our workload 

than previously. Gloucestershire Pension Fund successfully met the earlier 

deadline in 2017/18.

We have carefully planned how we can make the best use of the resources 

available to us during the final accounts period. As well as increasing the overall 

level of resources available to deliver audits, we have focused on:

• bringing forward as much work as possible to interim audits

• starting work on final accounts audits as early as possible, by agreeing which 

authorities will have accounts prepared significantly before the end of May

• seeking further efficiencies in the way we carry out our audits

• working with you to agree detailed plans to make the audits run smoothly, 

including early agreement of audit dates, working paper and data requirements 

and early discussions on potentially contentious items.

We are satisfied that, if all these plans are implemented, we will be able to 

complete your audit and those of our other local government clients in sufficient 

time to meet the earlier deadline. 

Client responsibilities

Where individual clients do not deliver to the timetable agreed, we need to ensure that this 

does not impact on audit quality or absorb a disproportionate amount of time, thereby 

disadvantaging other clients. We will therefore conduct audits in line with the timetable set 

out in audit plans (as detailed on page 10). Where the elapsed time to complete an audit 

exceeds that agreed due to a client not meetings its obligations we will not be able to 

maintain a team on site. Similarly, where additional resources are needed to complete the 

audit due to a client not meeting their obligations we are not able to guarantee the delivery 

of the audit by the statutory deadline. Such audits are unlikely to be re-started until very 

close to, or after the statutory deadline. In addition, it is highly likely that these audits will 

incur additional audit fees.

Our requirements 

To minimise the risk of a delayed audit or additional audit fees being incurred, you need to 

ensure that you:

• produce draft financial statements of good quality by the deadline you have agreed 

with us, including all notes

• ensure that good quality working papers are available at the start of the audit, in 

accordance with the working paper requirements schedule that we have shared with 

you

• ensure that the agreed data reports are available to us at the start of the audit and are 

reconciled to the values in the accounts, in order to facilitate our selection of samples

• ensure that all appropriate staff are available on site throughout (or as otherwise 

agreed) the planned period of the audit

• respond promptly and adequately to audit queries.

In return, we will ensure that:

• the audit runs smoothly with the minimum disruption to your staff

• you are kept informed of progress through the use of an issues tracker and weekly 

meetings during the audit

• we are available to discuss issues with you prior to and during your preparation of the 

financial statements. 

P
age 41



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19 12

Independence & non-audit services
Auditor independence

Ethical Standards and ISA (UK) 260 require us to give you timely disclosure of all significant facts and matters that may bear upon the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm 

or covered persons relating to our independence. We encourage you to contact us to discuss these or any other independence issues with us.  We will also discuss with you if we make 

additional significant judgements surrounding independence matters. 

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 

Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 

statements. 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Financial Reporting Council’s Eth ical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered 

person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements. Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit 

Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2017 and PSAA’s Terms of Appointment which set out supplementary guidance on ethical requirements for auditors of local 

public bodies. 

Other services provided by Grant Thornton

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Fund. . The following audit related services were identified.

Service £ Threats Safeguards

Audit related

Audit of Brunel Pension 

Partnership Limited (BPP)

40,000 None We do not consider that the Audit of BPP is a threat to our independence as Gloucestershire Pension cannot 

exercise control over BPP.

The audit of BPP is carried out by a specialist team, authorised by the Financial Standards Authority.

The Fee of £40,000 is not significant compared to the audit fees of the ten participating pension funds.

Non-audit related

None

P
age 42



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2018/19

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit Progress Report and Sector Update

Gloucestershire County Council & Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Year ending 31 March 2019

January 2019

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 5



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

Contents

Section Page

Introduction 03

Progress at January 2019 04

Audit Deliverables 05

Sector Update 06

Links                                                                                                                        12

Appendix A 13

2

P
age 46



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

This paper provides the Audit and Governance Committee with a report on 

progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. 

The paper also includes:

• a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a local authority; and

• includes a number of challenge questions in respect of these emerging issues which the Committee may wish to 

consider (these are a tool to use, if helpful, rather than formal questions requiring responses for audit purposes)

Members of the Audit and Governance Committee can find further useful material on our website, where we have a 

section dedicated to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications 

www.grantthornton.co.uk.

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to 

receive regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or 

Engagement Manager.

/

Introduction

3

Peter Barber

Engagement Lead

T 0117 305 7897

M 07880456122

E peter.a.barber@uk.gt.com

Katie Whybray

Engagement Manager

T 0117 305 7601

M 07854791260

E katie.v.whybray@uk.gt.com

P
age 47

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

2018/19 Audit

We have started planning for the 2018/19 financial 

statements audit and are due to commence our interim 

audit in January 2019. Our interim fieldwork visit is 

expected to include:

• Updated review of the Council’s control environment

• Updated understanding of financial systems

• Early work on emerging accounting issues

• Early substantive testing.

We will report any findings from the interim audit to you in 

our Progress Report at the April Audit and Governance 

Committee.

Progress at January 2019

4

Other areas

Certification of claims and returns 2017/18

We have completed the certification of the teachers’ 

pension return  on behalf of the Teachers Pension 

Agency and the Local Authority Major schemes return 

on behalf of the Department for Transport. 

Events

We provide a range of workshops, along with network 

events for members and publications to support the 

Council. Our next event is our Chief Accountants 

workshop for key officers which is taking place in 

February.  Further details of the publications that may be 

of interest to the Council are set out in our Sector 

Update section of this report.

2016/17 and 2017/18 Value for 

Money Conclusions and Audit 

Certificates

Due to the outstanding 2016/17 objection, we have 

not issued our value for money opinion and Audit 

Certificates for Gloucestershire County Council for 

2016/17 and 2017/18.

We are continuing to work towards resolving this 

complex objections as quickly as possible, whilst at 

the same time ensuring that the process we follow is 

fair to both parties – the objectors and the Council.

A more detailed update on the latest position 

regarding the objection is provided at Appendix A.

P
age 48



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

Audit Deliverables

5

2018/19 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Fee Letter for Council and Pension Fund

Confirming audit fee for 2018/19.

April 2018 Complete

Council Accounts Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit and Governance Committee setting out our 

proposed approach in order to give an opinion on the Council and Pension Funds 2018-19 financial statements.

January 2019 In progress

Pension Fund Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit Committee setting out our proposed 

approach in order to give an opinion on the Pension Funds 2018-19 Financial Statements

January 2019 In progress

Interim Audit Findings (Council and Pension Fund)

We will report to you the findings from our interim audit and our initial value for money risk assessment within 

our Progress Report.

April 2019 Not yet due

Audit Findings Report (Council and Pension Fund)

The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the July Audit and Governance Committee.

July 2019 Not yet due

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.

July 2019 Not yet due

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

August 2019 Not yet due

P
age 49



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

Local government finances are at a tipping point. 

Councils are tackling a continuing drive to 

achieve greater efficiency in the delivery of 

public services, whilst facing the challenges to 

address rising demand, ongoing budget 

pressures and social inequality.

Our sector update provides you with an up to date summary of 

emerging national issues and developments to support you. We 

cover areas which may have an impact on your organisation, the 

wider NHS and the public sector as a whole. Links are provided to 

the detailed report/briefing to allow you to delve further and find 

out more. 

Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake research 

on service and technical issues. We will bring you the latest 

research publications in this update. We also include areas of 

potential interest to start conversations within the organisation and 

with Audit and Governance Committee members, as well as any 

accounting and regulatory updates. 

Sector Update

6

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and local 

government sections on the Grant Thornton website

• Grant Thornton Publications

• Insights from local  government sector 

specialists

• Reports of interest

• Accounting and regulatory updates

P
age 50



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

A Caring Society – bringing together innovative 
thinking, people and practice  

The Adult Social Care sector is at a crossroads. We have yet 

to find a sustainable system of care that is truly fit for 

purpose and for people. Our Caring Society programme 

takes a step back and creates a space to think, explore new 

ideas and draw on the most powerful and fresh influences 

we can find, as well as accelerate the innovative social care 

work already taking place.

We are bringing together a community of influencers, academics, investors, private care 

providers, charities and social housing providers and individuals who are committed to 

shaping the future of adult social care.

At the heart of the community are adult social care directors and this programme aims to 

provide them with space to think about, and design, a care system that meets the needs of 

the 21st Century, taking into account ethics, technology, governance and funding.

We are doing this by:

• hosting a ‘scoping sprint’ to determine the specific themes we should focus on

• running three sprints focused on the themes affecting the future of care provision

• publishing a series of articles drawing on opinion, innovative best practices and 

research to stimulate fresh thinking.

Our aim is to reach a consensus, that transcends party politics, about what future care 

should be for the good of society and for the individual. This will be presented to directors 

of adult social care in Spring 2019, to decide how to take forward the resulting 

recommendations and policy changes.

Scoping Sprint 

This took place in October. Following opening remarks by Hilary Cottam (social 

entrepreneur and author of Radical Help) and Cllr Georgia Gould (Leader of Camden 

Council), the subsequent discussion brought many perspectives but there was a strong 

agreement about the need to do things differently that would create and support a caring 

society. Grant Thornton will now take forward further discussions around three particular 

themes:

1. Ethics and philosophy: What is meant by care? Should the state love?

2. Care in a place: Where should the power lie? How are local power relationships 

different in a local place?

3. Promoting and upscaling effective programmes and innovation

Sprint 1 – What do we really mean by ‘care’?

This will take place on 4 December. Julia Unwin, Chair of the Civil Societies Futures 

Project, former CEO of the Joseph Rowntree Association and author on kindness will 

provider her insight to spark the debate on what we really mean by ‘care’

Find out more and get involved

• To read the sprint write-ups and opinion pieces visit: grantthornton.co.uk/acaringsociety

• Join the conversation at #acaringsociety

7

Challenge question: 

How is your authority engaging in the debate

about the future of social care?  

P
age 51



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

In good company: Latest trends in local authority 
trading companies 

Our recent report looks at trends in LATC’s (Local 

Government Authority Trading Companies).These 

deliver a wide range of services across the country and 

range from wholly owned companies to joint ventures, all 

within the public and private sector. 

Outsourcing versus local authority trading companies

The rise of trading companies is, in part, due to the decline in popularity of 

outsourcing. The majority of outsourced contracts operate successfully, and continue 

to deliver significant savings. But recent high profile failures, problems with inflexible 

contracts and poor contract management mean that outsourcing has fallen out of 

favour. The days of large scale outsourcing of council services has gone. 

Advantages of local authority trading companies

• Authorities can keep direct control over their providers

• Opportunities for any profits to be returned to the council

• Provides suitable opportunity to change the local authority terms and conditions, 

particularly with regard to pensions, can also bring significant reductions in the 

cost base of the service

• Having a separate  company allows the authority to move away from the 

constraints of the councils decision making processes, becoming more agile and 

responsive to changes in demand or funding

• Wider powers to trade through the Localism act provide the company with the 

opportunity to win contracts elsewhere

Choosing the right company model

The most common company models adopted by councils are:

8

Wholly owned companies are common because they allow local authorities to retain the 

risk and reward. And governance is less complicated. Direct labour organisations such 

as Cormac and Oxford Direct Services have both transferred out in this way.

JVs have become increasingly popular as a means of leveraging growth. Pioneered by 

Norse, Corserv and Vertas organisations are developing the model. Alternatively, if 

there is a social motive rather than a profit one, the social enterprise model is the best 

option, as it can enable access to grant funding to drive growth.

Getting it right through effective governance

While there are pitfalls in establishing these companies, those that have got it right are: 

seizing the advantages of a more commercial mind-set, generating revenue, driving 

efficiencies and improving the quality of services. By developing effective governance 

they can be more flexible and grow business without micromanagement from the 

council.

LATC’s need to adapt for the future
• LATC’s must adapt to developments in the external environment

- These include possible changes to the public procurement rules after Brexit and 

new local authority structures. Also responding to an increasingly crowded and 

competitive market where there could me more mergers and insolvencies.

• Authorities need to be open to different ways of doing things, driving further 

developments of new trading companies. Relieving pressures on councils to find the 

most efficient ways of doing more with less in todays austere climate.

Overall, joint ventures can be a viable alternative delivery model for local authorities. 

Our research indicates that the numbers of joint ventures will continue to rise, and in 

particular we expect to see others follow examples of successful public-public 

partnerships.

Wholly 

owned

Joint 

Ventures

Social 

Enterprise

Download the report here

P
age 52

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/the-rise-of-local-authority-trading-companies/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

HMICFRS Inspection – summary of First 

Tranche

This is the first time that HMICFRS has inspected fire and 

rescue services across England. Their focus is on the 

service they provide to the public, and the way they use 

the resources available. 

HMICFRS have inspected 14 services in the first tranche 

of inspections. Each inspection assesses how effective 

and efficient the service is, how it protects the public 

against fires and other emergencies and how it responds 

to the same. They also assess how well each service 

looks after the people who work there. Devon and 

Somerset Fire and Rescue Authority are in the third 

tranche of inspections, and are scheduled for inspection in 

Spring 2019

In carrying out inspections of fire and rescue services in 

England, HMICFRS have regard to the following main 

questions:

1. How effective is the fire and rescue service at keeping 

people safe and secure from fire and other risks?

2. How efficient is the fire and rescue service at keeping 

people safe and secure from fire and other risks?

3. How well does the fire and rescue service look after its 

people?

The categories of graded judgement used are: outstanding, 

good, requires improvement and inadequate

HMICFRS News

9

HMICFRS Inspection  - Findings

Effectiveness

Overall, the HMICFRS judged ten services to be good and four as requiring improvement. In arriving at 

the overall judgment, they examined a range of operational practices, including: fire prevention; protection 

through regulation; emergency response; and responding to national risks.

Specifically, the HMICFRS has concerns in relation to ‘protection through regulation’ where they have 

rated eight out of fourteen services as requiring improvement, and one as inadequate. 

Efficiency

HMICFRS graded eight of the fire and rescue services they inspected as good for efficiency, five as 

requiring improvement, and they found one service to be inadequate. In arriving at these judgments, they 

considered how well the service uses resources to manage risks; and how well the service is using 

resources to ensure the service it provides is affordable now and in the future

The inspections showed that a large number of services were deploying staff to activities in the same way 

they always have, which may not be appropriate given new and emerging risks being faced, coupled with 

having fewer staff. Furthermore, they found that some fire services were using reserves without a longer-

term sustainable funding plan in place.

People

Three services were graded as good at looking after the people who work for them; ten services were 

graded as requiring improvement, and one service was graded as inadequate. They considered how well 

services train, manage, treat and support the people who work for them

This was the area of greatest concern for the HMICFRS, as the inspection revealed a lack of diversity 

within fire services, as well as a large number of unreported instances of bullying. A recommendation that 

leaders take swift and sustained action to remedy these problems was made. 

P
age 53



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

NFCC responds to the new fire inspectorate report

The Chair of the National Fire Chiefs Council has received the fire 

and rescue inspectorate report which gives the first overview of 

inspections of English Fire and Rescue Services

NFCC Chair Roy Wilsher noted the new inspectorate regime and 

report, and stated: NFCC has worked closely with the Inspectorate to 

help develop the inspection methodology. We will now work with fire 

and rescue services to review the inspectorate reports as they are 

published. This will allow us, working together, to ensure areas for 

improvement are identified and addressed. 

He also states that the inspections highlight areas which may need 

additional government support, including funding, particularly in the 

area of Fire Protection and Prevention, and that the NFCC will work 

with services, the Home Office and HMICRFS to address these 

issues. The Chair also notes that he report states that long-term 

under-investment in areas such as protection has resulted in large 

reductions in fire safety audits, and that in order to address these 

issues, it is essential that fire and rescue services receive adequate 

funding.

The Chair made reference to the issues noted in relation to equality 

and diversity, and noted that it is disappointing to see that not 

everywhere has so far achieved a positive internal working culture 

and stated that the NFCC will continue work on this extremely 

important area. Diversity and embracing difference is another area 

for improvement however several NFCC initiatives are underway to 

address this, which are being well-supported by fire services

HMICFRS News

10

Recommendations from the new fire inspectorate report

Some of the key recommendations from the report are listed below:

a) Services could improve how they engage with communities – The quality, quantity and 

timeliness of information contained within the IRMP varies significantly between fire and 

rescue services. HMICFRS would like to see fire and rescue services improving the way 

they use this information to determine allocation of resources across the organisation 

according to risk

b) Services could improve the way they evaluate the benefits of their collaborative efforts –

Often services didn’t know what benefits (including financial savings) they were getting out 

of the collaboration, and this could be improved

c) Financial planning needs to improve – HMICFRS found that several services had very 

limited financial planning in place beyond 2020. They recommend that planning work beyond 

2020 needs to start now in order to understand the tough decisions needed to reduce costs 

further.

d) Fire and rescue services need to improve workforce planning – A number of services have 

carried out little or no recruitment. Leaders need to anticipate their future recruitment needs 

and plan for these accordingly.

e) Promotions and selection processes to be more transparent –

Fire and rescue services need to do better at explaining their 

promotion processes to staff, as they are considered unfair, or

not clear and open enough.

The full report can be accessed by clicking on the cover

P
age 54

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/fire-and-rescue-service-inspections-2018-19.pdf


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

Creating and operating a successful fire trading 
company – A Grant Thornton report

How fire trading companies can combat austerity

In October 2018, Grant Thornton released a report which contained a study of fire 

trading companies (FTCs). In our latest study we have researched a range of FTCs, 

from those reported as being successful to lessons learned from those that have 

encountered challenges and ceased to trade. 

Of the 48 fire and rescue services in England and Wales, only 31% have an FTC. In 

comparison, 60% of local authorities have at least one trading company. This could 

be attributed to several factors, such as a lack of willingness to trade; the restricted, 

specialist and competitive market in which FTCs operate; and the fact that some 

FTCs have ceased trading. 

The report found that the most successful FTCs are not just financially sustainable 

but are also providing social value and wider benefit to their local communities. 

They tend to be larger companies who understand the commercial market in which 

they operate, are able to capitalise on their specialist skills and are looking for ways 

to expand and widen their activities.

The report goes on to consider some of the key success factors in running an FTC, 

including clarity on the rationale for setting up an FTC, ensuring sustainable income 

streams, creating the right culture, and establishing effective governance 

arrangements, amongst others.

The report also lists six case studies, which are all FTCs. Some of the successful 

FTCs are able to have more autonomy from the fire service in meeting their 

objectives, with ring fenced profits being able to be invested in community projects 

based on the objectives of the board of the FTC.

Some smaller FTCs also have significant impact on reducing the strain on the 

public purse, for example by providing  training to delegates in improving fire safety 

and reducing risk

Setting up a fire trading company

FTCs can provide opportunities to generate additional income, utilise spare capacity 

within the fire and rescue service (FRS), offer a social return and improve fire safety. 

For example, through bidding for work to provide services outside of their own 

authority. But while some FTCs are competing successfully and are on a growth 

trajectory, others are less successful with uncertain futures.

Maintaining success

As with any successful commercial organisation, an FTC must be dynamic, flexible 

and adapt to changing market forces. It needs to review and develop its commercial 

acumen and culture on an ongoing basis. And this need to be commercial and 

sustainable must be recognised by both leadership and staff. 

The full report can be accessed by clicking on the

cover

11

P
age 55

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/creating-and-operating-a-successful-fire-trading-company.pdf


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

Grant Thornton website links

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/a-caring-society/

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/care-homes-where-are-we-now/

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/the-rise-of-local-authority-trading-companies/

12

Links

P
age 56

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector
https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/a-caring-society/
https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/care-homes-where-are-we-now/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

This note is intended to provide the Audit and Governance Committee with a brief update on progress in dealing with the objection made to the Council’s 2016/17 accounts in relation to the 

Council’s waste disposal PFI contract with UBB.

Background

The process of dealing with objections to the accounts is unique to local government. It is a quasi-judicial process, in which the external auditor needs to ensure the process of considering the 

objection is fair to both the objectors and the Council. This means dealing with both parties even-handedly, including providing the same rights to make representations on material documents and 

emerging findings.  At the same time, however, the auditor needs to be aware that their work results in additional costs to council tax payers and to ensure they act proportionately.

One way in which fairness can be enhanced, which is normally used for complex objections such as this one, is through the auditor, at the appropriate time in their work, issuing to both parties a 

statement of their Provisional Views, accompanied by those documents which are material to these findings. Both parties then have an opportunity to make representations on both the Provisional 

Views and the documents, which the auditor then takes into account in finalising their views. It is important to note that the auditor remains open-minded about the matter until the final decision is 

reached, having taken into account the representations.  It is for the auditor to determine which documents are material to their consideration of the objection, but such decisions need to be 

capable of withstanding legal challenge.

Progress to date

In relation to the GCC objection, we issued a statement of our Provisional Views on 28 March 2018, with a request to both parties to make any representations by 8 May 2018. The statement was 

accompanied by a small number of documents which we considered material to our determination of the objection, in addition to those already held by the objectors. After careful consideration, 

we did not share any information which the Council had previously treated as commercially confidential when responding to Freedom of Information Act requests, because we did not consider the 

withheld information to be material to our views.

However, the objectors expressed concern about their ability to make representations without this withheld information, and this led to a period of further consideration in which we sought legal 

advice as to procedure and the interrelationship between FOIA considerations and our processes as auditors. The situation became further complicated by the decision of the Information Tribunal 

on 7 June 2018 and the Council’s subsequent decision to appeal this decision.

After further discussions and legal advice, we decided to issue a revised statement of our Provisional Views, reiteration why we remained of the view that withheld information was not material to 

our views. This was issued on 14 November 2018, giving the Council and the objectors a further opportunity to make representations, and to do so by 24 December 2018. Shortly before this 

deadline, one of the objectors contacted us to explain that the Council had just decided to release the previously redacted information in the EY ‘Value for Money’ report and asking whether, in 

view of the fact that new information was now available to the objectors, we could grant an extension to the deadline for responses. We took the view that this was a fair request, but also took into 

account the need to make progress in dealing with the objection. On balance, we agreed to an extension of a month, to 24 January 2018.

The Council made representations in relation to one aspect of the amended Provisional Views. At the time of writing this update, we expect the objectors to make representations by the amended 

deadline of 24 January, and will be able to confirm the position to the Committee verbally. 

We will then need to assess the representations made by both the Council and the objectors; clearly, the time required for this will depend on the extent and significance of the representations, 

and whether we are required to carry out further substantive work as a result of them. 

Once we have fully considered these representations, we will reflect them where appropriate in our findings and reach our final decision on this matter. Ultimately, our decision is whether or not to 

issue a Report in the Public Interest on this matter and/or to go to the High Court to seek a declaration that there is unlawful income or expenditure in the Council’s 2016/17 accounts in relation to 

this matter.  

13

Appendix A – Objection Update

P
age 57



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | January 2019

Fees

As members are aware, our costs in dealing with objections are billed to authorities in addition to the audit scale fee, and are subject to an approval process managed by PSAA. We are also 

entitled to pass on to authorities any costs we reasonably incur in relation to legal advice needed to deal with the objection. The extent to which legal advice is needed varies greatly between 

different objections according to the subject matter and whether particular points of law arise. In this case, the legal fees incurred have been significant because of:

• procedural advice we have had to seek, primarily in relation to consideration of sharing commercially sensitive information and the interface between our audit responsibilities and Freedom of 

Information Act requirements. 

• the potential need to consult with outside parties (UBB etc) as part of our process

• the overall significance and financial sums involved in the subject matter of the objection. 

Legal fees incurred to date total £18,970.

GT time costs, at the rates specified in our contract with PSAA, are currently £13,150, giving a total cost to date of £32,120.

14

Appendix A – Objection Update Continued

P
age 58



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 

as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 

member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 

obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 

and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 

for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Audit and Governance Committee

25th January 2019

Title of Report Strategy Reports 2019/20.

Purpose of Report To provide the Committee with the proposed Capital Strategy, 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
for 2019/20, and the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.

Recommendations
To consider, and comment as appropriate, on the proposed 
strategies for 2019/20, including the Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy.

Officers Paul Blacker: Section 151 and Head of Financial Management 
(01452) 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jayne Fuller: Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926
jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Kathryn Oakey: Finance Manager: (01452) 328915
kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Report

Following an update by the Chartered Institute for Public Finance and Accounting 
(CIPFA) in 2017 of the Prudential Code, Treasury Management Code of Practice, and 
new guidance issued by the 2018 Ministry of Housing Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) the Council is now required to produce reports as follows:

 A Capital Strategy, Annex 1, 

 A Treasury Management Strategy, Annex 2, and 

 An Investment Strategy, covering non-treasury investments, included within 
Annex 2.

To comply with this new requirement these reports, produced as Annex 1 – 2 below are 
included within the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for approval by full Council 
in February 2019.

Page 61

Agenda Item 6

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

The following changes have been recommended for the 2019/20 strategies and agreed 
with our treasury management advisers, Arlingclose

 The removal of reference to specific credit rating agencies as part of the Treasury 
Management Strategy.

 The addition of registered social landlords, under the category of Registered 
Providers within the approved Treasury Management investment counterparties.

 The addition of “units”, under the category of Pooled Funds within the approved 
Treasury Management investment counterparties.

 The addition of Real Estate Investment Trusts as an approved Treasury 
management counterparty.

 The removal of specified and unspecified investments as part of the Treasury 
Management Strategy as they are no longer applicable to these investments per the 
MHCLG Investment Guidance 2018.

Page 62



3

Annex 1
Capital Strategy 

2019/20 

Introduction

This capital strategy is a new report for 2019/20, giving a high-level overview of how 
capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the 
provision of local public services along with an overview of how associated risk is 
managed and the implications for future financial sustainability. 

Capital Expenditure and Financing

Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets, such as property or 
vehicles that will be used for more than one year. In local government this includes 
spending on assets owned by other bodies, and loans and grants to other bodies 
enabling them to buy assets.  Subject to all Financial Regulations and Accounting 
Instructions, in particular Financial Regulation B: Financial Planning and Accounting 
Instructions 1, 14, and 19, Commissioning Directors have the authority to incur 
expenditure provided in the capital programme approved by the County Council.

Expenditure may not be incurred if it is contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the 
Policy Framework or Capital Programme.  Virements and changes to approved capital 
schemes can be made in accordance with the Accounting Instructions.

In 2019/20, the Budget for planned capital expenditure is £147.9m as summarised 
below:

Table 1: Estimates of Capital Expenditure 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund services 95.875 100.010 147.914 99.150 57.624
Capital investments 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
TOTAL 95.875 100.010 147.914 99.15 57.624

Estimates of Capital Expenditure

Governance: 

For the majority of service areas, service managers bid annually to include projects in 
the Council’s capital programme.  The Council’s project appraisal process will be the 
methodology employed to evaluate schemes included in the MTFS. The elements are:

 Scheme description
 Fit against the Council’s priorities
 Costs including whole life costs and scheme phasing
 Available funding and source
 Revenue consequences
 Risk assessment
 VAT issues

Page 63



4

 Planning and site issues
 Target dates

Analysis of existing approved schemes will be carried out at each MTFS refresh to 
identify all “non-committed” schemes. If necessary these will be re-prioritised against 
other priority schemes awaiting approval.  Capital resources will be made available to 
deliver schemes that meet the Council’s “invest to save” criteria.

All Highway related projects, with a few limited exceptions are subjected to a 
mathematical assessment process applicable to the area of the service involved.  The 
exceptions are the allocations that are set aside for reactive works which relates to 
urgent work necessary to keep the network in a safe and operational state, Community 
Offer where we match contributions from the community, and low cost minor works 
where we react on a local basis to needs. 

The Council has a statutory obligation to ensure there are sufficient local school places 
available across the County.  The capital and grant funding it receives is prioritised 
against schemes which have been identified to meet forecast growth (basic need) in 
areas where additional places are required and where the condition of the school’s 
infrastructure needs updating and replacing. Annual monitoring of pupils forecasts and 
housing, together with annual inspections of school site and premises ensure the 
information is up to date to inform planned decisions.  The Council has recently 
produced a draft School Places Strategy document (2018- 2023).  The strategy, which 
will be considered by Cabinet for approval in December 2019, is a key framework 
document for the Council in considering any statutory proposals for changes to school 
organisation including the commissioning of new schools and will inform future capital 
investment priorities. 

The final capital programme is presented to Cabinet in January and to Council in 
February each year.

Full details of the Council’s current capital programme can be found in the MTFS: 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-
spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/

Financing Capital Expenditure

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government 
grants and other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and 
capital receipts) or debt (borrowing, (including internal borrowing), leasing and Private 
Finance Initiative). The planned financing of the above expenditure is as follows:

Page 64

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/


5

Table 2: Financing the Capital Programme 

Capital Financing 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
External Sources 69.172 75.055 88.713 57.415 27.903
Own resources 26.703 19.860 43.796 19.685 10.721
Debt 0.000 5.095 15.405 22.050 19.000
Total 95.875 100.010 147.914 99.150 57.624

Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be repaid, and 
this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from revenue which is 
known as the minimum revenue provision (MRP).  Alternatively, proceeds from selling 
capital assets (known as capital receipts) may be used to replace debt finance.  The 
Council currently has no plans to use capital receipts to repay debt.  Planned MRP and 
use of capital receipts to finance debt are as follows:

Table 3: Replacement of debt finance 

Own resources 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
MRP, including lease liability 6.766 6.888 7.077 23.422 31.830
Capital Receipts 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Total 6.766 6.888 7.077 23.422 31.830

MRP increases significantly from 2020/21 due to the Javelin Park Incinerator coming 
onto the Council’s balance sheet.  The MRP element for the Javelin Park Incinerator 
reflects the full the lease liability of the contract.  The Council’s full MRP statement is 
available within the Treasury Management Strategy, Annex 9 of the MTFS.

The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance the capital programme is measured 
by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed 
capital expenditure and other liabilities then reduces with MRP payments and capital 
receipts used to replace debt.  The CFR is expected to increase significantly during 
2019/20 due to the Javelin Park Incinerator coming onto the Council’s balance sheet. 
Based on the above figures for expenditure and financing, the Council’s estimated CFR 
is as follows:

Table 4: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund services 282.251 281.146 290.147 339.328 342.714
Other Liabilities 19.825 19.138 604.391 553.837 537.621
Capital investments 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
TOTAL CFR 302.076 300.283 894.538 893.166 880.335

Capital Financing Requirement

Page 65



6

Asset management: 

To ensure that capital assets continue to be of long-term use, the Council has an asset 
management strategy in place. This document seeks to align the asset portfolio with the 
needs of the Council.  

The Council’s asset management strategy is available on the Council’s website, 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

Asset disposals: 

When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds, known 
as capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or to repay debt.  The Council is 
currently also permitted to spend capital receipts on service transformation projects until 
2021/22. Repayments of capital grants, loans and investments also generate capital 
receipts. The Council plans to receive £11.8m of capital receipts in the coming financial 
year as follows:

Table 5: Capital receipts

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Asset sales 11.821 11.506 11.844 15.628 12.635
Local Authoity Mortgage Scheme 1.200 1.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
TOTAL 13.021 12.506 11.844 15.628 12.635

Capital receipts

Flexible Use of Capital Receipts:

As part of the local government finance settlement for 2016/17 Central Government 
announced greater flexibility for council’s in how they make use of capital receipts. 
Councils were previously only allowed to use capital receipts for repaying debt or 
funding further capital spend. The rules now allow new capital receipts to be used to 
fund the revenue costs of transformation projects designed to generate ongoing 
revenue savings in the delivery of public services and /or to transform service delivery in 
a way that reduces costs or demand for services in the future. Plans for utilising capital 
receipts in this way need to be approved by County Council, incorporated in the 
Council’s Efficiency Statement, and progress reported on an annual basis to DCLG.

The proposed budget 2019/20 does not anticipate the use of capital receipts in this way 
during 2019/20 financial year.  However, given the expected size and scale of the 
transformation programme required to balance the budget over the coming years, it is 
likely the facility to use capital receipts in this flexible manner will be required in future.

Treasury Management

Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash 
available to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved.  
Surplus cash is invested until required, while a shortage of cash will be met by 
borrowing in order to avoid excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current 

Page 66

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


7

account.  The revenue cash surpluses are offset against capital cash shortfalls to 
reduce overall borrowing. 

Due to decisions taken in the past, the Council currently has £277.6m borrowing at an 
average interest rate of 5.05% and £323.4m treasury investments at an average rate of 
1.55%. 

Borrowing strategy: 

The Council is currently holding all new long term external borrowing requirements 
internally.  However, should the Council need to externalise this debt or take short term 
debt for cash flow purposes the main objectives when borrowing will be to achieve a low 
but certain cost of finance, while retaining flexibility should plans change in future.  
These objectives are often conflicting, and the Council therefore seeks to strike a 
balance between cheap short-term loans (currently available at around 0.75%) and 
long-term fixed rate loans where the future cost is known but higher (currently 2.0 to 
3.0%).

Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt (which comprises borrowing and 
PFI liabilities are shown below, compared with the capital financing requirement (see 
above).

Table 6: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Debt (incl. Other Liabilities) 305.338 296.788 874.177 815.660 789.499
Capital Financing Requirement 302.076 300.283 894.538 893.166 880.335

Gross Debt and the Capital 
Financing Requirement 

Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the underlying need to borrow to 
finance the capital programme, as measured by the capital financing requirement, 
except in the short-term. As can be seen from table 6, the Council expects to comply 
with this in the medium term. 

Liability benchmark: 

To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated which compares the level of borrowing with the level of 
treasury management investments. This benchmark is currently £1.9m, which shows 
that borrowing exceeds the value of investments by £1.9m. The liability benchmark is 
forecast to rise to £77.1m over the next three years.  In effect, this is saying that if we 
made no investments during 2018/19 the Council would need borrowing of £1.9m to 
support the capital programme.

Page 67



8

Table 7: Borrowing and the Liability Benchmark 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Outstanding borrowing 285.513 277.650 269.786 261.823 251.878
Liability benchmark -4.249 1.850 62.351 70.581 77.079

Borrowing and the Liability 
Benchmark 

The table shows that the Council expects to remain borrowed above its liability 
benchmark. This is because the Council has a large historic debt portfolio and due to 
the high premiums that would be incurred on the early repayment of this debt it is not 
currently feasible to reduce the level of borrowing.  Any new debt requirements are 
currently held internally which reduces overall cost.  This debt would only be 
externalised if it becomes uneconomical to hold it internally.

The purpose of the liability benchmark is to assist the Council when making decisions 
about affordability of the capital programme and the need to borrow in the future.

Affordable borrowing limit: 

The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the 
authorised limit for external debt) each year and to keep it under review.  In line with 
statutory guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning level should 
debt approach the limit.

Table 8: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Limit Limit Limit Limit Limit
£m £m £m £m £m

Total Authorised Limit for External 
Debt and Other Liabilities

363.000 380.000 910.000 900.000 890.000

Split: External Debt 343.000 360.000 305.000 346.000 352.000

Other Liabilities 20.000 20.000 605.000 554.000 538.000

Total Operational Boundary for 
External Debt

360.000 360.000 890.000 880.000 870.000

Split: External Debt 340.000 340.000 285.000 326.000 332.000

Other Liabilities 20.000 20.000 605.000 554.000 538.000

Authorised limit and operational 
boundary 

Further details on borrowing are available within the treasury management strategy at 
Annex 2 below.

Treasury Investment strategy: 

Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it is paid out again.  Investments 
made for service reasons or for pure financial gain are not generally considered to be 
part of treasury management however MHCLG guidance requires that a non treasury 

Page 68



9

management Investment Strategy is maintained.  This non treasury Investment Strategy 
is included as part of the Treasury Management Strategy.

The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity over 
yield, that is to focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns. Cash that is 
likely to be spent in the near term is invested securely, for example with the 
government, other local authorities or selected high-quality banks, to minimise the risk 
of loss. Money that will be held for longer terms is invested more widely, including in 
bonds, shares and property, to balance the risk of loss against the risk of receiving 
returns below inflation. Both near-term and longer-term investments may be held in 
pooled funds, where an external fund manager makes decisions on which particular 
investments to buy and the Council may request its money back at short notice.

Table 9: Treasury management investments 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Near-term investments 204.7 153.9 85.5 69.3 52.9
Longer-term investments 90.6 121.9 121.9 121.9 121.9
TOTAL 295.3 275.8 207.4 191.2 174.8

Treasury Management 
Investments

Further details on treasury investments are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment strategy, Annex 2.

Governance: 

Decisions on treasury management investment and borrowing are made daily and are 
therefore delegated to the Section 151 Officer and staff, who must act in line with the 
treasury management strategy approved annually by Council in February.  Regular 
reports on treasury management activity are presented to Audit and Governance 
Committee.  The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for scrutinising 
treasury management decisions.

Investments for Service Purposes

The Council makes investments to assist local public services, this could include 
making loans to local service providers, small businesses to promote economic growth 
and Council subsidiaries that provide services.  In light of the public service objective, 
the Council is willing to take more risk than with treasury investments, however it still 
plans for such investments to break even after all costs.

Governance: 

Decisions on service investments are made by the relevant service manager in 
consultation with the Section 151 Officer and must meet the criteria and limits laid down 
in Accounting Regulations and the Treasury Management and Investment Strategy.  
Most loans and shares are capital expenditure and significant purchases will be 
approved as part of the capital programme.

Page 69



10

Further details on service investments are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy, Annex 2.

Commercial Activities

With central government financial support for local public services declining, many local 
authorities have invested in commercial property for financial gain.  

With financial return being the main objective, Council’s will generally accept higher risk 
on commercial investment, in line with business cases, than it would for treasury 
investments. The principal risk exposures includes gaps in rental income, falls in capital 
value, delays in occupation.  Should the Council choose to pursue commercial activities, 
the risks will be managed in line with a comprehensive business case. 

Governance: 

Decisions on commercial investments will be made by the Section 151 Officer in line 
with the criteria and limits approved by full Council in the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy.  Property and most other commercial investments are also capital 
expenditure and purchases will therefore also be approved as part of the capital 
programme.

Further details on commercial activities are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy, Annex 2.

Revenue Budget Implications

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest 
payable on loans, lease repayments and MRP payments are charged to revenue. 
These costs are known as financing costs. The table below compares the financing 
costs with the Council’s net revenue stream i.e. the amount funded from Council Tax, 
business rates and general government grants.

Table 10: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Proportion of Financing Costs to 
Net Revenue Stream 4.86% 6.79% 6.46% 10.33% 11.95%

The reason for the large increase from 2010/21 is due to the Javelin Park Waste 
incinerator coming onto the Council’s balance sheet.  Further details on the revenue 
implications of capital expenditure are within the Treasury Management Strategy at 
Annex 2.

Page 70



11

Sustainability: 

Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the revenue 
budget implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will extend for up to 50 
years into the future. The Section 151 Officer is satisfied that the proposed capital 
programme is prudent, affordable and sustainable because new schemes are robustly 
challenged through the capital bid process.

Knowledge and Skills

The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior positions 
with responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and investment decisions.  
The Council pays for staff to study towards relevant professional qualifications.

Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and skills required use is made of 
external advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field. The Council currently 
employs Arlingclose Limited as treasury management advisers.  

Asset valuations are co-ordinated internally by the Council’s Valuation Service Team, 
with valuations carried out through a combination of the Council’s internal valuers and, 
where necessary, external valuers (RICS qualified). The Valuation Service Team 
ensures all valuations are carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases 
for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors.

Page 71



12

Annex 2
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy

2019/20 

Introduction

Treasury management is the management of the Councils cash flows, borrowing and 
investments, and the associated risks. The Council has borrowed and invested 
substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss 
of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The successful 
identification, monitoring and control of financial risk are therefore central to the 
Council’s prudent financial management. 

Treasury risk management at the Coucnil is conducted within the framework of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the 
Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires the 
Council to approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each financial 
year. This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 
2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code.

Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered within this 
Strategy as per MHCLG guidance.

External Context

Economic background
The UK’s progress negotiating its exit from the European Union, together with its future 
trading arrangements, will continue to be a major influence on the Council’s treasury 
management strategy for 2019/20.

UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) for October was up 2.4% year/year, slightly below 
the consensus forecast and broadly in line with the Bank of England’s November 
Inflation Report.  The most recent labour market data for October 2018 showed the 
unemployment rate edged up slightly to 4.1% while the employment rate of 75.7% was 
the joint highest on record. The 3-month average annual growth rate for pay excluding 
bonuses was 3.3% as wages continue to rise steadily and provide some pull on general 
inflation.  Adjusted for inflation, real wages grew by 1.0%, a level still likely to have little 
effect on consumer spending.

The rise in quarterly GDP growth to 0.6% in Q3 from 0.4% in the previous quarter was 
due to weather-related factors boosting overall household consumption and 
construction activity over the summer following the weather-related weakness in Q1.  At 
1.5%, annual GDP growth continues to remain below trend.  Looking ahead, the BoE, in 
its November Inflation Report, expects GDP growth to average around 1.75% over the 
forecast horizon, providing the UK’s exit from the EU is relatively smooth.

Following the Bank of England’s decision to increase Bank Rate to 0.75% in August, no 
changes to monetary policy has been made since.  However, the Bank expects that 
should the economy continue to evolve in line with its November forecast, further 
increases in Bank Rate will be required to return inflation to the 2% target.  The 
Monetary Policy Committee continues to reiterate that any further increases will be at a 
gradual pace and limited in extent.

Page 72



13

Credit Update
The big four UK banking groups have now divided their retail and investment banking 
divisions into separate legal entities under ringfencing legislation. Bank of Scotland, 
Barclays Bank UK, HSBC UK Bank, Lloyds Bank, National Westminster Bank, Royal 
Bank of Scotland and Ulster Bank are the ringfenced banks that now only conduct lower 
risk retail banking activities. Barclays Bank, HSBC Bank, Lloyds Bank Corporate 
Markets and NatWest Markets are the investment banks. Credit rating agencies have 
adjusted the ratings of some of these banks with the ringfenced banks generally being 
better rated than their non-ringfenced counterparts.

The Bank of England released its latest report on bank stress testing, illustrating that all 
entities included in the analysis were deemed to have passed the test once the levels of 
capital and potential mitigating actions presumed to be taken by management were 
factored in.  The BoE did not require any bank to raise additional capital.

European banks are considering their approach to Brexit, with some looking to create 
new UK subsidiaries to ensure they can continue trading here. The credit strength of 
these new banks remains unknown, although the chance of parental support is 
assumed to be very high if ever needed. The uncertainty caused by protracted 
negotiations between the UK and EU is weighing on the creditworthiness of both UK 
and European banks with substantial operations in both jurisdictions.

Interest Rate Forecast

Following the increase in Bank Rate to 0.75% in August 2018, the Council’s treasury 
management adviser Arlingclose is forecasting two more 0.25% hikes during 2019 to 
take official UK interest rates to 1.25%.  The Bank of England’s MPC has maintained 
expectations for slow and steady rate rises over the forecast horizon.  The MPC 
continues to have a bias towards tighter monetary policy but is reluctant to push interest 
rate expectations too strongly. Arlingclose believes that MPC members consider both 
that ultra-low interest rates result in other economic problems, and that higher Bank 
Rate will be a more effective policy weapon should downside Brexit risks crystallise 
when rate cuts will be required.

The UK economic environment remains relatively soft, despite seemingly strong labour 
market data.  Arlingclose’s view is that the economy still faces a challenging outlook as 
it exits the European Union and Eurozone growth softens.  Whilst assumptions are that 
a Brexit deal is struck and some agreement reached on transition and future trading 
arrangements before the UK leaves the EU, the possibility of a “no deal” Brexit still 
hangs over economic activity (at the time of writing this commentary in mid October). As 
such, the risks to the interest rate forecast are considered firmly to the downside.

Gilt yields and hence long-term borrowing rates have remained at low levels but some 
upward movement from current levels is expected based on Arlingclose’s interest rate 
projections, due to the strength of the US economy and the ECB’s forward guidance on 
higher rates. 10-year and 20-year gilt yields are forecast to remain around 1.7% and 
2.2% respectively over the interest rate forecast horizon, however volatility arising from 
both economic and political events are likely to continue to offer borrowing 
opportunities.

A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is attached 
at Appendix A.

Page 73



14

Local Context

At 31st March 2019 the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as 
measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is £300.3m, while usable 
reserves and working capital which are the underlying resources available for 
investment were £275.8m (see Appendix B). Forecast changes in these sums are 
shown in the balance sheet analysis in Table 1 below.

The Council’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their 
underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing.  CIPFA’s Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends that the Council’s total debt should be 
lower than its highest forecast CFR over the next three years.  Table 1 shows that the 
Council expects to comply with this recommendation during the next three financial 
years.  

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund CFR 302.076 300.283 894.538 893.166 880.335
Less: Other debt liabilities 19.825 19.138 604.391 553.837 537.621
Loans CFR 282.251 281.146 290.147 339.328 342.714
Less: External borrowing 285.513 277.650 269.786 261.823 251.878
Internal (over) borrowing (3.262) 3.496 20.361 77.505 90.836
Less: Usable reserves 241.400 230.700 179.200 186.000 190.700
Less: Working capital 45.100 48.596 48.596 48.596 48.596
(Investments) or New borrowing (289.762) (275.800) (207.435) (157.090) (148.459)

Balance Sheet Summary

Liability benchmark

To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated and presented in the Capital Strategy, showing the 
lowest risk level of borrowing. This benchmark is currently £1.9m and is forecast to rise 
to £77.1m over the next three years as the Council seeks to hold new capital borrowing 
requirements internally.

Borrowing Strategy

The total borrowing requirement at the end of 2018/19 is forecast to be £300.3 million 
(equivalent to the CFR).  This is financed by historic external borrowing of £277.6 
million, and a PFI lease liability of £19.1 million.  The Council’s aim is to both repay 
maturing debt, and where possible some of the existing debt when oportunites to do this 
arise. The Council also considers new borrowing where it can be shown to be prudent 
and financial beneficial to do so.  In 2018/19 £7.9 million maturing external debt will be 
repaid with  £8.5 million being forecast to be repaid in 2019/20.

The Councils chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk 
balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the 
period for which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the 
Councils long-term plans change is a secondary objective.

Page 74



15

The Councils borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability 
without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term 
interest rates currently much lower than long-term rates, it is likely that in the event that 
the Council needed to borrow it would be more cost effective in the short-term to either 
use internal resources or to borrow short-term.  

By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone 
investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk. Whilst such a strategy is most 
likely to be beneficial over the next 2-3 years as official interest rates remain low, it is 
unlikely to be sustained in the medium-term.  The benefits of internal borrowing will be 
monitored regularly against the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring 
borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to rise 
modestly.  Arlingclose will assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven 
analysis. 

In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans (normally for up to one month) to 
cover unexpected cash flow shortages.

Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

• Public Works Loan Board and any successor body
• UK local authorities
• any institution approved for investments (see below)
• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
• any other UK public sector body
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Gloucestershire Pension Fund)
• capital market bond investors
• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created to 

enable local Council bond issues

In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not 
borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

• leasing
• hire purchase
• Private Finance Initiative 
• sale and leaseback.

The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the Public 
Works Loan Board, but it continues to investigate other sources of finance, such as 
local Council loans and bank loans, that may be available at more favourable rates.

The UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the Local Government 
Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It plans to issue bonds on the capital 
markets and lend the proceeds to local authorities.  This will be a more complicated 
source of finance than the PWLB for two reasons: borrowing authorities will be required 
to provide bond investors with a joint and several guarantee to refund their investment 
in the event that the agency is unable to for any reason; and there will be a lead time of 
several months between committing to borrow and knowing the interest rate payable. 

Page 75



16

Any decision to borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a separate 
report to Audit and Governance Committee.  

The Council holds £33.050 million of Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option (LOBO) loans 
where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate as set dates, 
following which the Council has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay the 
loan at no additional cost.  All of these LOBO’s have options during 2019/20, however 
lenders are unlikely to exercise their options in the current low interest rate environment. 
The situation with these LOBOs will be kept under regular review and the Council will 
take the option to repay LOBO loans at no cost if it has the opportunity to do so.  
Previously a further £8 million of loans with Barclays were classified as LOBOs, 
however Barclays have now fixed the interest rates on these loans until maturity. These 
are now classified as fixed rate market loans.

Short-term and variable rate loans leave the Council exposed to the risk of short-term 
interest rate rises and are therefore subject to interest rate exposure limits in the 
treasury management indicators below.

Debt Rescheduling

The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a premium 
or receive a discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates. Some 
bank lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature redemption terms. The 
Council may take advantage of this and replace some loans with new loans, or repay 
loans without replacement, where this is expected to lead to an overall saving or 
reduction in risk. Such repayments will only be made after consultation with the Section 
151 Officer and Cabinet Member for Finance and Change.

Borrowing and rescheduling activity will be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee in the Annual Treasury Management Report, the Mid Year Report and any 
other treasury management reports presented to Audit & Governance Committee.

Currently opportunities for early redemption of debt are expected to be minimal due to 
the high premiums that would be incurred on early redemption.  

Treasury Investment Strategy

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance 
of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2018/19 the Council’s internal 
investment balance has ranged between £275.8 million and £331.8 million.  Balances 
are expected to start falling as internal borrowing starts to become a feature of future 
years.

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its funds prudently, and to have regard 
to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return, 
or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate 
balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults 
and the risk receiving unsuitably low investment income.  Where balances are expected 
to be invested for more than one year, the Council will aim to achieve a total return that 
is equal or higher than the prevailing rate of inflation, in order to maintain the spending 
power of the sum invested.

Page 76



17

If the UK enters into a recession in 2019/20, there is a small chance that the Bank of 
England could set its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is likely to feed through to 
negative interest rates on all low risk, short-term investment options. This situation 
already exists in many other European countries. In this event, security will be 
measured as receiving the contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this 
may be less than the amount originally invested.

Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured bank 
investments, the Council aims to continue its strategy of diversifying into more secure 
and / or higher yielding asset classes during 2019/20.  This is especially the case for 
funds available for longer-term investment. The pie chart below shows how  Councils 
surplus cash is currently invested -  11% is exposed to “bail-in” risk, down on last year’s 
18% (ie the risk that should the counterparty fail the Council will lose a porportion of the 
funds deposited):

UK 
Banks

6%
Non UK Banks

6% Covered 
Instruments

2%

Local Authorities
39%

MMF+
8%

MMFs
16%

Housing 
Associations

3%

Long Dated 
Funds
11%

Property Fund
9%

Investments as at 14/11/18

Two categories of Money Market Funds (MMFs) are shown.  MMFs and MMF+.  MMFs 
are instant access accounts that operate like a call facility, the only difference being that 
you buy shares in a fund, however the value of the share is constant.  MMF+ are not 
instant access accounts and the value invested can change depending on the share 
value of the fund.  The reason the Council uses these MMF+ funds is that yield is higher 
due to the longer duration of the funds.  

Under the new IFRS 9 standard, accounting for certain investments changes depending 
on the Council’s “business model” for managing them. The Council has a business 
model of Hold to Maturity and as a result where other criteria are also met, these 
investments will continue to be accounted for at amortised cost.

The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in table 2 
below, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty) and the time limits shown.

Page 77



18

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties 

£ Unlimited
50 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m
 5 years 20 years 50 years  20 years  20 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

5 years 10 years 25 years 10 years 10 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

4 years 5 years 15 years 5 years 10 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

3 years 4 years 10 years 4 years 10 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

2 years 3 years 5 years 3 years 5 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

13 months 2 years 5 years 2 years 5 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

 6 months 13 months  5 years  13 months  5 years
£1m £30m £1m £15m

6 months 25 years 5 years 5 years
Pooled funds and real estate 

investment trusts £30m per fund or trust

None n/a

AA+

AA

AA-

A+

A

A-

Corporates Registered 
Providers

AAA

Credit rating Banks 
unsecured

Banks 
Secured Government

UK Govt n/a n/a n/a n/a

Table 2 should be read in conjunction with the notes below:

 Credit Rating: 
Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest published long-term credit rating 
from a selection of external rating agencies. Where available, the credit rating 
relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the 
counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions are never made 
solely based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice 
will be taken into account.

 Banks Unsecured: 
Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks 
and building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  These 
investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator 
determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail.

 Banks Secured: 
Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and other collateralised 
arrangements with banks and building societies.  These investments are secured on 
the bank’s assets, which limits the potential losses in the unlikely event of 
insolvency, and means that they are exempt from bail-in.  Where there is no 
investment specific credit rating, but the collateral upon which the investment is 
secured has a credit rating, the highest of the collateral credit rating and the 
counterparty credit rating will be used to determine cash and time limits.  The 

Page 78



19

combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank will not exceed the 
cash limit for secured investments.

 Government: 
Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, regional and 
local authorities and multilateral development banks. These investments are not 
subject to bail-in, and there is generally a lower risk of insolvency, although they are 
not zero risk. Investments with the UK Central Government may be made in 
unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

 Corporates: 
Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by companies other than banks and 
registered providers. These investments are not subject to bail-in, but are exposed to 
the risk of the company going insolvent.  Loans to unrated companies will only be 
made either following an external credit assessment or to a maximum of £1 million 
per company as part of a diversified pool in order to spread the risk widely.

 Registered Providers: 
Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured on the assets of registered 
providers of social housing and registered social landlords, formerly known as 
housing associations.  These bodies are tightly regulated by the Regulator of Social 
Housing (in England). As providers of public services, they retain the likelihood of 
receiving government support if needed.  

 Pooled Funds: 
Shares or units in diversified investment vehicles consisting of the any of the above 
investment types, plus equity shares and property. These funds have the advantage 
of providing wide diversification of investment risk, coupled with the services of a 
professional fund manager in return for a fee.  Short Term Money Market Funds that 
offer same-day liquidity and very low or no volatility will be used as an alternative to 
instant access bank accounts, while pooled funds whose value changes with market 
prices and/or have a notice period will be used for longer investment periods. 

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are 
more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into asset 
classes other than cash without the need to own and manage the underlying 
investments. Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available 
for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in 
meeting the Council’s investment objectives will be monitored regularly.

 Real estate investment trusts: 
Shares in companies that invest mainly in real estate and pay the majority of their 
rental income to investors in a similar manner to pooled property funds. As with 
property funds, REITs offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are more 
volatile especially as the share price reflects changing demand for the shares as well 
as changes in the value of the underlying properties.

Other information on the security of investments: 

The Council understands that credit ratings are a good, but not perfect, predictors of 
investment default.  Full regard will therefore also be given to other available information 
on the credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap 
prices, financial statements, information on potential government support, reports in the 

Page 79



20

quality financial press and analysis and advice from the Council’s treasury management 
adviser.  No investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive 
doubts about its credit quality, even though it may otherwise meet the above criteria.

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2011, this is not generally reflected in credit 
ratings, but can be seen in other market measures. In these circumstances, the Council 
will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the 
maximum duration of its investments to maintain the required level of security.  The 
extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial market conditions. If 
these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of high credit quality 
are available to invest the Council’s cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited 
with the UK Government via the Debt Management Office or invested in government 
treasury bills for example, or with other local authorities.  This will cause a reduction in 
the level of investment income earned, but will protect the principal sum invested.

Investment Limits

The Council holds general revenue reserves which would be available to cover 
investment losses.  However, in order to limit this risk, in the case of a single default, the 
maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK Government) will 
be £30 million.  A group of banks under the same ownership will be treated as a single 
organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be placed on fund managers, 
investments in brokers’ nominee accounts, foreign countries and industry sectors as 
below. Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count 
against the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified over many 
countries.

Table 3: Investment Limits

Cash limit

Any single organisation, except the UK Central Government £30m each
UK Central Government unlimited
Any group of organisations under the same ownership £30m per group
Any group of pooled funds under the same management £50m per manager
Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee account £100m per broker
Foreign countries £30m per country
Registered providers and registered social landlords £40m in total
Unsecured investments with building societies £10m in total
Loans to unrated corporates £30m in total
Money market funds £150m intotal
Real estate investment trusts £30m in total

Treasury Management Indicators

The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks using 
the following indicators.

Security: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by 
monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio.  This is 
calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking the 

Page 80



21

arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated investments are 
assigned a score based on their perceived risk.

Credit risk indicator Target
Minimum average portfolio credit rating AA- / 4

Liquidity: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk 
by monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments within a 
rolling three month period, without additional borrowing.

Liquidity risk indicator Target
Total cash available within 3 months £50m

Interest rate exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to 
interest rate risk.  The upper limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in 
interest rates will be:

Interest rate risk indicator Limit
Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise / fall in 
interest rates £718,000

The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that maturing 
loans and investments will be replaced at current rates.  The Council currently has no 
variable rate loans so capital financing costs on our current loan portfolio are immune 
from interest rate changes.

Maturity structure of borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure 
to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowing will 
be:

Refinancing rate risk indicator Upper limit Lower limit
Under 12 months 25% 0%
12 months and within 24 months 25% 0%
24 months and within 5 years 50% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 100% 0%
10 years and above 100% 0%

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of borrowing 
is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. 

Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year: The purpose of this 
indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking 
early repayment of its investments.  This risk needs to be weighed up against the higher 
yields available from longer term investments.  The limits on the long-term principal sum 
invested to final maturities beyond the period end will be:

Page 81



22

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

200.000 200.000 200.000
Upper Limit for total principal sums 
invested over 364 days 200.000

Non Treasury Investment Strategy

The Council invests its money for three broad purposes:

 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for example 
when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as treasury 
management investments),

 to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other 
organisations (service investments), and

 to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where this is the 
main purpose).

This section of the report is concerned with meeting the requirements of statutory 
guidance issued by the government in January 2018, and focuses on the second and 
third of these categories, service and commercial investments. 

Service Investments: Loans

The Council can lend money to support local public services and stimulate local 
economic growth.  The Council has made a £100,000 investment in the Funding Circle 
platform, designed to support local businesses and economic growth within 
Gloucestershire.  

The main risk when making service loans is that the borrower will be unable to repay 
the principal lent and / or the interest due where charged.  Within the Funding Circle 
Platform a loss allowance is reported monthly, and income is shown net of this.  Due to 
the nature of the investment and in order to limit this risk, a maximum loan size of 
£2,500 per business has been set.  

Where loans are made for service purposes accounting standards require the Council to 
set aside loss allowance for loans, reflecting the likelihood of non-payment. Following 
changes to Accounting Standards the figures for loans in the Council’s statement of 
accounts from 2018/19 onwards will be shown net of this loss allowance, where 
material.  Within the Funding Circle Platform there is a rigorous credit control 
arrangement in place and if losses do occur there is a comprehensive loss collection 
arrangement designed to make every reasonable effort to collect the full sum lent.

Before entering into lending via the Funding Circle Platform extensive research was 
carried out, including liaising with our Treasury Management Advisors and extensive 
discussions with Funding Circle to assess the controls in place around the credit 
checking of businesses entering into arrangements on the platform. 

Page 82



23

Service Investments: Shares

The Council holds shares costing £1 in Ubico Ltd. The fair value of the council’s interest 
in the company at 31st March 2018 is considered to be nil, since it is a wholly local 
authority owned not-for-profit ‘Teckal’ company.  As a ‘Teckal’ company it is treated as if 
it were an in house department and the shareholder councils are able to enter into 
service contracts with the company without undertaking an EU compliant procurement 
process.

Commercial Investments: Property

The Council has not invested in Commercial Property to date.  Should the Council 
invest in property and in accordance with government guidance, the Council considers a 
property investment to be secure if its accounting valuation is at or higher than its 
purchase cost including taxes and transaction costs.

The Council will assess the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding property 
investments by producing a comprehensive business plan and monitoring performance 
on an ongoing basis.

Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees

Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money has exchanged hands 
yet, loan commitments and financial guarantees carry similar risks to the Council and 
are included here for completeness. 

The Council has guaranteed to cover the liabilities associated with the pensions of ex-
employees following the transfers of council services to external bodies.  These 
arrangements are monitored and assessed to ensure that any provision for possible 
liabilities are made.  For the 2017/18 Statement of Accounts the costs associated with a 
potential default were not considered to be material.  This position will be reviewed and 
updated annually.  

Capacity, Skills and Culture

The Council provides training from our Treasury Management Advisors to members of 
the Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis, to ensure that they are fully 
aware of the investments included in the Treasury Management Strategy and 
Investment Strategy.  This training will be extended from 2019/20 to cover the new 
requirements of the Capital Strategy and the non Treasury Management investments.  
This ensures that members can take informed decisions on the investments being 
included in the strategies, and have the opportunity to challenge their use to ensure that 
they fully understand the implications of the investment.
Where commercial deals are to be negotiated, Finance will be involved to ensure that 
the core principles of the prudential framework and of the regulatory regime within which 
local authorities operate is taken into account.

Page 83



24

Investment Indicators
The Council has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members and 
the public to assess the Council’s total risk exposure as a result of its investment 
decisions. 

The first indicator shows the Council’s total exposure to potential investment losses. 
This includes amounts the Council is contractually committed to lend but have yet to be 
drawn down, and guarantees the Council has issued over third party loans, if any.  It 
assumes that balances for treasury investments reduce as reserves reduce.

Table 1: Total investment exposure 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Actual Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m
Treasury management investments 295.2 275.8 207.4
Service investments: Loans 0.1 0.1 0.1
Commercial investments: Property 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Exposure 295.3 275.9 207.5

Total investment exposure

Government guidance is that these indicators should include how investments are 
funded.  The table below shows the position for the Council.  This illustrates that from 
2018/19 the Council’s does not expect to hold any investments funded by borrowing. It 
means that usable capital receipts plus its working capital are expected to exceed total 
investments from 2018/19 onwards which is indicative of the Council’s use of internal 
borrowing to fund part of the capital programme.  

Table 2: Investments funded by borrowing 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Actual Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m
Treasury management investments 8.7 -3.5 -20.4
Commercial investments: Property 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Funded by Borrowing 8.7 -3.5 -20.4

Investments funded by borrowing

Rate of return received: This indicator shows the investment income received less the 
associated costs, including the cost of borrowing where appropriate, as a proportion of 
the sum initially invested. Note that due to the complex local government accounting 
framework, not all recorded gains and losses affect the revenue account in the year 
they are incurred.  Where a negative return is shown, this has occurred as costs are 
greater than investment income received.

Page 84



25

Table 3: Investment rate of return (net of all costs)

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Actual Estimate Estimate

% % %
Treasury management investments 1.18 1.81 2.41
Service investments: Loans 4.90 5.10 5.10

Investments net rate of return

Other items

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to include the following in its treasury 
management strategy.

Financial Derivatives 

Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into loans 
and investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward 
deals) and to reduce costs or increase income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. 
LOBO loans and callable deposits).  The general power of competence in Section 1 of 
the Localism Act 2011 removes much of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of 
standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are not embedded into a loan or 
investment). The CIPFA Code requires authorities to clearly detail their policy on the 
use of derivatives in the annual strategy.

The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, 
futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level 
of the financial risks that the Council is exposed to.  Additional risks presented, such as 
credit exposure to derivative counterparties, will be taken into account when 
determining the overall level of risk.  Embedded derivatives, including those present in 
pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not be subject to this policy, 
although the risks they present will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk 
management strategy.

Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets the 
approved investment criteria. The current value of any amount due from a derivative 
counterparty will count against the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign 
country limit.

The Council will only use derivatives after seeking expertise, a legal opinion and 
ensuring officers have the appropriate training for their use.  There are no derivatives 
currently in use.  

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive

The Council has opted up to professional client status with its providers of financial 
services, including advisers, banks, brokers and fund managers, allowing it access to a 
greater range of services but without the greater regulatory protections afforded to 
individuals and small companies. Given the size and range of the Council’s treasury 
management activities, this is the most appropriate status and in line with the advise 
from our treasury management advisors, Arlingclose.

Page 85



26

2019/20 Minimum Revenue Provision Statement

The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) was introduced when the Local Government 
Capital Finance System was changed on 1 April 1990.  Government Guidance on MRP 
places a duty on local authorities to make a prudent provision for debt redemption.  
Guidance has been issued by the Secretary of State and local authorities are required 
to “have regard” to such Guidance under section 21(1A) of the Local Government Act 
2003.  The MRP Statement must be submitted to Council before the start of the 
financial year.  If it is ever proposed to vary the terms of the original MRP Statement 
during the year, a revised statement would be put to Council at that time.

In line with Council policy on the repayment of debt, and with the continuation of capital 
grants by government, the Council has not borrowed externally to fund the capital 
programme over the last 8 years.  Opportunities are now limited for the repayment of 
debt early due to the low interest rate environment, meaning that high premiums would 
need to be paid should the Council wish to restructure or repay external debt early.  
Maturing debt will continue to be redeemed over the next few years, and where 
opportunities present to repay internal borrowing, this will be by way of a voluntary 
revenue provision.

In order to ensure that the MRP charge remains prudent, the Council regularly reviews it 
Capital Financing Requirement.  To reduce the amount of excess MRP set aside, the 
Council changed its policy for supported capital expenditure in 2015/16. The method 
used is similar to other local authorities and sets aside a fixed sum of MRP each year. 
For Gloucestershire the fixed sum was set at £8.2m. 

Following further review of the Capital Financing Requirement and the Prudential 
Indicators, and discussions with the Council’s treasury advisors (Arlingclose) and 
external auditor (Grant Thornton) the MRP charge was furthr reduced during 2017/18 
for existing debt to £6.2 million.  This change still allows for a prudent provision for the 
repayment of existing debt, and ensures that Prudential Indicators are not breeched.

The asset life of capital assets obtained through the capital programme  will form the 
basis of calculating an annual MRP provision  for any new borrowing requirement going 
forward.  For any commercial related investments a business case review will be carried 
out and an appropriate provision for the repayment of any debt taken, set aside.

MRP in respect of PFI and finance leases brought on Balance Sheet under the IFRS-
based Code of Practice will match the annual principal repayment for the associated 
deferred liability. 

 

Page 86



27

Appendix   A 

Arlingclose’s Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Average
Official Bank Rate
Upside risk 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.17
Arlingclose Central Case 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.13
Downside risk 0.00 -0.50 -0.75 -0.75 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -0.85

3-mth money market rate
Upside risk 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.17
Arlingclose Central Case 0.90 0.95 1.10 1.30 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.27
Downside risk -0.20 -0.45 -0.60 -0.80 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.76

1-yr money market rate
Upside risk 0.20 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.33
Arlingclose Central Case 1.15 1.25 1.35 1.50 1.70 1.60 1.50 1.40 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.40
Downside risk -0.35 -0.50 -0.60 -0.80 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.85 -0.77

5-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 1.15 1.25 1.35 1.50 1.50 1.40 1.35 1.35 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.33
Downside risk -0.50 -0.60 -0.65 -0.80 -0.80 -0.70 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.66

10-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 1.50 1.65 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.75 1.75 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70
Downside risk -0.55 -0.70 -0.70 -0.80 -0.80 -0.75 -0.75 -0.70 -0.70 -0.70 -0.70 -0.70 -0.70 -0.71

20-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 2.00 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.18
Downside risk -0.60 -0.70 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.73

50-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 1.90 1.95 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.99
Downside risk -0.60 -0.70 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.73

PWLB Certainty Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 0.80%
PWLB Infrastructure Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 0.60%

Underlying Assumptions:

 Arlingclose central interest rate forecasts are predicated on there being a transitionary 
period following the UK’s official exit from the EU. 

 The MPC has a bias towards tighter monetary policy but is reluctant to push interest 
rate expectations too strongly. We believe that MPC members consider that: 1) tight 
labour markets will prompt inflationary pressure in the future, 2) ultra-low interest rates 
result in other economic problems, and 3) higher Bank Rate will be a more effective 
policy weapon if downside risks to growth crystallise.

 Both our projected outlook and the increase in the magnitude of political and economic 
risks facing the UK economy means we maintain the significant downside risks to our 
forecasts, despite the potential for slightly stronger growth next year as business 
investment rebounds should the EU Withdrawal Agreement be approved. The potential 
for severe economic outcomes has increased following the poor reception of the 
Withdrawal Agreement by MPs. We expect the Bank of England to hold at or reduce 
interest rates from current levels if Brexit risks materialise.

 The UK economic environment is relatively soft, despite seemingly strong labour 
market data. GDP growth recovered somewhat in the middle quarters of 2018, but 
more recent data suggests the economy slowed markedly in Q4. Our view is that the 
UK economy still faces a challenging outlook as the country exits the European Union 
and Eurozone economic growth softens.

Page 87



28

 Cost pressures are easing but inflation is forecast to remain above the Bank’s 2% 
target through most of the forecast period. Lower oil prices have reduced inflationary 
pressure, but the tight labour market and decline in the value of sterling means inflation 
may remain above target for longer than expected. 

 Global economic growth is slowing. Despite slower growth, the European Central Bank 
is conditioning markets for the end of QE, the timing of the first rate hike (2019) and 
their path thereafter. More recent US data has placed pressure on the Federal Reserve 
to reduce the pace of monetary tightening – previous hikes and heightened 
expectations will, however, slow economic growth. 

 Central bank actions and geopolitical risks have and will continue to produce significant 
volatility in financial markets, including bond markets. 

Forecast: 
 The MPC has maintained expectations of a slow rise in interest rates over the forecast 

horizon, but recent events around Brexit have dampened interest rate expectations. 
Our central case is for Bank Rate to rise twice in 2019, after the UK exits the EU. The 
risks are weighted to the downside.

 Gilt yields have remained at low levels. We expect some upward movement from 
current levels based on our central case that the UK will enter a transitionary period 
following its EU exit in March 2019. However, our projected weak economic outlook 
and volatility arising from both economic and political events will continue to offer 
borrowing opportunities.

Page 88



Appendix B 

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD

Portfolio 
14 Nov 
2018

Average 
Rate

31-Mar-19 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-21 31-Mar-22

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m % £m £m £m £m

External Borrowing
Fixed Rate – PWLB 244.463 5.17 236.599 228.736 220.773 210.828
Fixed Rate – Market 33.050 4.23 33.050 33.050 33.050 33.050
Variable Rate – PWLB 0.000 0.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Variable Rate – Market 8.000 5.00 8.000 8.000 8.000 8.000
Total External Borrowings 285.513 5.05 277.649 269.786 261.823 251.878
Other long-term liabilities (PFI) 19.825 19.138 604.391 553.837 537.621
Total External Debt 305.338 296.787 874.177 815.660 789.499
Investments:
Managed in house

- Short term deposits and monies 
on call and Money Market Funds 201.479 1.05 153.900 85.535 69.342 52.899

- Long Term investments (over 12 
months)

66.930 1.40 66.930 66.930 66.930 66.930

Managed externally 55.000 1.81 55.000 55.000 55.000 55.000
Total Investments 323.409 1.55 275.830 207.465 191.272 174.829

Net  (Borrowing) / Investment 
Position 18.071 (20.957) (666.712) (624.388) (614.670)

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 25th January 2019 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Annual Governance Statement 2017/18
Governance Issues – Progress with Improvement Plan (including 
GFRS investigation action plan)

Purpose of Report: The purpose of this report is to provide assurance to the Audit and 
Governance Committee that the improvement areas and associated 
actions identified as part of the annual review of governance 
arrangements operating within GCC have been/are being addressed. 

Recommendation: It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee reviews 
and considers the actions taken to address the governance 
improvement areas identified.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance, Area Finance Team 
and Insurance Services. Tel: 01452 328883
Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker: Interim Director: Strategic Finance.  Tel: 01452 328999
Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective corporate governance framework 
prevents the Council in directing and controlling its resources effectively 
and efficiently, to enable the Council’s priorities and objectives to be 
met.

Background The Council is required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 to 
publish an Annual Governance Statement, in accordance with ‘proper 
practices’ in order to report publicly on the extent to which we comply 
with our own Local Code of Corporate Governance. 

This approach includes how the Council has monitored the 
effectiveness of arrangements in year and on any planned changes to 
governance arrangements in the coming year. 

Through the Council’s Constitution, the Audit and Governance 
Committee has responsibility for review and approval of the Statement 
and to be provided with the assurance that any improvement actions 
identified are implemented.

Page 91

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Progress on 2017/18 Gloucestershire County Council’s Governance Improvement Actions 

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2018

Financial 

Governance

Future Financial Sustainability 

The Council identified savings of £29.3m as part of the 

2018/2019 budget setting process. Delivery of this level 

of savings will be challenging for the Council.

A contingency has been set aside in case this is not 

fully delivered in 2018/2019, although the Council 

recognises this is not a long term solution.

Actions: To continue to review the arrangements for 

updating, agreeing and monitoring the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy. Specifically focusing on the 

robustness of the financial planning assumptions and 

arrangements for ensuring the financial projections 

including future savings are realistic and achievable.

31st March 2019

Chief Financial 

Officer

The Council has a robust process for monitoring budgets 

and the achievement of savings. This is undertaken 

monthly and the results reported to every Cabinet. The 

MTFS is updated annually and as part of this annual 

review all financial planning assumptions are challenged. 

In order to ensure the achievement of the savings targets 

within Adults an Adults Single Programme Board has 

been established. This meets fortnightly to review 

progress and take action as required.

The Finance Monitoring Report presented to Cabinet in 

December 2018 reported that the council was on track to 

achieve 98% of the savings planned for 2018/19. By the 

half way point in the year 55% of the savings had been 

achieved. 

P
age 93



2

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2018

Safeguarding

Inspection

Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Services: 

The Council is being monitored by Ofsted as part of an 

ongoing improvement plan after an inspection during 

2017 rated children’s social care as inadequate. The 

Improvement Plan is overseen by the Improvement 

Board comprising of the Leader of the Council, Chief 

Executive, partner agencies and key officers. The 

Board is chaired by a Department of Education 

Improvement Adviser. The structure of the Improvement 

Board is under review and will be reconfigured by July 

2018. The Council has appointed a new permanent 

Director of Children’s Services, who took up this role on 

5th March 2018.

Since the Ofsted report was published in May 2017 the 

Council has:

 Recruited additional experienced social workers 

to reduce caseloads;

Director of 

Children’s Services

Ofsted are due to 

return to 

Gloucestershire for 

our fifth monitoring 

visit on the 15th 

and 16th of 

January 2019. 

This will give a 

further indication of 

the improvements 

made since the last 

visit.

The Ofsted Improvement Plan has been refreshed in 

December 2018. The targets within the original plan have 

been reviewed and where those targets have not been 

fully achieved they have been incorporated into the 

refreshed plan. 

The purpose of the ambitious refreshed plan is to get 

Gloucestershire to the point where the service is 

considered a “good” service, rather than just to the point 

where the service reaches the point of “requires further 

improvement to be good”. 

The plan takes the services well beyond emergence from 

intervention. The most recent Ofsted monitoring visit 

happened on the 2nd and 3rd October 2018 and follow 

up letter suggests that while there is still much to do 

Gloucestershire is a service which knows itself well and 

we have a good sense of our strengths and weaknesses 

and where those weaknesses are evident, there are 

robust plans in place to improve the service further. 

P
age 94



3

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2018

 Invested in better technology to reduce the time 

frontline staff spend on paperwork;

 Improved the way it monitors quality and 

performance; and

 Opened a new public reception for social care 

and a ‘front door’ for professionals contacting 

the service.

Work on the above is ongoing.

Actions: Ofsted visits on the 16th / 17th January 2018 

and 15th / 16th May 2018 noted improvements made, 

however challenges remain. The Council continues to 

work with the Department for Education and Ofsted to 

improve children’s social care services in 

Gloucestershire. Children’s Services is about to enter 

the Partners in Practice Programme with Essex County 

Council. 

The biggest challenge to our improvement journey 

remains the stabilisation of our workforce which is still 

characterised by significant churn in some parts of the 

service, particularly at the front end of the business.

However, the Senior Leadership Team is now entirely 

constituted of permanent employees with significant 

experience and the layer of Heads of Service is now 

stable with permanent and long serving agency 

managers. First line Team Managers are also 

approaching a more stable position with approximately 

75% of managers employed permanently. The improving 

situation with regard to management will create a 

situation where frontline social workers will feel better 

supported and therefore more likely to remain with us. 

Once frontline workers are provided with clear and 

consistent expectations, support and challenge then the 

consequent improvement in practice will accelerate 

further and build on those improvements already 

secured.

P
age 95



4

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2018

Director’s 

Assurance 

Statements

Contracting / Commissioning Care Services 

The fragility of the provider market continues to be an 

ongoing concern and risk. By utilising the lead provider 

roles within the four rural home care frameworks and 

introducing the urban dynamic purchasing systems (for 

Cheltenham and Gloucester), the Council has 

increased both capacity and competition within the 

independent home care market. 

Over the last 12 months there has been a number of 

successful trials of different ways of working with lead 

providers, such as the Hospital to Home (supported 

hospital discharge service), guaranteed hours in hard to 

reach areas, we have seen the number of care 

packages being sourced, across health and social care, 

including end of life, reduced from in excess of 230 to 

70 at any one point in time. The Hospital to Home 

service has seen over 300 people supported home over 

the winter period from hospital, with only 7.5% of those, 

requiring ongoing social care support. 

Director of Adult 

Services 

Please see dates 

within Actions

December 18 Position - Overview:

Whilst the situation with regards to the provision of 

Health and Social Care sector provision continues to be 

both fragile and volatile on a national level, within 

Gloucestershire we have managed to work with our local 

providers in a proactive and positive manner.

Indeed we are a national exemplar with regards to a 

significant programme of work focused as securing an 

increase in the workforce available within our system.

December 18 Position - Emergency Night Cover:  

The emergency night cover linked to rapid response 

though diverting a number of hospital admissions. This 

service was slow to start as the frequency and number of 

referrals was lower than expected. 

P
age 96



5

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2018

The hard to reach pilot has seen a reduction in people 

waiting for packages from c50 to less than 5, waiting 

just 4 days for their care to start, down from over 24 

days. 

Actions: A number of further initiatives are underway 

supporting emergency night cover (commenced April 

2018), end of life support (to commence July/August 

2018) and a bridging service (to commence June/July 

2018) (i.e. existing care not being able to recommence 

for a number of days), reducing the need for the health 

and social care system to utilise short term bed based 

capacity.

There is a review of the home care framework 

underway to address both provider and operational 

concerns, which will re-engage providers who are 

currently choosing not to work with us, strengthening 

capacity and resilience still further.

We have therefore utilised additional capacity from this 

service to support the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 

Service (GFRS) First Responder Service, providing the 

ability for GFRS to access personal care should the 

situation warrant this thereby increasing the potential 

diversions away from hospital admissions.

December 18 Position - Bridging Service:  

The bridging service was launched slightly later than 

anticipated but is now being actively used to support 

those Service User’s (SU’s) waiting for Home Care or 

Reablement at Home. The start date for the service was 

delayed due to provider failure impacting on Cheltenham, 

the Bridging service and H2H capacity were utilised to 

manage the impact of a small company going into 

administration. 

P
age 97



6

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2018

Demonstrating whether the service has had an impact on 

the use of short-term bed based capacity will need to be 

looked at in relation to the increased demand for health 

and social care services experienced throughout the 

2018/19 financial year as the impact of a wold winter and 

an excessively hot summer greatly increased demand.

December 18 Position - Review of the Home Care 
Framework:  

The review of the home care framework has been 

aligned to the wider review community-based provision 

and the need to utilise capacity in a less segregated 

manner. In June the individual commissioning function 

for Disabilities was moved into integrated Brokerage 

which triggered a conversation around the need to widen 

the review of the home care framework. The work 

programme now includes alignment of the OP and 

Disabilities contracts as the first stage of the review.

P
age 98



7

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2018

December 18 Position - Care Home Market:  

The Home Care provider market continues to be 

resistant to the idea of payment on actuals and capacity 

in the market continues to be stretched. 

The increased demands made on Health & Social care 

provision over the 2018/19 year meant that any 

additional capacity achieved through the projects listed 

above was accessed to meet system pressure demands 

rather than being allocated in a way that achieved a test 

and learn environment to facilitate planning for market 

shaping. 

This wider piece of work has now been scoped and will 

be included in the Care at Home strategy.

P
age 99



8

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2018

Revised 

CIPFA Audit 

Committees: 

Practical 

Guidance for 

Local 

Authorities 

and Police 

(2018 

Edition)

CIPFA Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for 
Local Authorities and Police (2018 Edition)

Audit Committees are a key component of corporate 

governance. They provide a high-level focus on 

assurance and the Council’s arrangements for 

governance, managing risk, maintaining an effective 

control environment, and reporting on financial and 

non-financial performance. 

This revised edition updates the core functions of the 

audit committee in relation to governance, risk 

management, internal control and audit. This includes 

new legislation affecting audit committees in combined 

authorities and updates to regulations and statutory 

guidance. The updates to the Public Sector Internal 

Audit Standards and Delivering Good Governance in 

Local Government: Framework and associated 

guidance are also considered for their impact on the 

work of the audit committee. 

31st March 2019

Chief Internal 

Auditor (CIA)

The CIPFA guidance was formally published on 22nd May 

2018.

The evaluation of the Council’s Audit and Governance 

Committee against the revised guidance is currently in 

progress and recommendations for improvement will be 

made where necessary. 

The self assessment will be finalised in full consultation 

with all key stakeholders. 

The Audit and Governance Committee will formally 

present the key outcomes of the evaluation in their 

Annual Report to Council, initially to the Committee on 

25th April 2019 and to full Council in May 2019.

P
age 100



9

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2018

There are significant changes to the core functions of 

the committee in relation to external audit, reflecting the 

new arrangements for auditor appointment and new 

guidance on ethical standards for auditors issued by the 

Financial Reporting Council. Both developments require 

greater attention to be given to this important area.

The audit committee role in relation to counter-fraud 

has also been updated to reflect the Code of Practice 

on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption. The 

guidance continues to include a strong focus on the 

factors that support improvement. These include the 

knowledge and skills that audit committee members 

require and a focus on where the audit committee adds 

value.

Action: The CIA will review the guidance and provide 

support to the Audit and Governance Committee to 

evaluate the Committee against the guidance, making 

recommendations for improvement where necessary. 

P
age 101



10

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2018

Corporate 

Governance

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS)

Actions: Since the signing of the 2017/18 Annual 

Governance Statement a whistleblowing allegation 

covering probity issues in Fire has been received by the 

council. This has resulted in an investigation by Internal 

Audit, which is on-going. On completion of this 

investigation Internal Audit will report to management 

outlining recommendations, which will form the basis of 

an action plan.

This action plan and progress against it will be 

overseen by the Audit and Governance Committee, 

thereby providing the relevant assurances that these 

recommendations are being addressed in a timely 

manner.

31st September 

2018

Chief Executive

The Independent Internal Audit Investigation 

(Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) report 

and associated action plan was presented to the Audit 

and Governance Committee (AGC) on 12th October 

2018. 

Progress against each action is presented by each action 

owner to the AGC to provide the relevant assurances 

that these recommendations are being addressed in a 

timely manner. 

The action owners will continue to report on the actions 

to the AGC until all actions have been fully completed to 

the satisfaction of the AGC.

The first progress report will be presented to the AGC on 

25th January 2019.

P
age 102



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

1 

 

Action Plan to address the internal audit recommendations made in relation to the independent investigation 
of the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS)  

Progress as at December 2018 
 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
1 GFRS Culture 

Due to the number of whistleblowing allegations raised 

around culture within GFRS it is recommended that: 

 The current culture within the GFRS is reviewed to 

enable the understanding of leadership and 

employee behaviours, attitudes and beliefs; 

 This could be achieved by building upon and 

rejuvenating the outcomes of the Cultural Review 

of the service undertaken during 2016 and 

exploring options from bringing the findings up to 

date alongside the results of the 2018 Employee 

Engagement Survey; and 

 This needs to consider a wide range of concerns 

expressed, including confidence in leadership; 

ability to challenge; and progression within the 

service.  

 

A new Chief Fire Officer (CFO) 

Wayne Bowcock has been 

appointed and is due to start in 

March 2019. Recruiting the right 

leader is a critical step in setting 

the right culture. 

The Scrutiny Task Group has 

held hearing sessions taking 

evidence from John Bonney, the 

independent adviser who 

undertook the earlier cultural 

review, the lead Cabinet member 

and acting CFO, as well as other 

officers, to gain greater 

understanding of the culture, the 

activities undertaken to date 

within GFRS and to consider 

early recommendations and what 

actions are needed going forward. 

 

N/A 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty and 

Head of HR and 

OD - Mandy 

Quayle 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC.  

 

P
age 103



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

2 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
The Task Group are aiming to 

report in February at which point 

the new CFO will be in place and 

will work with Jon McGinty and 

Mandy Quayle to develop a 

structured plan to implement the 

recommendations. 

In the meantime senior officers in 

the Fire Service, supported by 

HR, are taking a number of 

actions to listen to managers and 

teams, to improve communication 

and enable a culture of open 

dialogue. 

2 Training 

To ensure that GFRS staff are made aware of the 

Council’s Contract Standing Orders, Financial 

Regulations and Accounting Instructions, the provision 

of relevant (including financial management training) is 

provided.  

Consideration should also be given to introducing a 

county wide training programme that is not just 

restricted to GFRS which includes periodic refresher 

training. 

 

A training programme has been 

delivered by Strategic Finance 

and Commercial Team to GFRS 

staff on 21st September and 13th 

November 2019. The training 

programme has also provided the 

opportunity to transfer knowledge, 

and encourage future 

collaborative working. 

 

 

N/A 

 

Interim Chief 

Financial Officer 

(S151) Paul 

Blacker 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 104



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

3 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
 Finance and Commercial teams 

attended Support Services 

management team to deliver a 

similar training programme, with 

further sessions being arranged 

for the remaining service areas 

management teams, to be 

concluded by the end of April 

2019.  

All budget managers and holders 

provided with financial 

management training before 

given SAP access. 

Annual refresher training 

programme will be provided. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 105



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

4 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 

Internal Audit Reviews - GFRS 

3 Governance (GFRS) 

To review the governance structure and arrangements 

that are currently in place within GFRS and in particular: 

 Roles, responsibilities and accountabilities of 

members/senior managers in GCC and GFRS and 

the inter-relationship between the two (including 

the key support services relationships, e.g. 

Finance and HR to ensure compliance with GCC’s 

Constitution); 

 Governance assurance frameworks, e.g. Annual 

Governance Statements (AGS) and Her Majesty’s 

Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 

Services (HMICFRS) inspection framework; 

 GCC’s Constitution - decision-making powers and 

schemes of delegation in relation to both 

operational and corporate decisions; and 

 Code of Conduct - Register of Interests and Gifts 

and Hospitality. 

 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been produced 

by IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director: 

Communities and Infrastructure – 

Nigel Riglar and the 

Commissioning Director – Jon 

McGinty 

 

 

Governance Position 

Statement and 

Action Plan covering 

the first three bullet 

points finalised.  

Please refer to 

Attachment 1 to this 

report. 

 

 

 

 

 

Compliance testing 

is currently in 

progress. 

Complete by 31st 

March 2019. 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 106



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

5 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
4 Fleet Management 

a) Disposal of vehicles 

To review the effectiveness of the governance 

arrangements, including the decision making 

processes, for the disposal and/or transfer of the 

GFRS’s surplus vehicles, seeking advice from GCC as 

necessary. 

 b) Commissioning of new vehicles 

To establish whether the purchases have been 

procured in accordance with GCC policies and Contract 

Standing Orders.  

 

 

 c) Fleet maintenance and stores stock control 

To ascertain the adequacy of the fleet maintenance 

and stores stock control systems. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been agreed 

with the Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty. 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been agreed 

with the Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty. 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been agreed 

with the Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Compliance testing 

is currently in 

progress. 

Complete by 31st 

March 2019. 

 

Compliance testing 

is currently in 

progress. 

Complete by 31st 

March 2019. 

 

Compliance testing 

is currently in 

progress. 

Complete by 31st 

March 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director 

Jon McGinty 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director 

Jon McGinty 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Commissioning 

Director 

Jon McGinty 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

 
 

 
Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

 
 
 
 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

 
 

 

 
 

P
age 107



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

6 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
 

 d) Use of pool cars, personal and leased cars and 

fuel schemes 

To ensure compliance with the relevant terms and 

conditions e.g. Gold Book/Grey Book (GFRS specific 

terms and conditions), HMRC regulations and 

GFRS/GCC policies, in the context of best practice 

within the fire sector.  

This will include: 

 Reviewing the use of fuel cards, bunker fuel and 

reimbursement schemes; and 

 Establish the adequacy of the systems for 

recording of private and official business mileage in 

line with the above regulations and Council 

policies. 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review will be agreed with 

the Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty. 

 

 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 4 

2018/2019.  

 

 

 

 

 
Commissioning 

Director 

Jon McGinty 
 

 
 
 
Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

 

P
age 108



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

7 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
5 HR and Payroll 

To evaluate the effectiveness of the control procedures 

in place to ensure that all staff payments are 

appropriately authorised i.e. starters, movers, leavers 

and retained firefighters are paid the correct amounts, 

any variations to pay details are authorised and 

actioned correctly and in a timely manner (e.g. 

overtime, annual increments, re-grading, changes in 

hours worked, service benefits), and salary payments 

for leavers cease at the right time and in compliance 

with the relevant policies including Accounting 

Instruction No.13 (Payroll Procedures), and the relevant 

GFRS Terms and Conditions e.g. Gold Book. 

a) Recruitment, Progression and Retirement 

Ensure the recruitment, progression and retirement 

(pensions) processes within GFRS are in compliance 

with the Council/GFRS policies and procedures.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of the Recruitment and 

Progression audits have been 

produced by IA and agreed with 

the Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Head of HR and OD 

– Mandy Quayle. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Compliance testing 

is currently in 

progress for the 

Recruitment and 

Progression audits. 

Compliance testing 

for the Retirement 

audit will commence 

during Qtr. 4 

2018/2019. 

Complete by 31st 

March 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 109



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

8 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
b) Absence reporting procedures 

To ascertain the GFRS compliance with the Council’s 

sickness, absence and attendance management and 

reporting procedures. 

 

 

c) Expenses and Service Benefits 

To establish compliance with Accounting Instruction 

No.8 (Travelling and Meal Expenditure), GCC policies 

such as Staff Travel Expenses and Use of Vehicles and 

service benefit entitlements (where applicable) such as 

subscriptions to professional bodies, medical, dental, 

optical and clothing expenses. 

 

d) Complaints/Grievances process 

To ascertain the process for receiving and recording 

complaints/grievances raised by staff and to ensure that 

they are dealt with in a consistent, fair and appropriate 

way. 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review will be agreed with 

the Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Head of HR and OD 

– Mandy Quayle. 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review will be agreed with 

the Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review will be produced by 

IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty, Head of HR and OD – 

Mandy Quayle and the Director: 

Strategy and Challenge – Jane 

Burns. 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 4 

2018/2019.  

Complete by 31st 

March 2019 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 4 

2018/2019.  

Complete by 31st 

March 2019 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 4 

2018/2019.  

Complete by 31st 

March 2019 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty  

 

 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director 

Jon McGinty 

 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director 

Jon McGinty 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

 

P
age 110



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

9 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
6 Procurement 

To evaluate the GFRS procurement system in place to 

ensure alignment with EU legislation, and for 

compliance with GCC and local policies and procedures 

(including Accounting Instruction No.1 Ordering, 

Receiving and Payment of Goods and Services, 

Contract Standing Orders and Financial Regulations). 

This audit will include the review of the use of the 

Council’s procurement cards (P Cards) process by 

GFRS staff to ensure that goods and services 

purchased are in compliance with Council policies, 

value for money is achieved and where appropriate 

VAT is reclaimed on purchases made (Accounting 

Instruction No.16 (VAT)). 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been produced 

by IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Head of Commercial 

– Ian Mawdsley. 

 

Compliance testing 

is due to commence 

in January 2019.  

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

7 Capital Programme 

This review will seek to provide assurance that GFRS 

has a robust governance framework in place for 

management of the Capital Programme and is 

compliant with good practice requirements as published 

in CIPFA guidance and Accounting Instruction No.19 

(Capital Programme).  

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review will be produced by 

IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Interim Chief 

Financial Officer – Paul Blacker. 

 

 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 4 

2018/2019.  

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 111



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

10 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
8 Income  (including petty cash) 

The audit will seek to evaluate the effectiveness of the 

income and cash handling procedures; and compliance 

with Financial Regulations, Accounting Instructions 

No.2 (Income), No.3 (Security of Cash) and No.6 (Petty 

Cash Imprest Accounts). 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of this review has been produced 

by IA and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Interim Chief 

Financial Officer – Paul Blacker. 

 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 4 

2018/2019.  

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

9 Budget Setting and Budget Monitoring  

This review will seek to establish the effectiveness of 

the budget setting process and relevant control 

arrangements to provide assurance that an accurate 

and operationally reflective budget is set prior to the 

start of the financial year. 

In addition, the audit will also review the robustness of 

the budget monitoring system to ensure that forecasts 

submitted are accurate and reflect the actual and 

planned spend (Accounting Instruction No.14 (Budget 

Estimates and Monitoring Procedures)). 

 

 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in respect 

of these two reviews has been 

produced by IA and agreed with 

the Commissioning Director - Jon 

McGinty and Interim Chief 

Financial Officer – Paul Blacker. 

 

 

Compliance testing 

is currently in 

progress. 

Complete by 31st 

March 2019. 

 

 

Commissioning 

Director - Jon 

McGinty 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 112



010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation Action Plan  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

11 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead 
Officer(s) 

Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 

Internal Audit Reviews – Council wide 

10 Council Wide Compliance Reviews 

In addition to the above, during the next 18 months, IA 

to undertaken ‘pure compliance’ audits across the 

whole Council. These audits will review compliance with 

the Council’s key corporate policies (financial and non 

financial). 

 

 

 

Discussion at the July 2018 

AGC supported the approach 

of considering Council wide 

compliance audits in the 

event of any learning points 

arising from the GFRS 

reviews, together with any re-

prioritisation of the 2018/19 

Internal Audit plan as 

required. 

 

In addition, internal 

audit activities to be 

developed as part of 

the risk based 

internal audit 

planning process 

2019/20. 

 

Interim Chief 

Financial Officer 

(S151) Paul Blacker 

 

Risk Based 

Internal Audit 

Plan to be 

presented to the 

AGC in April 

2019. Outcomes 

of audit activity 

presented to AGC 

as part of the 

quarterly Internal 

Audit progress 

reports during 

2019/20. 

11 Governance Assurance Statements 

To test the adequacy of the 2018/19 Directors and 

Heads of Service Governance Assurance Statements.  

 

Discussion at the July 2018 

AGC resulted in a request 

that IA undertake a review of 

the adequacy of the 2018/19 

Directors and Heads of 

Service Governance 

Assurance Statements.  

 

This audit activity to 

be incorporated into 

Quarter 1 of the 

2019/20 Internal 

Audit Plan. 

 

Interim Chief 

Financial Officer 

(S151) Paul Blacker  

 

Outcomes to be 

presented to the 

AGC as part of 

the quarterly 

internal audit 

progress reports 

during 2019/20. 

 

P
age 113



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service – Governance 

Position Statement 
10th January 2019 

Thirza Hampshire – Principal Auditor 
Gill Lodge – Senior Auditor 

Ben Green – Trainee Auditor 

 

Page 115



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

Distribution 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contents 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response ............................................................... 9 

 

 
Important 

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 
 

 The information contained within this audit report is confidential and personal data herein 
is subject to data protection legislation. 
 

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 
and those officers and Members named on the distribution list.  Its contents, either in part or in 
its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 
without the written permission of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 
 
Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 
arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

To:  Jon McGinty – Managing Director/Commissioning Director 
Andy Hermiston – Acting Chief Fire Officer 
 

Copied to: Pete Bungard – Chief Executive 
Paul Blacker – Interim S151 Officer 
Jane Burns – Monitoring Officer  
Mandy Quayle – Head of Human Resources and Operational 
Development 

Page 116



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

1 

 

Executive Summary 
 

Introduction 
 
On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council.  There 
were three strands to the complaint, one concerned the sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the Chief Fire Officer’s (CFO) involvement in the 
process.  The other two concerns were regarding staffing issues.  It was agreed that Internal 
Audit (IA) would investigate the sale of the vehicle and Human Resources (HR) would review 
the remaining two concerns, which are included within the management review of culture. 
 
Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom 
of Information requests in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS governance 
arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received.  As a result, following IA 
review, research, analysis and interviews with key stakeholders including relevant GFRS 
Officers, IA co-ordinated the findings and made a number of GFRS-specific and council-
wide/cross-cutting recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within each area to 
determine the level of risk.  These reviews/audits are outlined in the Action Plan presented to 
the Audit and Governance Committee on 12th October 2018.  Progress updates against each 
review/audit included within the Action Plan will be provided to the Audit and Governance 
Committee. 
 
This report provides a position statement on the current governance arrangements operating 
within GFRS and Gloucestershire County Council (GCC).  Detailed testing against these 
arrangements will be undertaken as part of the reviews/audits outlined in the Action Plan. 
 

Audit Scope 
 
This audit focused on the governance structure and arrangements that are currently in place 
within GFRS and GCC in particular: 
 

 Roles, responsibilities and accountabilities of members/senior managers in GCC and 
GFRS and the inter-relationship between the two (including the key support services 
relationships, e.g. Finance and HR) to ensure compliance with GCC’s Constitution; 

 GCC’s Constitution - decision-making powers and schemes of delegation in relation to 
both operational and corporate decisions;  

 Governance frameworks, e.g. the County Council’s Annual Governance Statements and 
the publication of the Statement of Assurance as required by the Fire and Rescue 
National Framework for England; and 

 GFRS readiness for Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 
Services (HMICFRS) inspection during 2019. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

2 

 

Key Findings 
 
Governance arrangements and structure 
 
GCC is the Fire and Rescue Authority for the county of Gloucestershire, as prescribed under the 
Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004.  GFRS sits under the remit of a Lead Cabinet Member 
(reporting to and forming part of Cabinet).  The CFO is appointed by the Fire and Rescue 
Authority and forms an integral part of the Corporate Management Team (CoMT) within GCC, 
thereby enabling GFRS to contribute to the wider Council objectives and priorities. 
 
GFRS is required to adhere to the corporate governance arrangements as set out within GCC’s 
Constitution and The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England which sets out a 
requirement for Fire and Rescue authorities to publish a Statement of Assurance. 
 
Discussions were held with the following member and senior officers in order to gain their 
understanding of these arrangements, their specific roles and responsibilities within GCC’s 
Constitution and to establish the adequacy of the relationship between GCC and GFRS: 
 

 Cabinet Member – Fire, Planning and Infrastructure; 

 Chief Executive (GCC); 

 Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure (GCC); 

 Managing Director/Commissioning Director (GCC); 

 Monitoring Officer (GCC); 

 Head of Legal (GCC); and 

 Acting Chief Fire Officer (A/CFO) (GFRS). 
 
These discussions confirmed the following: 
 

 The CFO reports directly to GCC’s Chief Executive; 

 The role of the CFO is equivalent to an Operations Director; and 

 Previously, GCC’s Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure 
commissioned the CFO to manage the operations within GFRS, although there was no 
direct line management responsibility between the Commissioning Director and the CFO 
as Operations Director.  The Commissioning Director role, due to senior officer changes, 
has recently been transferred to the Managing Director/Commissioning Director - GCC. 

 
Decision-making powers and Scheme of Delegation 
 
Officers’ responsibility for making decisions under delegated powers is set out in the Scheme of 
Delegation within GCC’s Constitution.  Under the Scheme of Delegation the CFO is responsible 
for making executive decisions concerning the management of GFRS operations.  There is also 
a requirement to consult with the relevant Cabinet Member or Chief Executive for all decisions 
with financial implications over £250,000; any decisions for amounts over £500,000 should 
normally only be taken by Cabinet.  The current A/CFO confirmed his understanding of this 
requirement. 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

3 

 

The Constitution’s Scheme of Delegation states that: 
 

 “The Officers named in this scheme shall be deemed to include any other Officer of the 
Council that they authorise in writing to exercise delegated powers on their behalf 
provided: 

o An Officer named in this scheme must maintain a written record of any other 
Officer they have authorised to exercise delegated powers on their behalf and any 
limitation that they have imposed on the extent and duration or other exercise of 
those powers in addition to those specified in this scheme; and 

o A copy of the information specified in the above paragraph must be given to the 
Monitoring Officer before another Officer exercises a power on behalf of a named 
Officer and the Monitoring Officer shall place this information on a register that, in 
accordance with Section 100G of the Local Government Act 1972, will be 
maintained for inspection by the public.” 

 
Under the above delegated authority arrangements, the former CFO had signed authorisations 
that granted 12 senior GFRS officers authority to sign prohibition, alteration and enforcement 
notices in respect of responsibilities under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.  
The authorisations, signed by the former CFO, are held by GCC’s Head of Legal Services on 
behalf of the Monitoring Officer.  At the time of the audit the Head of Legal Services confirmed 
that new authorisations were being prepared in consultation with the A/CFO. 
 
A sample of four GFRS officers, who have been granted the above authority, were contacted by 
email and they confirmed that they were aware of their responsibilities but had not been 
required to sign anything to this effect at the time of the original delegation of authority, or 
subsequently when reviewed annually. 
 
There are no further schemes of delegation for decision-making within GFRS, although there 
are budget holders who have responsibility for defined budget codes.  A Finance Monitoring 
Group comprising GFRS Budget Holders and Budget Managers monitors budget spending.  In 
addition, IA was advised that operational decisions on expenditure of £50,000 and above are to 
be agreed by the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT), however, there is no formal record of this 
requirement or how it has been communicated to existing budget holders.  SLT includes the 
CFO, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, all four Area Managers, two of the 
Group Managers, Strategic Support Officer, GCC’s Assistant Head of HR, Lead Commissioner 
Communities and Infrastructure and any other officers as appropriate (GFRS and GCC). 
 
The authorisation process as described and informed above, will be tested as part of the Budget 
Setting and Budget Monitoring audits that will follow in due course. 
 
Please refer to Recommendation 1 
 
Strategic Policy Development 
 
Senior management at GCC and GFRS and the Lead Cabinet Member confirmed that there is 
an agreed system in place for GFRS policy development, review, approval and implementation.  
Within GFRS this encompasses the Policy Approval Board (comprised of the four Area 
Managers) and the SLT.  Where appropriate, this could also be reported through the 
Communities and Infrastructure Board (CIB – comprising Lead Cabinet Member, 
Commissioning Director, CFO and Deputy CFO), CoMT and Cabinet. 

Page 119



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

4 

 

At this stage it is not yet clear whether this system includes a check to ensure that any GFRS 
policies are appropriately aligned to existing GCC policies.  This will be tested as part of the 
subsequent audits that are due to be undertaken within specific topic areas. 
 
Support Services 
 
Discussions were held with GCC and GFRS operational staff in the following key support 
service areas: 

 Finance; 

 HR; 

 Performance reporting; 

 Risk management; and 

 Communications. 
 
Within GFRS, the CFO leads the regular (usually monthly) SLT meetings.  The agendas, 
minutes and supporting papers for the SLT meetings for 2018 confirmed that the above support 
service areas are discussed, providing the CFO with relevant oversight, enabling challenge and 
dialogue in relation to these matters. 
 
Key contacts between GCC and GFRS operational staff within the support service areas have 
been established and information exchange requirements have been informally agreed.  GCC 
officers did not raise any issues in relation to performance reporting and risk management.  
However, they did highlight issues in relation to the following areas: 
 

 Finance: There are potential capacity issues at finance Business Partner level in terms 
of adequate and appropriate scrutiny of GFRS finances; 

 HR: Ongoing dialogue between GFRS and GCC could be enhanced to allow GCC 
to be better informed about GFRS decisions and operations; and 

 Communications: 
o Not all GFRS staff have a GCC email account, which means that alternative 

arrangements have to be put in place to ensure effective communications.  This 
has been recognised and is currently being addressed.  Interim arrangements are 
in place to ensure that GCC communications are disseminated to all GFRS staff, 
e.g. Talksmart newsletter; 

o Since GFRS has its own intranet (Staff Hub), GCC’s intranet (Staffnet) is not the 
default intranet and therefore is not obviously available to GFRS staff; and 

o GCC launched its corporate values and behaviours framework in May 2018.  Prior 
to this GFRS had developed its own set of core values which are similar to GCC’s 
values.  However, these should now be aligned to those of GCC considering any 
risks in doing so. 

 
Whilst there are links between GFRS and GCC, consideration should be given to significantly 
strengthening and formalising these relationships, to enable effective oversight and challenge, 
which ultimately supports an effective governance assurance framework. This could be in the 
form of the existing Business Partner role, for example, in respect of Finance and HR reporting, 
as well as a line management ‘dotted line’ from the appropriate GFRS officers to the Council’s 
Head of Finance and Head of HR and Organisation Development.  This will support full 
integration of both GCC and GFRS. 
 

Page 120



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

5 

 

Please refer to Recommendations 2, 3 and 4 
Governance frameworks 
 
GCC’s Annual Governance Statement - Assurance Framework 
 
Assurance provides confidence, based on sufficient evidence, that internal controls are in place 
and are operating effectively and that objectives are being achieved.  An assurance framework 
is a structure within which members and senior management identify the principal risks to the 
Council/GFRS meeting its key objectives and through which they map out both the key controls 
to manage them and how they have gained sufficient assurance about the effectiveness of 
those controls.  The assurance framework underpins the statements made within the Council’s 
Annual Governance Statement. 
 
A governance assurance process is in place (which includes GFRS) to provide a framework for 
the annual assessment of the effectiveness of the governance arrangements operating within 
the Council.  This includes relevant Lead Cabinet Member overview and oversight and 
challenge by the Council’s Statutory Officers, i.e. the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer. 
 
In addition, ‘the three lines of defence assurance model’ is in place which helps members and 
senior management to understand where assurances are being obtained from, the level of 
reliance they place on that assurance and identify potential gaps in assurance.  The three lines 
of defence, ensuring effective risk management and control assurance, can come from many 
sources within the Council. 
 
By defining these sources into three categories, i.e. the first line (functions that own and 
manage risks, e.g. management and supervisory controls), the second line (functions that 
oversee risks, e.g. Governance structures and processes such as Audit and Governance 
Committee, Scrutiny Boards) and the third line (functions that provide independent assurance 
on the management of risks, e.g. HMICFRS, Internal/External Audit), helps the Council 
understand how each contributes to the overall level of assurance and how best they can be 
integrated and supported. 
 
The Council’s Annual Governance Statement and assurance framework is consistent with the 
seven core principles of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and 
the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives (SOLACE) guidance ‘Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government framework – 2016 Edition’.  The core principles are: 
 

 Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and 
respecting the rule of law; 

 Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement; 

 Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable, economic, social and environmental benefits; 

 Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended 
outcomes; 

 Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it; 

 Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 
financial management; and 

Page 121



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

6 

 

 Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver effective 
accountability. 

In respect of GFRS, IA can confirm that CFO and Heads of Service Assurance Statements were 
received in relation to 2017/2018 where no significant governance issues were identified and 
where the CFO had made specific reference to the following positive governance initiatives: 
 

 Annual Governance Framework Gap Analysis in place to cross-map activities to the 
CIPFA/SOLACE governance principles; 

 Annual Statement of Assurance produced and published (as required by the National 
Framework); and 

 Full participation in the Finance, Performance and Risk reporting to GCC Chief 
Executive. 

 
Discussions with the Lead Cabinet Member and senior officers at GCC and GFRS confirmed 
that the annual Statements of Assurance for 2017/2018 included information resulting from the 
outcomes of business processes within GFRS (which equates to the first line of defence, i.e. 
management).  The statement in draft form was then reviewed for reasonableness and signed 
off by the following (which equates to the second line of defence): 
 

 SLT within GFRS; 

 CoMT; 

 Environment and Scrutiny Committee; 

 Lead Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure; and 

 Chief Executive. 
 
Since the above assurance is provided by management, it has been agreed by the Audit and 
Governance Committee that IA (as the independent third line of defence) will test the adequacy 
of the council-wide 2018/2019 Directors and Heads of Service assurance statements (including 
the GFRS statements) as part of the audit activity in 2019/2020. 
 
GFRS Corporate Governance Framework 
 
GFRS has developed a Corporate Governance Framework which includes the following 
statements: 
 
“The purpose of this framework is to articulate Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service’s 
vision, strategic regulatory compliance, accountability and decision making processes. The 
object of the framework is to help provide transparency, clarity of purpose and encourage 
ownership amongst our staff, stakeholders and partners. 
 
The framework is interdependent on, and designed to underpin and interface with 
Gloucestershire County Council’s approach to Corporate Governance as a whole. 
 
As an integral element of GCC, GFRS must adhere to internal control strategies, systems and 
processes put in place by GCC that contribute to effective governance arrangements and 
underpin the council’s core principles.” 
The Corporate Governance Framework is a comprehensive document which clearly defines the 
links between GCC and GFRS governance and assurance arrangements, strategies, policies 

Page 122



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

7 

 

and procedures and defines the roles and responsibilities of both GCC and GFRS key 
stakeholders/officers. 
 
The awareness and subsequent application of the above governance framework will be tested 
as part of the IA activity as identified within the GFRS investigation report and Action Plan. 
 
GFRS Statement of Assurance 
 
Fire and Rescue authorities function within a clearly defined statutory and policy framework.  The 
key documents setting this out are: 
 

 Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004; 

 Civil Contingencies Act 2004; 

 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005; 

 Fire and Rescue Service (Emergencies) (England) Order 2007; 

 Policing and Crime Act 2017; 

 Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012; 

 Localism Act 2011; and 

 Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 2012 (revised 2018). 
 
The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England sets out a requirement for Fire and 
Rescue authorities to publish a Statement of Assurance.  The Framework states that: 
 
“Fire and rescue authorities must provide annual assurance on financial, governance and 
operational matters and show how they have had due regard to the expectations set out in their 
integrated risk management plan and the requirements included in the Framework.  To provide 
assurance, fire and rescue authorities must publish an annual statement of assurance”. 
 
The purpose of the Statement is to provide assurance to local communities and government on 
financial, governance and operational matters, demonstrating how authorities have met the 
Framework commitments. 
 
IA can confirm that the annual Statement of Assurance for 2017/2018, as required by the Fire 
and Rescue National Framework for England, was published by GFRS in November 2018. 
 
Inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS) 
 
A new inspection framework published by HMICFRS sets out how the efficiency and 
effectiveness of England’s 45 Fire and Rescue Services will be assessed. 
 
GFRS is due to be inspected by HMICFRS in 2019.  There is a nominated GFRS Area Manager 
who has lead responsibility for this process, with a number of other staff providing support.  
GFRS officers have reviewed the HMICFRS inspection framework against current practices at 
GFRS and an action plan has been agreed, to ensure that GFRS will be prepared for the 
inspection.  Progress against the plan is reported to senior management at both GFRS and 
GCC and no issues were identified by IA in terms of preparedness. 

 

Page 123



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

8 

 

Conclusion 
 
The Council’s Constitution clearly defines the strategic governance arrangements in place, 
decision-making powers and roles and responsibilities of both members and senior officers in 
relation to GCC and GFRS.  Discussions with key stakeholders indicated that they were aware 
of their relevant roles and responsibilities under this framework. 
 
No benchmarking has been undertaken with other local authorities as to the appropriateness of 
this governance framework in relation to GFRS, as this is one of the key objectives of the 
Scrutiny Task Group that has been set up to support the review of culture within GFRS.  
However, to enable GFRS and GCC alignment and integration, the CFO is a member of CoMT 
which does, in the view of IA, provide the opportunity to enable GFRS to contribute to the wider 
council objectives and vice versa. 
 
One key area that requires immediate consideration relates to clarity around officer decision 
making and the development and subsequent formal implementation of schemes of officer 
authorisations, i.e. clearly defining the delegations applicable to the CFO whereby the CFO 
authorises officers to exercise certain functions and powers delegated to them (operational and 
financial).  The scheme of officer authorisations must be made pursuant to paragraph 5.7 of the 
Scheme of Delegation set out in Part 3, Section 5 of the Constitution. 
 
From a support services perspective, i.e. Finance, HR, etc., whilst there are links between 
GFRS and GCC, consideration should be given to significantly strengthening and formalising 
these relationships, to enable effective oversight and challenge, which ultimately supports an 
effective governance assurance framework. 
 
GFRS’s core values should be aligned to those of GCC and embedded into GFRS practices to 
ensure the behaviours, attitudes and beliefs are consistent with the Council’s values, fully 
considering the risks in doing so. 
 
GFRS has developed a comprehensive Corporate Governance Framework that clearly defines 
the relationship between GCC and GFRS.  This framework also refers to and defines the 
requirements of GFRS participation in the overarching Council’s Annual Governance Statement 
– assurance framework. 
 
Whilst it can be confirmed that GFRS complies with the requirements of the Council’s 
governance assurance framework, IA will test the adequacy of the assurance statements 
(county-wide) during 2019/2020, in order to provide independent assurance of the effectiveness 
of these arrangements. 
 
In addition, GFRS publishes an annual Statement of Assurance as required by the National 
Framework for England which provides annual assurance on financial, governance and 
operational matters and shows how they have had due regard to the expectations set out in 
their integrated risk management plan and the requirements included in the Framework.  This 
statement has scrutiny from both members and senior management (first and second lines of 
defence). 
 
 
 

Page 124



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance  FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

9 

 

Appendix A – Action Plan and Management Response 

This section contains the findings for each audit objective 
along with any recommendations made by Internal Audit to 
strengthen the control environment. The recommendations 
are categorised as follows: 
 
 
Objective: To review the arrangements that are in place for setting up schemes of delegation and decision-making powers, for both 
strategic and operational decisions and to establish what the officers’ and Lead Cabinet Member’s understanding is of their relevant 
roles and responsibilities in relation to decision-making. 
 
Finding 
Apart from the existing officer authorisations that were put in place by the previous CFO, there are no further schemes of officer authorisations 
for decision-making within GFRS.  At the time of the audit the Head of Legal Services confirmed that new authorisations were being prepared 
in consultation with the A/CFO.  Budget holders have responsibility for defined budget codes and the Finance Monitoring Group comprising 
GFRS Budget Holders and Budget Managers monitors budget spending.  IA was advised that operational decisions on expenditure of £50,000 
and above are to be agreed by SLT, however, there is no formal record of this requirement or how it has been communicated to existing 
budget holders. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

1 (H) One key area that requires immediate 
attention relates to clarity around officer 
decision-making and the development and 
subsequent formal implementation of 
schemes of officer authorisations, i.e. clearly 
defining the delegations applicable to the 
CFO whereby the CFO authorises officers to 
exercise certain functions and powers 
delegated to them (operational and financial).  
The scheme of officer authorisations must be 
made pursuant to paragraph 5.7 of the 
Scheme of Delegation set out in Part 3, 
Section 5 of the Constitution. 

Staff are not aware of their roles and 
responsibilities in respect of decision-
making 
 
Ineffective decision making impacting on 
achievement of objectives and 
reputational damage 
 
No clear accountability, openness or 
transparency 
 
Ability to avoid processes potentially 
impacting on impropriety 

The A/CFO has met with GCC’s Head of 
Legal Services and has revised and updated 
the general authorisations (delegations 
applicable to the Chief Fire Officer Sept 18) 
contained within the Scheme of Officer 
Authorisations and have been made 
pursuant to paragraph 5.7 of the Scheme of 
Delegation set out in Part 3 Section 5 of the 
Constitution. 
 
 
 
 

Priority Description 

High Critical/Major risk exposure which materially impact on the assets, 
reputation, service delivery and objectives of the organisation.  

Medium Moderate risk exposure that impacts on the assets, reputation, 
service delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

P
age 125



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance  FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

10 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

 
In addition, it would be good practice for 
officers who are granted such powers under 
the schemes of delegation to also formally 
sign to confirm that they have understood and 
accept the responsibility. 

 
General authorisations are to be signed in 
line with the recommendation as appropriate 
with awareness training provided. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

A Hermiston A/CFO 31/01/19 

 
 
Objective: To review the roles, responsibilities and accountabilities of members/senior managers in GCC and GFRS and the inter-
relationship between the two to ensure that a sound governance structure and arrangements are in place.  
 
Finding 
Discussions were held with GCC and GFRS operational staff in the following key support service areas: 
 

 Finance; 

 HR; 

 Performance reporting; 

 Risk management; and 

 Communications. 
 
Key contacts between GCC and GFRS operational staff within the above support service areas have been established and information 
exchange requirements have been informally agreed.  In order to enable more effective oversight and challenge these relationships could be 
strengthened and formalised. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 126



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance  FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

11 

 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

2 (H) Whilst there are links between GFRS and 
GCC, consideration should be given to 
significantly strengthening and formalising 
these relationships, to enable effective 
oversight and challenge, which ultimately 
supports an effective governance assurance 
framework.  This could be in the form of the 
existing Business Partner role, for example, in 
respect of Finance and HR reporting, as well 
as a line management ‘dotted line’ from the 
appropriate GFRS officers to the Council’s 
Head of Finance and Head of HR and 
Organisation Development.  This will support 
full integration of both GCC and GFRS. 
 

Non-compliance with GCC regulations, 
policies and procedures 
 
Reputational damage 
 
Ineffective governance assurance 
arrangements in place 
 
Inconsistent application of systems and 
processes 
 
Inappropriate decision-making 

Noted.  A final management response will be 
formulated once the outcomes of the Scrutiny 
Task Group are known. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

J McGinty 
Commissioning 
Director 
 

31/03/19 

 

Finding 
GCC launched its corporate values and behaviours framework in May 2018.  Prior to this GFRS had developed its own set of core values 
which, although similar to GCC’s, should now be aligned to those of GCC. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

3 (H) GFRS’s core values should be aligned to 
those of GCC and embedded into GFRS 
practices to ensure the behaviours, attitudes 
and beliefs are consistent with the Council’s 
values. 

Inconsistencies in values and behaviours 
between GCC and GFRS 
 
Reputational damage 
 
Ineffective integration of GCC and GFRS 
staff 

Noted.  A final management response will be 
formulated once the outcomes of the Scrutiny 
Task Group are known, fully considering the 
risks in doing so. 

Person Responsible Due Date 

J McGinty 
Commissioning 
Director 

31/3/19 

Finding 

P
age 127



Gloucestershire County Council - January 19 

 

010605/19/005: GFRS Governance  FINAL 
OFFICIAL 

12 

 

GCC’s intranet (Staffnet) holds all key Council policies however, as GFRS has its own intranet (Staff Hub), Staffnet is not the default intranet 
and therefore is not obviously available to GFRS staff. 
 

No. Recommendation Risks Agreed Action 

4 (M) As an interim measure, until decisions are 
made about full integration between GCC and 
GFRS ICT systems, there should be 
simultaneous choice of access to staff for both 
Staff Hub and Staffnet. 
 
Where policies on Staffnet and Staff Hub 
cover the same area the policies on Staff Hub 
should be cross-referenced to those on 
Staffnet. 
 

Staff do not easily have access to key 
Council documents resulting in non-
compliance by GFRS staff with GCC’s 
regulations, policies and procedures 
 
GFRS’s policies on Staff Hub might not 
comply with GCC’s policies on Staffnet 
 
Duplication of policies on Staff Hub and 
Staffnet 
 
Out-of-date policies being used 

Discussion about full integration of ICT 
systems will be made once the outcomes of 
the Scrutiny Task Group are known.  
 
In the meantime, the A/CFO has agreed to 
introduce a default home page that has 
Staffnet as one option and Staffhub as an 
alternative.  In practice two tiles would be 
displayed side by side representing Staffnet 
and Staffhub.   
 
 
 

Person Responsible Due Date 

A Hermiston A/CFO 
 

31/03/19 

 
 
Objective: To establish the current governance frameworks that are in place within GFRS. 
 
Finding 
There are currently no recommendations to make within this area at this position statement stage.  However, the application of the governance 
frameworks that have been established will be tested in subsequent audits which may result in recommendations being made in future audit 
reports. 

P
age 128



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 25th January 2019 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit activity progress report 2018/2019

Purpose of Report: To inform Members of the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation 
to the 2018/2019 Internal Audit Plan and provide a progress report in 
relation to those audits undertaken during the period October to 
December 2018.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

1. Notes the amendments to and progress against the 2018/2019 
Internal Audit Plan; and

2. Notes the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk 
management, control and governance arrangements as a result of 
the internal audit activity completed to date.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance (ARA), Area Finance 
Office and Insurance Services  
Tel: 01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Paul Blacker, Interim Director Strategic Finance / Section 151 Officer 
Tel: 01452 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Page 129

Agenda Item 8

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY  
PROGRESS REPORT 

2018/19

Page 131



1

(1) Introduction

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that 
a relevant authority “must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance”. The Internal Audit Service is provided by Audit Risk 
Assurance under a Shared Service agreement between Gloucestershire County Council, 
Stroud District Council and Gloucester City Council and carries out the work required to 
satisfy this legislative requirement and reports its findings and conclusions to management 
and to this Committee.

The guidance accompanying the Regulations recognises the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards 2017 (PSIAS) as representing “proper internal audit practices”. The standards 
define the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established and undertakes its 
functions. 

(2) Responsibilities 

Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management 
processes, control systems (financial and non financial) and governance arrangements. 

Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and advising the 
organisation that these arrangements are in place and operating effectively.

Internal Audit is not the only source of assurance for the Council. There are a range of 
external audit and inspection agencies as well as management processes which also 
provide assurance and these are set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance 
and its Annual Governance Statement.  

(3) Purpose of this Report

One of the key requirements of the standards is that the Chief Internal Auditor should 
provide progress reports on internal audit activity to those charged with governance. This 
report summarises:

 The progress against the 2018/19 Internal Audit Programme, including the 
assurance opinions on the effectiveness of risk management and control processes;

 The outcomes of the Internal Audit activity during the period October to December 
2018; and

 Special investigations/counter fraud activity.

Page 132



Appendix 1

2

(4) Progress against the 2018/19 Internal Audit Programme, including the 
assurance opinions on risk and control

The schedule provided at Appendix 1 provides the summary of 2018/19 audits which have 
not previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.

The schedule provided at Appendix 2 contains a list of all of the audit activity undertaken 
during 2018/19, which includes, where relevant, the assurance opinions on the effectiveness 
of risk management arrangements and control processes in place to manage those risks and 
the dates where a summary of the activities outcomes has been presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. Explanations of the meaning of these opinions are shown below. 

Assurance 
Levels

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment

Substantial Risk Managed
Service area fully aware of the risks relating 
to the area under review and the impact that 
these may have on service delivery, other 
service areas, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners, and 
staff.  All key risks are accurately reported 
and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – 
Robust framework of 
controls ensures that there 
is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied 
continuously or with minor 
lapses

Satisfactory Risk Aware
Service area has an awareness of the risks 
relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other service areas, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff, however 
some key risks are not being accurately 
reported and monitored in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – 
Sufficient framework of 
key controls for objectives 
to be achieved but, control 
framework could be 
stronger

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied but 
with some lapses

Limited Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurately and 
regularly reporting and monitoring of the 
key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy, the service area 
has not demonstrated an satisfactory 
awareness of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these 
may have on service delivery, other 
service areas, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners 
and staff.  

 System Adequacy – Risk 
of objectives not being 
achieved due to the 
absence of key internal 
controls

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in 
the application of 
control

Page 133



Appendix 1

3

(4a) Summary of Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control

The pie charts provided below show the summary of the risk and control assurance opinions 
provided within each category of opinion i.e. substantial, satisfactory and limited in relation to 
the audit activity undertaken during the period April 2018 to December 2018.

Page 134



Appendix 1

4

(4b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions 

Where audit activity records that a limited assurance opinion on control has been provided, 
the Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management attendance to the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their actions taken to address the 
risks and associated recommendations identified by Internal Audit. 

(4c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on 
Control

During the period October to December 2018, no limited assurance opinions on control have 
been provided on completed audits from the 2018/19 Internal Audit Plan. 

(4d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity records that a satisfactory assurance opinion on control has been 
provided, where recommendations have been made to reflect some improvements in 
control, the Committee can take assurance that improvement actions have been agreed with 
management to address these. 

(4e) Internal Audit Recommendations

During the period October 2018 to December 2018 Internal Audit made, in total, 2 
recommendations to improve the control environment, none of these being high priority 
recommendations (100% of these being accepted by management) and 2 being medium 
priority recommendations (100% accepted by management). 

The Committee can take assurance that all high priority recommendations will remain under 
review by Internal Audit, by obtaining regular management updates, until the required action 
has been fully completed. 

(4f) Risk Assurance Opinions

During the period October to December 2018, no limited assurance opinions on risk have 
been provided on completed audits from the 2018/19 Internal Audit Plan. 

Where a limited assurance opinion is given, the Shared Service Senior Risk Management 
Advisor will be provided with the Internal Audit report(s) to enable the prioritisation of risk 
management support. 

Page 135



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

5

Completed Internal Audit Activity during the period October to December 2018

Summary of Substantial Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Strategic Finance

Audit Activity: Capital Programme

Background
A Capital Programme is a set of capital projects that a Council plans to undertake within a 
given timeframe and should be based on the Capital Strategy, which in turn should be linked 
to the Asset Strategy.

The development of a Capital Programme, as per Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Capital Strategies and Programming 2014 guidance involves the 
following key activities:

 Setting the parameters;

 Identifying and developing project proposals;

 Evaluating and prioritising project proposals; and

 Finalising and approving the programme and confirming the funding.

The Council’s Capital Programme total scheme investment within the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (approved by Council as at 14/02/2018) over the period 2017/18 – 
2020/21 totals £504m. It is therefore vital that the programme is effectively managed from 
prioritisation of capital bids, approval to inception, through to completion.

Scope
This review sought to provide assurance that the Council has a robust governance 
framework in place for management of the Capital Programme and is compliant with good 
practice requirements.

The specific objectives of the audit were to provide assurance on the following areas:

 Capital strategies and plans have been developed, aligned, documented and 
approved;

 The process for making capital bids, evaluation criteria and funding options are 
clearly documented and published;

 Capital proposals are supported with appropriate documentation to ensure alignment 
to Council strategies and provision for an effective assessment of feasibility, options 
and funding requirements; and

Page 136



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

6

 Capital projects are subject to appropriate authorisation and monitoring.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Substantial

Key Findings
The audit review considered the following Council key documents, to confirm and evaluate 
the Council’s governance framework in place for management of the Capital Programme:

 Corporate Strategy; 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy; 

 Property Acquisition and Investment Policy and the Policy for Disposal of Property;

 Approved business cases; 

 Capital Programme; and 

 SAP the Council’s financial system. 

In addition to this and for all four audit objectives, a combination of audit walk-though and 
sample testing was completed relevant to 2018/19 capital projects. 

Appropriate audit trail and assurance has been obtained (subject to one recommendation) 
from this audit approach to demonstrate Council compliance with CIPFA best practice. It 
must also be highlighted that Strategic Finance staff demonstrated a thorough 
understanding, and comprehensive set of supporting documentation, to support the Capital 
Programme.  

The audit recommendation raised refers to further development of the Capital Programme 
business case pro-forma in relation to “Invest to Save” schemes.

Conclusion
Based upon the audit review and sample testing outcomes, substantial assurance can be 
provided that the Council’s Capital Programme processes and controls are mainly compliant 
with the CIPFA Capital Strategies and Programming guidance.

One medium priority recommendation has been raised to further strengthen the Capital 
Programme controls and enable full compliance with the guidance.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the audit recommendation raised. 

Page 137



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

7

Service Area: Communities and Infrastructure

Audit Activity: Highways Term Maintenance Contract – Review of Procurement

Background
The current term maintenance contract with Amey was for five years and is due to end on 
31st March 2019.  Although the contract allowed for extension periods the Council is 
proposing to double its structural maintenance spending to £150m over a five year period 
(May 2017 to April 2022) which is considered likely to represent a material change to the 
existing contract.  Consequently the Council decided not to pursue any extension 
recognising that this change creates an opportunity to consider moving to a different delivery 
model.

On 27th September 2017 Cabinet received details of the recommended procurement 
strategy and operating model for service delivery from April 2019. In essence this sought 
approval to break-down the delivery of the existing service provision into three new key 
contracts:

 A smaller term maintenance contract delivering day to day maintenance works;

 A structural maintenance contract delivering resurfacing works; and

 A professional services contract to provide specialist design, project management 
and transport planning services.

Having considered the options Cabinet resolved to authorise the Commissioning Director: 
Communities and Infrastructure to carry out three legally compliant competitive tender 
processes for the delivery of highway services from April 2019. In relation to the highway 
services term maintenance contract this would be for an initial seven year period with the 
option to extend by a further two periods of two years (eleven years in total). 

Scope
To provide oversight of the procurement of the highways term maintenance contract and 
provide assurance that the outcome stands up to scrutiny. In particular that this procurement 
has been:

  Subject to competition; 

 Conducted in an open and transparent manner; and 

 In compliance with the Council’s Constitution, Financial Regulations and relevant 
legislation.

Risk Assurance – Substantial
Control Assurance – Substantial

Page 138



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

8

Key Findings
Internal Audit was able to gain substantial assurance that:

 The procurement was subject to a competitive tendering process with a contract 
notice dispatched for publication in the Official Journal European Union (OJEU) on 
30th November 2017. 

 This process was conducted in an open and transparent manner utilising the 
Council’s preferred e-tendering system i.e. ProContract.

 Appropriate oversight, input and advice has been received from:

a) Member and senior officer participation in the Highways Procurement Board; 

b) Experienced officers in Highways, Strategic Finance and other support services 
e.g. Risk Management, Insurance and HR;

c) Gloucestershire County Council Commercial Services; and

d) An external solicitor i.e. Bevan Brittan.

 The tender submissions were evaluated by experienced officers and in accordance 
with the published criteria and methodology. Suitable records are readily available to 
support the scores awarded to each bidder. 

 The decision to make final award of the contract to the preferred bidder was taken by 
the Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure (under delegated 
authority received from Cabinet and in compliance with the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation) and was adequately documented and published on the Council’s 
website. 

 A challenge to the process and subsequent award has not been made. 

Conclusion
From the close monitoring and review of associated records, Internal Audit’s principal 
conclusion is that throughout the procurement process the Council can demonstrate 
appropriate levels of compliance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. As a 
consequence, no recommendations have been raised.

Management Actions
No management actions required.

Page 139



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

9

Service Area: Pensions

Audit Activity: Receipt and accounting for pension contributions

Background
As at August 2018 the outturn forecast provided by the Finance Manager, Pension 
Investments and Accounting indicated that the Pension Fund will receive approximately 
£105m for employers (£88m) and employees (£17m) pension contributions in 2018/19 for 
the Gloucestershire County Council Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).

Due to the high value of the contributions, it is important that all of the contributions are 
received in a timely manner and that an efficient reconciliation process is undertaken to 
ensure that all the expected contributions are actually received and appropriately coded in 
the SAP General Ledger.

Scope
This audit was to provide assurance that an appropriate and effective control framework is in 
place with regard to:

 All expected contributions are received by the 19th of the following month, as 
required under the Local Government Pension Scheme rules; and

 Regular, accurate and timely reconciliation controls are in place for the pension 
contributions received.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Substantial

Key Findings
Audit review confirmed: 

 A well embedded process is in place to receipt and account for pension contributions 
from admitted bodies of the Gloucestershire scheme. This is supported by complete 
and up to date internal procedure notes for pensions officers to use and guidance 
templates provided to admitted bodies.

 Guidance is provided to admitted bodies requiring pension contributions receipt by 
the Pension Fund by the 19th of the following month. Audit sample testing confirmed 
that this requirement was met for all sampled admitted bodies.

 Monthly monitoring controls are in place for checking that pension contributions are 
received by the due date. Review of the controls confirmed that for the first six 
months of 2018/19 the date deadline has been met by all admitted bodies.

Page 140



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

10

 Quarterly reconciliation controls comparing the monthly pension return cash receipts 
with the SAP General Ledger are completed by the pensions finance team. Audit 
review confirmed that the reconciliations were up to date at the point of audit and 
supported by audit trail. There is the opportunity to strengthen this quarterly control 
through completion and evidencing of segregation of staff duties between 
reconciliation completion and review/authorisation.

 A robust annual process is in place to transfer County staff pension contributions per 
the SAP payroll system into Altair (the pensions administration system).

 Audit sample testing confirmed that the correct pensionable pay employee and 
employer contribution percentage rates have been used for 2018/19 sampled cases.

Conclusion
One improvement area only was identified by the internal audit to support the strengthening 
of internal controls through reconciliation independent review and authorisation. No other 
improvement opportunities were identified, supporting the receipt and accounting for pension 
contributions audit outcome of substantial assurance for both risk identification maturity and 
control environment.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the audit recommendation raised. 

Page 141



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

11

Summary of Consulting Activity, Grant Certification and/or Support Delivered 
where no Opinions are provided

No audit assurance opinions on risk and control are provided in this section as this section 
relates to other audit activity such as statutory Chief Internal Auditor grant certification sign 
off and consultancy work i.e. where internal audit advise management on the risk and control 
environment in relation to new and emerging risks, projects, systems and processes to help 
‘design out’ risk at the developmental stage. 

Service Area: Strategic Finance (Grant Certification)

Audit Activity: Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant

Background
On 17th May 2017 a letter was issued by the Department for Transport (DfT) confirming the 
payment of £458,365 to Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) as a grant to cover the 
period 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018. The purpose of the grant is to provide support to 
local authorities in England towards expenditure lawfully incurred or to be incurred by them.

The Bus Service Operators Grant (BSOG) may only be used for the purpose of supporting 
bus services (including community transport services under a section 19 permit), or for the 
provision of infrastructure supporting such services in that authority’s, or neighbouring 
authority’s, area. The letter stated that the DfT reserve the right to request data/information 
from local authorities and other Local Decision Bodies on the way in which devolved funds 
have been used and the cost of the services/infrastructure bought with the funds. 

Scope
The Chief Executive and the Chief Internal Auditor were required to return to DfT a 
declaration by 30th September 2018 in the following terms: 

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Local 
Authority Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant Determination 2017/18 have been 
complied with.”

Key findings
 The Council received funding of £458,365 under the Local Authority Bus Subsidy 

Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant Determination [31/3082] scheme; 

 The total expenditure in 2017/18 for tendered bus services was £2,944,727.83, as 
recorded within the GCC ‘Devolved BSOG Grant – Annual Outputs Report 2018’ 
survey. The survey as required in condition 3 of the grant determination has to be 
published on the GCC website and sent to the DfT;

Page 142



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

12

 Both the total expenditure and grant funding amounts have been agreed to the SAP 
(the Council’s financial management system) general ledger;

 Internal Audit sample tested 13 lines of expenditure totalling £164,474.59 (35.88% of 
grant funding) and found that the expenditure was appropriate under the grant 
determination [31/3082] and the amounts recorded matched to the supporting 
invoices; and

 The survey has been completed by the Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) and the 
information uploaded to the GCC website with a link being sent to the DfT as required 
by the grant determination.

Conclusion
From a review of the contract arrangements with bus operators, the SAP general ledger 
2017/18 totals for BSOG relevant income and expenditure, and audit sample testing of 
invoices paid in 2017/18, Internal Audit was able to gain reasonable assurance that BSOG 
2017/18 expenditure was in accordance with the requirements of the grant determination.  

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Troubled Families Grant Claim 1

Background
The Families First (payment-by-result) programme was introduced in a renewed drive to help 
improve the outcomes for troubled families. 

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has produced a Financial 
Framework for local authorities. This document makes clear that payment- by-result (PBR) is 
the subject of self-declaration, and therefore the purpose of this audit was to provide 
assurance that the Families First grant conditions and criteria had been met by the families 
to support the PBR grant claim.

Scope
To provide assurance that those families forming the PBR claims made to the date of the 
audit met the criteria and that there was sufficient evidence to support the outcomes 
recorded.  

Key findings
As at 27th September 2018 there were 313 PBR claims prepared for submission. The claims 
reviewed related to the period April 2018 to September 2018. 

Page 143



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

13

Internal Audit testing was completed on 16 claims (5.11% of the population) to ensure 
appropriate coverage of all six eligibility criteria and the six localities. Internal Audit testing 
confirmed:

 15 of the 16 sampled PBR claims met the criteria outlined by the Troubled Families 
Grant. One claim did not meet the necessary criteria and therefore was removed by 
the Families First Team.

 A total of 312 PBR claims were made in September for the period covering April 2018 
to September 2018. 

Conclusion
Internal Audit identified that effective systems and processes are in place for how families, 
their eligibility markers and related outcomes are being collated and verified.  Audit testing 
confirmed the validity of the claims for the sampled cases.

Management Actions
No recommendations were raised.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Disabled Facilities Capital Grant

Background
The Disabled Facilities Grant is for the provision of adaptations to disabled people’s homes 
to help them to live independently in their own homes for longer. This funding is part of the 
Better Care Fund, allocated to County Councils by the DCLG to be further distributed to 
District Councils as the local housing authorities.

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) received an allocation of £5,135,142 in 2017/18 from 
the Better Care Fund Disabled Facilities Capital Grant under the grant determination 
2017/18: No 31/3059. 

Scope
To provide assurance that:

 To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate 
investigations and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions 
attached to Disabled Facilities Capital Grant Determination (2017/18) No 31/3059 
have been complied with. 

Page 144



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

14

Key findings
 The Council received funding of £5,135,142 in 2017/18 under the Disabled Facilities 

Capital Grant Determination [31/3059] scheme;

 It was decided from discussions with the County Council and the District Councils, 
that the full allocations would not be distributed at the outset due to the District 
Councils being unlikely to spend the full allocations in 2017/18. Instead, it was agreed 
that the District Councils would be fully funded for their respective actual spend on 
issued DFGs from the BCF with the remainder of the DFG being used to create a 
pooled budget held by the County Council.  This decision was formally agreed at the 
Gloucestershire Chief Executives and Heads of Paid Service Meeting in November 
2016 and approved at the Health and Wellbeing Board on the 17th January 2017.

 The District Councils recorded actual DFG expenditure in 2017/18 was 
£2,327,824.60;

 In line with the grant conditions in Annex A of the grant determination, with the 
express agreement of the District Councils, funding can be made available for other 
social care capital projects. This accounted for a further £286,000 across three 
schemes;

 It was further agreed by the District Councils that in addition to the above payments, 
a fund for community equipment, would be administered by the County Council. The 
Community Equipment (pooled between GCC and CCG) is used for larger home 
adaptations, e.g. hoists, wheelchairs, beds etc. This accounted for £837,891.24 of 
expenditure in 2017/18.

 For the Financial Year 2017/18 there is a reported underspend of £1,683,426.16 
(£5,135,142 - £3,451,715.84). Discussions between the District Councils and County 
Council have agreed this remaining grant funding has been carried forward as part of 
the BCF for 2018/19; and

 Detailed records of expenditure have not been requested from the District Councils. 
However, all Section 151 Officers within the District Councils have confirmed their 
compliance with the following statement in respect of actual DFG expenditure in 
2017/18:

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate 
investigations and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions 
attached to the Disabled Facilities Capital Grant Determination (2017/18) No 31/3059 
have been complied with”.

Page 145



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

15

Conclusion
Based on declarations provided by District Councils and GCC and having undertaken a 
review of records maintained by the Council, we have gained assurance that the conditions 
of the grant determination have been fulfilled and as such the declaration can be signed and 
submitted to the DCLG.

Management Actions
No Management Actions were required.

Summary of Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

The Counter Fraud Team within Internal Audit has received 14 new referrals in 2018/19, to 
date, and also continued to work on 14 cases from previous years. Eight of the brought 
forward cases plus eight of the new cases referred in 2018/19 have now been completed, 
four of which have previously been reported to Audit and Governance Committee. 

The service areas of the cases referred to Internal Audit within 2018/19 to date are 
categorised as follows: Adults (3); Children and Families (6); Council Wide (1); Communities 
and Infrastructure (1); and Core (3). 

In respect of the additional four 2018/19 cases closed which have not previously been 
reported to Audit and Governance Committee, one involved a care provider where it was 
suggested that the hours provided were insufficient to meet the contracted hours. However, 
this was a general issue concerning travel time between visits and the service area 
concerned has now reviewed contract arrangements with all providers where travel time 
between visits may be an issue. There were no safeguarding issues and electronic call 
monitoring is being used to monitor attendance care hours provided. 

Another case involved the potential mis-use of a pool car although there were extenuating 
circumstances and the individual concerned received an informal warning. Additional 
information has also been provided to staff through Staffnet to clarify the use of a pool car for 
business use. 

The third case involved a fraudster intercepting a supplier’s email which initially resulted in a 
payment being made to bank account of a fraudster instead of the genuine supplier, 
although the monies were recovered with no resulting loss to the Council. Fraud warnings 
have been issued across the Council, including to schools, making staff aware of the 
potential for this type of bank mandate fraud. 

The fourth case involved poor cash handling procedures which resulted in the loss of £116. 
This was not necessarily a theft, although a number of learning points were identified within 
the service area and more robust procedures have been introduced to prevent similar 
unaccountable losses.

Page 146



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

16

In respect of the investigation / internal audit reviews into GFRS governance, practices and 
processes please refer to the separate internal audit report presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee on 12th October 2018. 

Previous years’ referrals

Of the 14 cases brought forward eight have been closed, all of which have previously been 
reported. One of the outstanding cases is a consultancy referral and Internal Audit is keeping 
a watching brief.

Many of the cases referred to Internal Audit involve intricate detail and Police referral. This 
invariably results in a delay before the investigation can be classed as closed and reported 
to the Audit and Governance Committee.

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Internal Audit continues to support the NFI which is a biennial data matching exercise 
administered by the Cabinet Office. The next data collections were uploaded to the Cabinet 
Office throughout October 2018 and data matching reports will be provided for investigation 
from January 2019 onwards. Examples of data sets include insurance, payroll, creditors, 
pensions, care provision, blue badges and concessionary bus passes. Not all matches are 
investigated but where possible all recommended matches are reviewed by either Internal 
Audit or the appropriate service area.

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Strategic Finance Retrospective Orders Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned

Strategic Finance PO Box Addresses High Consultancy

Strategic Finance Payroll - Accuracy of Payments High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan

Strategic Finance Journals and Virements High Planned

Strategic Finance Bank Reconciliations High Planned

Strategic Finance Troubled Families Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/01/2019

Strategic Finance Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/01/2019

Strategic Finance Community Capacity Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018

Strategic Finance Local Growth Fund High Cancelled Grant no longer requires internal audit sign off

Strategic Finance Integrated Transport High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph

Strategic Finance Highways Block Maintenance High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph

Strategic Finance Highways Maintenance Incentive Element High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph

Strategic Finance Pothole Action Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph

Strategic Finance National Productivity Investment Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph

Strategic Finance Flood Resilience Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph

Strategic Finance Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund (Street Lighting) High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018

Strategic Finance Local Authority Major Project Grant (Elmbridge) High Cancelled Grant no longer requires internal audit sign off

Strategic Finance Safer Roads Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018

Strategic Finance Growth Hub High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018

Strategic Finance Equal Pay High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report

Strategic Finance IR35 Off-payroll working through an intermediary High Draft Report Issued

Strategic Finance Safer Recruitment High Planned

Strategic Finance Approval of Payments for Agency Staff High Planned

Strategic Finance Property Service Contracts - Corporate Cleaning Contract High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018

Strategic Finance Capital Programme High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 25/01/2019

ICT Non approved ICT provision High Planned Brought Forward from 17/18 plan

ICT Capita 360 High Planned

ICT JADU eforms High Planned

ICT IT Disaster Recovery (ITDR) Follow Up High Planned Terms of Reference issued

ICT Sopra Steria Improvement Plan High Planned

ICT ERIC Replacement High Planned

Adults Brokerage High Planned

Adults Direct Payments - Payment Cards High Planned

Adults Gloucestershire Care Partnership High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report

Adults Market Management High Planned

Adults Mental Capacity Assessments High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report

Adults NHS Accessible Information Standards High Planned

Adults Winter Planning-Discharge Beds High Planned

Adults Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) High Planned Brought Forward from 17/18 plan

Adults Mental Health Services High Audit in Progress Brought Forward from 17/18 plan

Adults Adults Single Programme High Audit in Progress

Adults Disabled Facilities Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/01/2019

Adults Social Care (Capital) Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018

Adults Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) High Audit in Progress

Adults Gloucestershire Adult Safeguarding Board-Audit Sub Group High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report

Children & Families Section 20 - Children's Act High Planned

Children & Families ContrOCC (Childrens) High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Substantial 12/10/2018

Children & Families Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support High Planned

Children & Families Youth Service - Care Leaving Service High Audit in Progress

Children & Families Missing Children High Planned

Children & Families Caseload Management High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Children & Families Quality Assurance and Performance Framework High Planned

Children & Families Section 17 spend including No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) Medium Planned

Children & Families Youth Justice Board - Use of Grant Medium Planned

Children & Families Personal Travel Allowances Medium Deferred To be considered for 19/20 audit plan

Page 1 of 2

P
age 149



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Children & Families PACE Protocols High Consultancy

Communities and Infrastructure Libraries - Self Service Radio Frequency Identification Medium Planned

Communities and Infrastructure Procurement of Short Term Transport Arrangements for Social Care Users High Audit in Progress

Communities and Infrastructure Growth Deal - Project Delivery Medium Planned

Communities and Infrastructure Growth Deal - Risk Management and Escalation Process by the LEP Board High Planned

Communities and Infrastructure Section 106 Agreements - Bond Policy High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan

Communities and Infrastructure Highways Structural Maintenance - Contract Management High Planned

Communities and Infrastructure Highways Term Maintenance Contract - Review of Procurement High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 25/01/2019

Communities and Infrastructure Household Recycling Centres High Planned

Communities and Infrastructure Joint Waste Partnership - Funding Arrangements High Cancelled Risk profile reduced following discussions with 

Head of Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team.

Communities and Infrastructure Fleet Management High Deferred Deferred to 2019/20 due to current governance 

arrangements being reviewed

Strategy & Challenge Data analytics - specific targeted areas (fraud & audit) High Planned Reported in 18/19 annual report

Strategy & Challenge General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) Compliance High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Community Safety Fire and Rescue Authorities Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018

Community Safety Risk Management Framework Medium Cancelled Cancelled due to other audit priorities within 

GFRS.

Community Safety GFRS Governance High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/01/2019 New Activity

Community Safety GFRS Procurement High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Community Safety GFRS Fleet - Maintenance and Stores High Audit in Progress New Activity

Community Safety GFRS Fleet - Disposal of Vehicles High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Community Safety GFRS Fleet - Commissioning of New Vehicles High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Community Safety GFRS Fleet Management - Use of Pool Cars, Personal and Leased Cars and 

Fuel Schemes including Fuel Cards and Bunker Fuel
High Planned New Activity

Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll - Recruitment High Audit in Progress New Activity

Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll - Progression High Audit in Progress New Activity

Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll - Retirement High Planned New Activity

Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll - Absence Reporting Procedures High Planned New Activity

Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll -  Expenses and Service Benefits High Planned New Activity

Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll - Complaints / Grievances Process High Planned New Activity

Community Safety GFRS Capital Programme High Planned New Activity

Community Safety GFRS - Income and Cash Handling High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Community Safety GFRS - Budget Setting High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Community Safety GFRS - Budget Monitoring High Audit in Progress New Activity

Community Safety GFRS - Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest High Audit in Progress

Adult Services & Business Best Value Policy High Planned

Adult Services & Business Standards for Employers of Social Workers High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Education Nursery Education Funding - Hourly Rate High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018

Education Alternative Provision Schools (2) High Planned

Education Schools Whistleblowing High Planned

Education School 1 High Planned Schools will be selected for audit following a 

detailed risk assessment

Education Nursery Education Funding - Audit Process High Audit in Progress

Education SEN procurement of transport - non Direct Purchasing System High Planned

Education Education Contingency High Planned Internal Audit will be attending the Education 

Conference in March 2019 to advise schools on 

effective financial risk management, control and 

counter fraud
Education Education Commissioning - Specialist High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report

Education Direct Payments (Childrens) Limited Assurance Follow Up High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan

Pensions Management of LGPS High Planned

Pensions Receipt and Accounting for Contributions High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 25/01/2019

Pensions General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Pensions Admitted Bodies High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan

Pensions / ICT Pensions Information and Cyber Security High Planned

Exempt Report High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Consultancy

Exempt Report High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan

Page 2 of 2

P
age 150



Audit and Governance Committee

Open Contracting and Transparency
Date: 25 January 2019 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Open Contracting and transparency

Purpose of Report: In accordance with the decisions of the Constitution 
Committee to report on:

i. The Council’s compliance with the Local 
Government Transparency Code

ii. Contract Spend Software
iii. Procurement Portal

Recommendations: To note the report and to consider any required actions.

Officer(s) Contact: Jane Burns, Director Strategy and Challenge and 
Monitoring Officer jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 328472

Jo Walker, Director of Strategic Finance 
jo.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk 01452 328469

Key Risks: Failure in corporate governance, which leads to 
reputational damage or failure.

Page 151

Agenda Item 9

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1. Background:

The Constitution Committee has discussed the findings and recommendations of the 
Open Contracting Advisory Group, the Group having been established to consider 
the implications of the Council adopting open contracting principles. 

The Group’s recommendations were approved, which included the following:

1.1 Local Government Transparency Code 2015

To request the Strategic Director: Strategy and Challenge to undertake a review of 
how the Council has implemented the Local Government Transparency Code 2015.  
This should include a compliance check against the code’s requirements and report 
on progress against recommended elements of the code.  Where recommended 
elements have not been implemented, the review should consider the practicalities 
of introducing them, including resources and timescales.

A report to be made to the Audit and Governance Committee by no later than 30 
January 2019 to allow any resource requirements to be considered as part of the 
2019-20 Budget.

1.2 Contract Spend Software

To request the Strategic Director: Finance to investigate the practical implications of 
introducing the same type of procurement system as Norfolk CC.  This should cover 
the resource requirements associated with cleansing of data and improving 
interfaces between Council systems.  

A report to be made to the Audit and Governance Committee by no later than 30 
January 2019 to allow any resource requirements to be considered as part of the 
2019-20 Budget.

1.3 Procurement Portal

a) To request the Head of Legal Services to review the process for drafting contracts 
so that suppliers are asked to clearly state what information in the contract they 
believe to be commercially sensitive and the reason why.

b) To request the Strategic Director: Finance to consider the practical implications of 
working towards publishing future contracts on the Council’s procurement portal. 

A report to be made to the Audit and Governance Committee by no later than 30 
January 2019 to allow any resource requirements to be considered as part of the 
2019-20 Budget.

This report has therefore been produced at the request of the Constitution 
Committee.

2. Local Government Transparency Code 2015:

2.1 An internal audit review has been undertaken of the Council’s compliance with 
the mandatory requirements of the Code. On the basis that the issues identified by 
the audit review are addressed, the audit opinion was Satisfactory Assurance on risk 
identification, management, and control arrangements.

The review’s key findings were that:

Page 152



a. the Council has a clear commitment to being transparent, which is evident in the 
Council’s Constitution and Code of Corporate Governance

b. in most mandated areas, the Council publishes the required data in accordance 
with the data definitions stated in the Code

c. there are areas where further steps are required to both enhance corporate 
ownership, and to move to full compliance with the mandated elements of the Code

d. Directors/service leads have undertaken to progress actions to address those 
areas of identified non-compliance these being:

 the provision of additional financial and parking space details in the Council’s 
Annual Parking Report

 the provision of additional detail covering the services and functions for those 
posts falling within the ‘Senior Salaries’ category of the Code, together with 
the budget held and the number of staff under direct/indirect line management 
responsibility ensuring the timing of the publication of all data is in accordance 
with the requirements of the Code

 ensuring the timing of the publication of all data is in accordance with the 
requirements of the Code

e. due to the Council’s devolved working arrangements the audit was unable to 
confirm the completeness of the Council’s published data relating to contracts with a 
value over £5,000

f. there is a need to monitor the delivery of the enhancements agreed during the 
audit to secure full compliance with the mandated elements and the publication of 
data in accordance with the timings specified in the Code

g. the council needs to formalise the corporate ownership for overseeing the delivery 
of the requirements of the Code and monitoring and reporting non compliance

The Code identifies (where in order to enhance the levels of transparency) additional 
information can be published and is referred to as “recommended for publication”.  
During the audit review discussions with lead officers confirmed that for data beyond 
that mandated by the Code the “being transparent” principle is balanced against the 
costs and benefits of providing the data.  The generally expressed view is that to 
publish data beyond that mandated needs to be demand led.  At present there has 
been no evidence of a demand for the “recommended for publication” data.

However, where data is readily available or accessible, or helps demonstrate the 
Council is taking proactive actions, additional data is published.  This is evident 
through the Annual Fraud Report where all of the “recommended data” is published.

This approach is in line with the vision set by the Corporate Management Team.

2.2 The internal audit review has been a catalyst for further work: 

Appendix 1 sets out details of the information that must be published and a 
summary of the level of compliance within GCC. 

Appendix 2 sets out details of the information which it is “recommended for 
publication” and a commentary on the implications of reaching these thresholds 
within GCC.

Page 153



Governance:
In terms of the audit review’s recommendations about governance, the Council’s 
internal arrangements have been reviewed to provide clarity about accountabilities.  
These have now been strengthened through:

i. The Director: Strategy & Challenge being confirmed as the lead on Code 
compliance, and thus ensuring the delivery of the enhancements agreed 
during the course of the review to secure full compliance with the mandated 
elements

ii. Directors, in their Annual Assurance Statements, now being required to 
explicitly confirm that they have ensured that their respective services have 
delivered the Code’s mandatory elements to the required standards 

3. Contract Spend Software:

To request the Strategic Director: Finance to investigate the practical implications of 
introducing the same type of procurement system as Norfolk CC.  This should cover 
the resource requirements associated with cleansing of data and improving 
interfaces between Council systems.  

The need to improve the systems available to support the contract management 
function has been accepted.   Taking account of our existing systems (e.g. SAP) and 
needs, we have explored the options and have decided to proceed with the purchase 
of the Proactis Contract Management system.

This will complement our existing Pro Contract e-procurement system, and provide 
the contract management function (and the wider organisation) with:

 a comprehensive contracts register showing all supplier details, goods or 
services supplied and key contract information as required by the Code

 the ability to store electronically a final signed copy of a contract and 
documented changes to that contract, in a single place, accessible by multi 
users

 the administration of key recurring contractual information
 spend data by contract
 contract performance against agreed performance indicators
 record and track performance meetings with the supplier
 create a corporately available knowledge base across the Council for the 

contract
 the ability to look across directorates and whole organisation to assess 

performance
 summarise performance and spend information across suppliers, business 

sectors and Council service areas

We are moving swiftly, planning for implementation in Spring 2019.No further 
resource are required.

4. Procurement Portal:

a) To request the Head of Legal Services to review the process for drafting contracts 
so that suppliers are asked to clearly state what information in the contract they 
believe to be commercially sensitive and the reason why.

Page 154



The Council’s current approach is to include a schedule for suppliers to provide 
details about what they believe to be commercially sensitive and why.  We intend to 
remind suppliers/providers that it is their responsibility to respond on this point. The 
Council continues to retain its ability to disclose information using its discretion in 
order to meet FOIA and EIR and to comply with disclosure of information under the 
Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) and the Environmental Information Regulation.

b) To request the Strategic Director: Finance to consider the practical implications of 
working towards publishing future contracts on the Council’s procurement portal.

The Council uses the South West ProContract portal for its procurement.

https://www.supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk/

This includes comprehensive information on both invitations to tender, including 
copies of all tender documents, and details of the contracts awarded as follows:.  

 Reference no
 Lots
 Title
 Department
 Buyer Description
 Description of the geographical coverage
 Start date
 End date
 Awarded date
 Review date
 Appraisal date
 Display until date Visibility
 Initial contract period (months)
 Total option to extend (months)
 Total contract period (months)
 Available No. of Ext.
 Available extension details
 Taken No. of Ext.
 Taken Extension details
 Estimated value
 Estimated annual value
 VAT not recovered
 Primary contact
 Process used
 OJEU
 Open to other organisations
 Participating organisations
 Central purchasing body
 Framework type
 Keywords
 Categories
 Suppliers
 Custom fields
 (Field:Value)
 Public notes

Page 155



 Portal notes
 Private notes

This detail is visible on the Contract Register until the Contract ends.

To date the Council has received 3 requests for access to full contract 
documentation.  To change our approach and publish the estimated 3,000 plus 
contracts let per annum, would require a significant injection of resources, calculated 
to be in the region of £750K.

5. Next steps

The Audit and Governance Committee is asked to identify any issues and to 
consider any actions it wishes to take.

Page 156



Page 1 of 8

GCC Compliance with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015

Information 
title

Information which must be published Level of Compliance

Expenditure 
exceeding 
£500 

Quarterly publication
Publish details of each individual item of expenditure that 
exceeds £500, including items of expenditure, consistent 
with Local Government Association guidance, such as:
 individual invoices
 grant payments
 expense payments
 payments for goods and services
 grants
 grant in aid
 rent
 credit notes over £500
 transactions with other public bodies.

For each individual item of expenditure the following 
information must be published: 
 date the expenditure was incurred
 local authority department which incurred the 

expenditure
 beneficiary
 summary of the purpose of the expenditure
 amount
 Value Added Tax that cannot be recovered
 merchant category (e.g. computers, software etc.)

The spend over £500 is published on the GCC website within 20 working days of 
the month end. 

Government 
Procurement 
Card 
transactions 

Quarterly publication
Publish details of every transaction on a Government 
Procurement Card. For each transaction, the following 
details must be published:
 date of the transaction 
 local authority department which incurred the 

expenditure
 beneficiary
 amount
 Value Added Tax that cannot be recovered
 summary of the purpose of the expenditure
 merchant category (e.g. computers, software etc.)

We publish details quarterly; we are compliant.

Procurement Quarterly publication The Code applies to publication of those contracts which have been let since 2015.  

P
age 157



Page 2 of 8

Information 
title

Information which must be published Level of Compliance

information Publish details of every invitation to tender for contracts to 
provide goods and/or services with a value that exceeds 
£5,000. For each invitation, the following details must be 
published: 
 reference number
 title
 description of the goods and/or services sought
 start, end and review dates
 local authority department responsible.

Quarterly publication 
Publish details of any contract, commissioned activity, 
purchase order, framework agreement and any other legally 
enforceable agreement with a value that exceeds £5,000. 
For each contract, the following details must be published: 
 reference number
 title of agreement
 local authority department responsible
 description of the goods and/or services being provided
 supplier name and details
 sum to be paid over the length of the contract or the 

estimated annual spending or budget for the contract
 Value Added Tax that cannot be recovered
 start, end and review dates
 whether or not the contract was the result of an 

invitation to quote or a published invitation to tender
 whether or not the supplier is a small or medium sized 

enterprise and/or a voluntary or community sector 
organisation and where it is, provide the relevant 
registration number

It does not require the publication of those which are direct awards (see Appendix 
2). 

It is a requirement of the GCC procurement process, which reflects the 
Transparency Code, that the details of all contracts awarded that exceed £5,000 in 
value are published on the Contracts Register within the e-procurement system.

All tenders or quotes for contracts valued at over £15,000 should be obtained using 
the Council’s e-procurement system (see Council Contract Standing Orders Section 
9). They are published in real-time as the invitation to tender (ITT) or request for 
quotation is set-up in the e-procurement system and will contain all the information 
required under the Transparency code.

A change to Council Contract Standing Orders would be needed to ensure 
compliance with the requirements of the Code to publish ITTs and quotations for 
contracts valued at £5,000-15,000.

The Council lets some 3,000 contracts per annum, and has made significant 
progress in ensuring compliance with the Code, especially in the ITU and Adult 
Social Care.

Asset Management & Property Services have recently secured access to the 
publication portal within the Council’s e-procurement system and are prioritising the 
bulk upload of all contract information dating back to April 2018.  All future contracts 
will be published here from this point onwards, in accordance with the requirements.

Local 
authority 
land 

Annual publication 
Publish details of all land and building assets including: 
 all service and office properties occupied or controlled 

by user bodies, both freehold and leasehold 
 any properties occupied or run under Private Finance 

Initiative contracts 
 all other properties they own or use, for example, 

hostels, laboratories, investment properties and depots 
 garages unless rented as part of a housing tenancy 

agreement 

We are compliant.

P
age 158



Page 3 of 8

Information 
title

Information which must be published Level of Compliance

 surplus, sublet or vacant properties 
 undeveloped land 
 serviced or temporary offices where contractual or 

actual occupation exceeds three months 
 all future commitments, for example under an 

agreement for lease, from when the contractual 
commitment is made

However, information about the following land and building 
assets are to be excluded from publication: 
 rent free properties provided by traders (such as 

information booths in public places or ports) 
 operational railways and canals 
 operational public highways (but any adjoining land not 

subject to public rights should be included) 
 assets of national security 
 information deemed inappropriate for public access as 

a result of data protection and/or disclosure controls 
(e.g. such as refuge houses)

Information on social housing is also excluded from this 
specific dataset.

For each land or building asset, the following information 
must be published together in one place: 
 Unique Property Reference Number 
 Unique asset identity - the local reference identifier 

used by the local body, sometimes known as local 
name or building block. There should be one entry per 
asset or user/owner (e.g. on one site there could be 
several buildings or in one building there could be 
several users, floors/rooms etc. – where this is the 
case, each of these will have a separate asset identity). 
This must include the original reference number from 
the data source plus authority code 

 name of the building/land or both 
 street number or numbers - any sets of 2 or more 

numbers should be separated with the ‘-‘ symbol (e.g. 
10-15 London Road) 

 street name – this is the postal road address 
 post town 
 United Kingdom postcode 

P
age 159



Page 4 of 8

Information 
title

Information which must be published Level of Compliance

 map reference – local authorities may use either 
Ordnance Survey or ISO6709 systems to identify the 
location of an asset, but must make clear which is being 
used. Where an Ordnance Survey mapping system is 
used (the grid system) then assets will be identified 
using Eastings before Northings. Where geocoding in 
accordance with ISO 6709 is being used to identify the 
centre point of the asset location then that reference 
must indicate its ISO coordinates 

 whether the local authority owns the freehold or a lease 
for the asset and for whichever category applies, the 
local authority must list all the characteristics that apply 
from the options given below: 
for freehold assets: 

o occupied by the local authority 
o ground leasehold 
o leasehold 
o licence 
o vacant (for vacant properties, local authorities 

should not publish the full address details and 
should only publish the first part of the 
postcode) 

for leasehold assets: 
o occupied by the local authority 
o ground leasehold 
o sub leasehold 
o licence 

for other assets: 
o free text description e.g. rights of way, access 

etc. 
 whether or not the asset is land only (without 

permanent buildings) or it is land with a permanent 
building. 

Social 
housing 
asset value 

Annual publication 
Publish details on the value of social housing assets within 
local authorities’ Housing Revenue Account. 

Information to be published using the specified value bands 
and postal sector: 
 total number of homes 
 the aggregate value and mean value of the dwellings 

N/A

P
age 160



Page 5 of 8

Information 
title

Information which must be published Level of Compliance

for both existing use value (social housing) and market 
value, and 

 percentage of homes that are vacant and that are 
tenanted. 

Information to be published at a general level: 
 an explanation of the difference between the tenanted 

sale value of homes within the Housing Revenue 
Account and their market sale value, and 

 an assurance that the publication of this information is 
not intended to suggest that tenancies should end to 
realise the market value of properties. 

Other residential tenanted properties that the authority may 
hold within their General Fund are excluded from this 
specific dataset, as is information on other building assets 
or land that local authorities hold within their Housing 
Revenue Account.

Grants to 
voluntary, 
community 
and social 
enterprise 
organisations 

Annual publication 
Publish details of all grants to voluntary, community and 
social enterprise organisations. This can be achieved by 
either: 
 tagging and hence specifically identifying transactions 

which relate to voluntary, community and social 
enterprise organisations within published data on 
expenditure over £500 or published procurement 
information, or 

 by publishing a separate list or register 

For each identified grant, the following information must be 
published as a minimum: 
 date the grant was awarded 
 time period for which the grant has been given 
 local authority department which awarded the grant 
 beneficiary 
 beneficiary’s registration number 
 summary of the purpose of the grant 
 amount 

Published annually on the GCC website prior to 2018/19.  Quarters 1 and 2 
published for 2018/19.  The Council is compliant.

Organisation 
chart 

Annual publication 
Publish an organisation chart covering staff in the top three 

We currently publish information on the top two tiers.  Plans are in place to achieve 
full compliance by 31 January 2019

P
age 161



Page 6 of 8

Information 
title

Information which must be published Level of Compliance

levels of the organisation. The following information must 
be included for each member of staff included in the chart: 
 grade 
 job title 
 local authority department and team 
 whether permanent or temporary staff 
 contact details 
 salary in £5,000 brackets, consistent with the details 

published for Senior Salaries 
 salary ceiling (the maximum salary for the grade)

Trade union 
facility time 

Annual publication 
Publish the following information: 
 total number (absolute number and full time equivalent) 

of staff who are union representatives (including 
general, learning and health and safety representatives) 

 total number (absolute number and full time equivalent) 
of union representatives who devote at least 50 per 
cent of their time to union duties 

 names of all trade unions represented in the local 
authority 

 a basic estimate of spending on unions (calculated as 
the number of full time equivalent days spent on union 
duties multiplied by the average salary), and 

 a basic estimate of spending on unions as a percentage 
of the total pay bill (calculated as the number of full time 
equivalent days spent on union duties multiplied by the 
average salary divided by the total pay bill)

The Transparency Code seeks to ensure openness and accountability in the use of 
public funds by a local authority in specified areas, including trade union facility 
funding.

We therefore state on the website the required details insofar as they incur a cost 
from public funds in relation to facility funding. 

The headings under which we currently publish the above details are:

 The number of employees (shown as headcount and FTE) for whom facility 
funding is provided.

 The number of employees for whom facility funding is provided and who spend 
at least 50% of their time on union duties.

 An estimate of spending on unions: calculated (as set out in the Code) as the 
number of full-time equivalent days spent on union duties multiplied by the 
average [median] salary.

 Estimate of above expenditure as a percentage of the pay bill: calculated (as 
set out in the Code) as the number of full-time equivalent days spent on union 
duties multiplied by the average [median] salary divided by the total pay bill.

We also state that:

 The above information will be updated annually in accordance with the relevant 
data transparency requirements.

 Note – Other trade union representatives are not supported through dedicated 
facility funding. The council’s approach in this regard is to facilitate flexible 
working of contractual hours on an ad hoc basis to enable the representatives 
to carry out any statutory trade union duties as and when agreed.

 In relation to the above the following trade unions are recognised by the 
Council: UNISON, GMB, Unite, AEP and FBU

P
age 162



Page 7 of 8

Information 
title

Information which must be published Level of Compliance

Parking 
account 

Annual publication 
Publish on their website, or place a link on their website to 
this data published elsewhere: 
 a breakdown of income and expenditure on the 

authority’s parking account. The breakdown of income 
must include details of revenue collected from on-street 
parking, off-street parking and Penalty Charge Notices 

 a breakdown of how the authority has spent a surplus 
on its parking account

We publish an Annual Parking Report on our website.  This includes a breakdown 
of parking income by source and total parking expenditure on a monthly and annual 
basis.  This data is available in tabular and graphic formats to help the reader

Full compliance will be achieved by providing a more detailed breakdown of 
expenditure in the next annual report, to be published by April 2019

Parking 
spaces 

Annual publication 
Publish the number of marked out controlled on and off-
street parking spaces within their area, or an estimate of the 
number of spaces where controlled parking space is not 
marked out in individual parking bays or spaces.

We publish parking space information in the Annual Parking Report on our website.  
This includes information on the number of spaces in off street Park and Ride sites.  
Our on street information includes MiPermit location codes and a link to the 
MiPermit cashless parking website with maps of each parking location and, in most 
cases, the estimated number of parking spaces.

We will improve this information by providing it in a single place in our next Annual 
Parking report to be published by April 2019.

In 2018 we launched ParkMap, an online digitised map of all our parking places and 
parking restrictions.  In 2019 we propose to further digitise our parking service, 
bidding for a Department of Transport grant to publish real time, open, parking data 
in a machine readable format.

Senior 
salaries 

Annual publication 
Local authorities must place a link on their website to the 
following data or must place the data itself on their website: 
 the number of employees whose remuneration in that 

year was at least £50,000 in brackets of £5,000 
 details of remuneration and job title of certain senior 

employees whose salary is at least £50,000 
 employees whose salaries are £150,000 or more must 

also be identified by name. 
 a list of responsibilities (for example, the services and 

functions they are responsible for, budget held and 
number of staff) and details of bonuses and ‘benefits in 
kind’, for all employees whose salary exceeds £50,000

Partial compliance has been achieved through the publication of the Statement of 
Accounts 2017/18. Plans are in place to achieve full compliance by 31 January 
2019

Constitution Annual publication: Local authorities must publish their 
Constitution on their website

The Council is compliant

Pay multiple Annual publication The pay policy statement (which includes pay multiples) published on the GCC 

P
age 163



Page 8 of 8

Information 
title

Information which must be published Level of Compliance

Publish the pay multiple on their website defined as the 
ratio between the highest taxable earnings for the given 
year (including base salary, variable pay, bonuses, 
allowances and the cash value of any benefits-in-kind) and 
the median earnings figure of the whole of the authority’s 
workforce. The measure must: 
 cover all elements of remuneration that can be valued 

(e.g. all taxable earnings for the given year, including 
base salary, variable pay, bonuses, allowances and the 
cash value of any benefits-in-kind) 

 use the median earnings figure as the denominator, 
which should be that of all employees of the local 
authority on a fixed date each year, coinciding with 
reporting at the end of the financial year 

 exclude changes in pension benefits, which due to their 
variety and complexity cannot be accurately included in 
a pay multiple disclosure

website is being updated with the 2019 figures and will be available by 31 January 
2019

Fraud Annual publication 
Publish the following information: 
 number of occasions they use powers under the 

Prevention of Social Housing Fraud (Power to Require 
Information) (England) Regulations 2014, or similar 
powers 

 total number (absolute and full time equivalent) of 
employees undertaking investigations and prosecutions 
of fraud 

 total number (absolute and full time equivalent) of 
professionally accredited counter fraud specialists 

 total amount spent by the authority on the investigation 
and prosecution of fraud 

 total number of fraud cases investigated

The required items are included in the Annual Internal Audit Activity Progress 
Reports (2014/15 – 2017/18 on the website)

Waste 
contracts 

One-off publication 
Local authorities must publish details of their existing waste 
collection contracts, in line with the details contained in 
paragraphs 32 of the Code, at the point they first publish 
quarterly contract information under Part 2 of this Code

Not applicable

Local Government Transparency Code downloaded from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015

P
age 164

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015


Page 1 of 5

GCC Compliance with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015

Information 
title

Information recommended for publication Comments:

Expenditure 
exceeding 
£500 

Publish information on a monthly instead of quarterly 
basis, or ideally, as soon as it becomes available and 
therefore known to the authority (commonly known as 
‘real-time’ publication)

Publish details of all transactions that exceed £250 
instead of £500. For each transaction the details that 
should be published remain as set out in paragraph 29

Publish the total amount spent on remuneration over the 
period being reported on

Classify purpose of expenditure using the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy Service 
Reporting Code of Practice to enable comparability 
between local authorities

GCC already publishes on a monthly basis all spend over £500

It would be possible to publish details of all transactions that exceed £250.  It is estimated 
that based on processing the same level of data this would take an additional 4-5 hours 
per month using the same format of report

This would require some additional manipulation of data within HR and should take no 
longer than 2 hours, on the basis of this being an annual process

The Council already does this

Government 
Procurement 
Card 
transactions 

Publish all transactions on all corporate credit cards, 
charge cards and procurements, including those that are 
not a Government Procurement Card. For each 
transaction the details that should be published remain 
as set out in paragraph 30

The Council already does this

Procurement 
information 

Quarterly publication 
Place on Contracts Finder, as well as any other local 
portal, every invitation to tender or invitation to quote for 
contracts to provide goods and/or services with a value 
that exceeds £10,000. 

Publish: 
 information on a monthly instead of quarterly 

basis, or ideally, as soon as it is generated and 
therefore becomes available (commonly known 
as ‘real-time’ publication) 

 every invitation to tender for contracts to provide 
goods and/or services with a value that exceeds 
£500 instead of £5,000

 details of invitations to quote where there has 
not been a formal invitation to tender

The Council could apply this threshold. It would require a change in Standing Orders and 
place additional processing work in services

We already publish in “real time”, as the contract is awarded

We could publish, but such a change would have a significant impact on the volume of 
activity and the associated processing of information.  Standing Orders would need to be 
changed.

This relates to direct awards (see Appendix 1).  We are intending to implement, and do not 
envisage that it will have significant resource implications

P
age 165



Page 2 of 5

Information 
title

Information recommended for publication Comments:

 all contracts in their entirety where the value of 
the contract exceeds £5,000

 company registration number at Companies 
House

 details of invitations to tender or invitations to 
quote that are likely to be issued in the next 
twelve months

 details of the geographical (e.g. by ward) 
coverage of contracts entered into by the local 
authority

 details of performance against contractual key 
performance indicators

 information disaggregated by voluntary and 
community sector category (e.g. whether it is 
registered with Companies House, charity or 
charitable incorporated organisation, community 
interest company, industrial and provident 
society, housing association, etc.)

Please see section 4b of the covering report

This could be achieved for those companies which are registered.  However, it would 
require additional work to collate and process the necessary information

Assuming this is an annual process, and based on current commissioning plans, we 
estimate that to publish this information would take an additional resource 3 / 4 weeks to 
complete

We do not record this information as the majority of the contracts which the Council lets 
are not geographically based.  To capture and publish such information would require 
additional set-up, and on-going resources

It will be theoretically possible to record using the new contract management system, but it 
is difficult to envisage how this could be published without allowing members of the public 
access to the Council’s contract management system.  It is considered likely that suppliers 
would consider this information confidential and either challenge or choose not to supply 
us in the future. If a change to the system is required this could be a substantial expense 
as there are a limited number of systems used by local authorities to publish and process 
tenders.  As most councils only comply with the mandatory element, any bespoke solution 
is likely to be extremely expensive.  We would also have to pay for additional licences for 
public access

We assume this means the information above and in paragraph 32 of the Code and will 
only be meaningful for certain elements of published data.  It will require changes to 
systems to record the additional data

Local 
authority 
land 

Publish information on a monthly instead of annual 
basis, or ideally, as soon as it becomes available and 
therefore known to the authority (commonly known as 
‘real-time’ publication)

It is also recommended that local authorities should 
publish all the information possible on Electronic 
Property Information Mapping Service. 
Publish the following additional information: 

 the size of the asset measured in Gross Internal 
Area (m2) for buildings or hectares for land, in 

We do not publish all of the recommended data, but do publish where we hold the 
information in a readily useable form.  To publish all of the recommended data would have 
resource implications

P
age 166



Page 3 of 5

Information 
title

Information recommended for publication Comments:

accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors Code of Measuring Practice. The 
Gross Internal Area is the area of a building 
measured to the internal face of the perimeter 
walls at each floor level. Local authorities using 
Net Internal Area (m2) should convert 
measurements to Gross Internal Area using 
appropriate conversion factors and state the 
conversion factor used 

 the services offered from the asset, using the 
services listed in the Effective Services Delivery 
government service function list 
http://doc.esd.org.uk/FunctionList/1.00.html 
(listing up to five main services) 

 the reason for holding asset such as, it is 
occupied by the local authority or it is providing 
a service in its behalf, it is an investment 
property, it supports economic development 
(e.g. provision of small businesses or incubator 
space), it is surplus to the authority’s 
requirements, it is awaiting development, it is 
under construction, it provides infrastructure or it 
is a community asset 

 whether or not the asset is either one which is 
an asset in the authority’s ownership that is 
listed under Part 5 Chapter 3 of the Localism Act 
2011 (assets of community value) and/or an 
asset where the authority is actively seeking 
transfer to the community 

 total building operation (revenue) costs as 
defined in the corporate value for money 
indicators for public services 

 required maintenance - the cost to bring the 
property from its present state up to the state 
reasonably required by the authority to deliver 
the service and/or to meet statutory or contract 
obligations and maintain it at that standard. This 
should exclude improvement projects but 
include works necessary to comply with new 
legislation (e.g. asbestos and legionella) 

 functional suitability rating using the scale: 
 good – performing well and operating efficiently 

P
age 167



Page 4 of 5

Information 
title

Information recommended for publication Comments:

(supports the needs of staff and the delivery of 
services) 

 satisfactory – performing well but with minor 
problems (generally supports the needs of staff 
and the delivery of services) 

 poor – showing major problems and/or not 
operating optimally (impedes the performance 
off staff and/or the delivery of services) 

 unsuitable – does not support or actually 
impedes the delivery of services 

 energy performance rating as stated on the 
Display Energy Certificate under the Energy 
Performance of Buildings (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended)

Social 
housing 
asset value 

N/A

Grants to 
voluntary, 
community 
and social 
enterprise 
organisations 

Publish information on a monthly instead of annual basis 
where payments are made more frequently than a single 
annual payment, or ideally, as soon as the data 
becomes available and therefore known to the authority 
(commonly known as ‘real-time’ publication). 

information disaggregated by voluntary and community 
sector category (e.g. whether it is registered with 
Companies House, charity or charitable incorporated 
organisation, community interest company, industrial 
and provident society, housing association etc.)

We could publish the information on a monthly basis.  It is estimated that based on the 
same level of data being processed it would take an additional 5-6 hours per month using 
the same format of report

Organisation 
chart 

Local authorities should publish: 
 charts including all employees in the local 

authority whose salary exceeds £50,000 
 the salary band for each employee included in 

the chart(s) 

 information about current vacant posts, or 

We could publish this information.  We estimate that this will require an additional 136 
posts to be added to the existing (mandatory) list of posts.
To achieve this we would need to:

 communicate with those staff
 review the implications of the General Data Protection Regulation and the 

sensitivity of publishing information for staff below tier 3
 adjust our systems to enable the required reports to be produced
 provide additional capacity to collate, redact and manage this data on an on-going 

basis

We already publish the adverts relating to the filling of vacant posts on the Council’s 

P
age 168



Page 5 of 5

Information 
title

Information recommended for publication Comments:

signpost vacancies that are going to be 
advertised in the future

website

Trade union 
facility time 

N/A

Parking 
account 

N/A

Parking 
spaces 

Local authorities should publish the number of: 
free parking spaces available in the local authority’s area 
and which are provided directly by the local authority, 
and 
parking spaces where charges apply that are available 
in the local authority’s area and which are provided 
directly by the local authority. 

Where parking space is not marked out in individual 
parking bays or spaces, local authorities should estimate 
the number of spaces available for the two categories

In 2018 we published an online map (ParkMap) showing the location of all parking 
restrictions and permitted parking places.  In this way customers can use analogue or 
digital methods to identify free parking spaces.

As a largely rural county most of our roads do not have parking restrictions, so an estimate 
of the amount of free parking spaces would be of minimal benefit to the public, yet 
compiling it would require significant staff resources.  It is therefore recommended that we 
adopt the same principle as taken by lead officers in the audit and focus on providing the 
mandated parking data.

Senior 
salaries 

N/A

Constitution N/A

Pay multiple N/A

Fraud Local authorities should publish: 
 total number of cases of irregularity investigated 
 total number of occasions on which a) fraud and 

b) irregularity was identified 
 total monetary value of a) the fraud and b) the 

irregularity that was detected, and 
 total monetary value of a) the fraud and b) the 

irregularity that was recovered

The recommended items are included in the Annual Internal Audit Activity Progress 
Reports (2014/15 – 2016/17 on website)

Waste 
contracts 

N/A

Local Government Transparency Code downloaded from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015

P
age 169

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 171

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Oct 18

	4 Grant Thornton Audit Plan
	Gloucestershire Pension Fund - External Audit Plan 201819

	5 Grant Thornton Audit Progress Report
	6 Capital, Treasury and Investment Strategy
	7 Annual Governance Statement Improvement Plan 2017/18 update
	Improvement Plan 2017-18 v1.0
	GFRS Action Plan Progress Report as at December 2018
	GFRS Governance Position Statement FINAL

	8 Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2018/19
	Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity v1.0
	Spreadsheet v1.1

	9 Open Contracting Report
	AuditGovJan2019ApdixONE11119Final
	AuditGovJan2019ApdixTWO11119Final

	11 Management Update

